Now disperse away worries of compliance from your patient's life with a better and faster recovery with





The only brand with German Technology

Advanced techn logy

Each particle is enteric coated thus passes safely through stomach and gives maximum intestinal absorption and bioavailability

For edema and inflammation in¹

Trauma Post operative inflammation Cellulitis Wound healing

For soft tissue and sport injuries^{2,3}

Reduces pain and inflammation and helps in faster recovery from

Tendonitis	Spondylopathies	Sprains
Frozen shoulder	Contusions	Bursitis

From pioneers of systemic enzyme therapy in India



Office: 81/A, Mittal Chambers, Nariman Point, Mumbai 400 021 Maharashtra.



Official Journal of the International Society for Knowledge for Surgeons on Arthroscopy and Arthroplasty (ISKSAA)

JAJS_v5_i3_COVER.indd 1

۲



JOURNAL OF ARTHROSCOPY AND JOINT SURGERY

Indexed In Scopus & Embase

Volume 5 Number 3 September-December 2018

E-ISSN: 2214-9635 **P-ISSN: 2542-6001**

Available online at www.sciencedirect.com

ScienceDirect

14-11-2018 17:31:42

۲

www.isksaa.com/isksaa2019/index.php



SAA International Society for Knowledge for Surgeons on Arthroscopy and Arthroplasty

ISKSAA (International Society for Knowledge for Surgeons on Arthroscopy and Arthroplasty) is a society of orthopaedic surgeons from around the world to share and disseminate knowledge, support research and improve patient care in Arthroscopy and Arthroplasty. We are proud to announce that ISKSAA membership is approaching the 1750 mark (India & Overseas) making it the fastest growing Orthopaedic Association in the country in just 5 years of its inception With over 335000 hits from over 159 countries on the website www.isksaa.com & more and more interested people joining as members of ISKSAA, we do hope that ISKSAA will stand out as a major body to provide opportunities to our younger colleagues in training, education and fellowships.

Our Goals.....

۲

- To provide health care education opportunities for increasing cognitive and psycho-motor skills in Arthroscopy and Arthroplasty
- To provide CME programs for the ISKSAA members as well as other qualified professionals.
- To provide Clinical Fellowships in Arthroscopy and Arthroplasty
- To provide opportunities to organise and collaborate research projects
- To provide a versatile website for dissemination of knowledge

ISKSAA Life Membership

The membership is open to Orthopaedic Surgeons, Postgraduate Orthopaedic students and Allied medical personal interested in Arthroscopy & Arthroplasty.

Benefits of ISKSAA Life membership include....

- Free Subscription of ISKSAA's official, SCOPUS INDEXED, EMBASE INDEXED peer reviewed, online scientific journal Journal of Arthroscopy and Joint Surgery (JAJS).
- Eligibility to apply for ISKSAA's Prestigious Fellowship Programme. We have finalised affiliations with ESSKA, ISAKOS, BOA, BASK, BOSTAA, BESS, Edge Hill University at Wrightington and FLINDERS MEDICAL CENTRE, IMRI AUSTRALIA to provide more ISKSAA Fellowships in India, UK, USA, Australia and Europe. We have offered over 300 Clinical Fellowships as of date including 54 in ISKSAA 2014 , 40 in ISKSAA 2015 , 63 in ISKSAA 2016 , 55 in ISKSAA 2017 & 20 in ISKSAA 2018 and over 50 ISKSAA Wrightington MCh Fellowships from 2014 to 2018.
- We have initiated ISKSAA JOD & ISKSAA WHA paid fellowship programs from 2017 for 2 months based in Australia.
- The next round of 100 ISKSAA fellowships interviews will be in ISKSAA BESS 2019 in March 2-3rd 2019 for 2019 and 2020 at New Delhi along with the ISKSAA Wrightington MCh Fellowships . We had offered 60 1 week ISKSAA certified Fellowships from 11th – 15th June & 25-29th June 2018 for ISKSAA members registered for ISKSAA LEEDS 2018 on a first come first basis .
- Only as a life member , you can enjoy the benefit of reduced Congress charges in ISKSAA BESS UK 2019 being held at New Delhi, India.
- Member's only section on the website which has access to the conference proceedings and live surgeries of ISKSAA 2012, 2013, 2014 & 2016 along with a host of other educational material.
- Important opportunity for interaction with world leaders in Arthroscopy & Arthroplasty
- Opportunity to participate in ISKSAA courses and workshops

To enjoy all the benefits & privileges of an ISKSAA member, you are invited to apply for the Life membership of ISKSAA by going to the membership registration section of the website and entering all your details electronically. All details regarding membership application and payment options are available on the website (www.isksaa.com)





ISKSAA Secretariat: Dr Pushpinder Bajaj | ISKSAA President B-7/5, Safdarjung Enclave, New Delhi - 110029, India, Tel: +91-11-41057555 / 41057556 / 41057557 Mob: +91-9811056525, Email: isksaapresident@gmail.com; Web: isksaa.com/isksaa2019/index.php



Announcement Brochure

ISKSAA BESS UK 2019 (ELBOW& SHOULDER CONCLAVE)

International Society for **Knowledge for Surgeons on Arthroscopy and Arthroplasty**

13th International Congress of ISKSAA

2nd - 3rd March 2019, Radisson Blu Plaza Hotel, New Delhi, India

Academic Partners



ISKSAA BESSUK 2019

(ELBOW & SHOULDER CONCLAVE)

13th International Congress of ISKSAA In Collaboration with

BESS COPELAND UK (British Elbow & shoulder Society) SMAW2019 (Sports Medicine & Arthroscopy Workshop 2019) SESI (Shoulder & Elbow Society of India)

 2nd – 3rd March 2019
 Radisson Blu Plaza Hotel, Mahipalpur, National Highway 8, New Delhi, India.



International Society for Knowledge for Surgeons on Arthroscopy and Arthroplasty

To Register Visit /www.isksaa.com/isksaa2019

ISKSAA 2019 FELLOWSHIPS... (100 CLINICAL FELLOWSHIPS FOR 2019 & 2020)

۲

We are happy to announce **100 Clinical Fellowships** for ISKSAA 2019 Congress ranging from 2 weeks to 1 month in India and Abroad (UK, USA, Australia & Europe) only for ISKSAA Life members . ISKSAA members who attend the ISKSAA BESS UK 2019 Congress as a registered delegate will be eligible . If you are presenting a Paper at ISKSAA 2019, it will count as bonus points in your favour . ISKSAA has laid out **marking criteria for shortlisting** of the candidates . **EXPONENTIAL WEIGHTAGE IS GIVEN FOR JAJS SUBMISSIONS & PUBLICATIONS** . The short listed candidates will attend an interview during ISKSAA 2019 after which the fellows for both 2019 and 2020 will be announced . This will be a second opportunity to apply for the 2019 fellowships for all those who missed coming to Leeds , UK . Applications for Fellowships are now open from **1**st **November 2018** and will close on **15**th **January 2019** . These fellowships will be focussed on Arthroscopy & Arthroplasty and Sports Medicine and most of them will be Visitations and will be **partly to fully funded** .

IMPORTANT FACTS ABOUT THE FELLOWSHIPS :

- Only ISKSAA members who have registered for ISKSAA 2019 will be eligible. So it is better to register earlier for early bird discounts.
- Members who satisfy the following criteria will be preferred for the ISKSAA International Fellowships
 - Submission or publication of an article in JAJS .
 - Completed an ISKSAA Indian Fellowship
 - Earlier membership of ISKSAA
 - Presenting a paper/poster at ISKSAA BESS UK 2019 Congress . Last date for Abstract Submission is 31st December 2018 .

ISKSAA has already awarded **over 300 such Fellowships** to its members in the last 5 years in over **25 Centres of excellence** in Australia , New Zealand , UK , USA , Europe , South Africa & India since February 2013 and testimonials of previous fellows are on the fellowship section at website <u>www.isksaa.com</u> . They can be viewed at <u>http://isksaa.com/isksaa_fellows_testimonmials.php</u> .

The Fellows are encouraged to document their travel with a report of the experience to present at the next ISKSAA Congress as well as submit a publication in Journal of Arthroscopy and Joint Surgery (JAJS).

Further details on the proposed Fellowships and updates can be seen on the Fellowships Section of <u>www.ISKSAA.com</u>.

()

۲



A International Society for Knowledge for Surgeons on Arthroscopy and Arthroplasty

Wrightington, Wigan and Leigh



Edge Hill University

ISKSAA – Wrightington International Training Fellowships leading to MCh degree (2019).

۲

Interested candidates are invited to apply for a unique opportunity for postgraduate education and subspecialist training in the UK

- 1. The interested candidates are encouraged to look at the University website link . The programme is aimed at motivated candidates who wish to come to UK to obtain 2-3 years of clinical experience, specialist surgical training and an MCh degree from Wrightington Hospital and Edge Hill University.
- Initial application should be via email. Just send updated CV , photo along with 2 satisfactory recommendation letters from current / recent trainer to ISKSAA president at <u>isksaafellowships@gmail.com</u>. This will serve as an initial screening to judge eligibility. The last date for applications is 10TH February 2019.
- 3. The interviews are slated for 3rd March 2019 during ISKSAA BESS UK 2019 in New Delhi .
- 4. **Having cleared the IELTS exam** before the interviews will be of advantage for final selections .
- 5. The Clinical posts would start in August 2019 / 2020 although if candidates were to be interested for Aug 2020 and August 2021 start, they could still apply.
- 6. The MCh course is at the Edge Hill University and although most of the payment for the course can be made along the way in installments over the 2 years, there would be an initial Commitment of £17,500 to be made to secure the place before the formalities with Royal colleges and GMC are commenced at this End. The salary scales are detailed with the information sheet as well.
- 7. There will be two posts per year as the "Wrightington ISKSAA MCh Fellowship". There would be an **assured Wrightington placement** during the 2-year UK rotation via this stream . **Only ISKSAA Life Members can apply for these posts**.

()



QuadCut

Minimally Invasive Quadriceps Tendon Harvesting



www.karlstorz.com



۲



Journal of Arthroscopy and Joint Surgery

۲

An official publication of International Society for Knowledge for Surgeons on Arthroscopy and Arthroplasty

(ISSN: 2542-6001)

Volume 5, Number 3, September–December 2018

Aims and Scope

Journal of Arthroscopy and Joint Surgery (JAJS) is committed to bring forth scientific manuscripts in the form of original research articles, current concept reviews, meta-analyses, case reports and letters to the editor. The focus of the Journal is to present wide-ranging, multi-disciplinary perspectives on the problems of the joints that are amenable with Arthroscopy and Arthroplasty. Though Arthroscopy and Arthroplasty entail surgical procedures, the Journal shall not restrict itself to these purely surgical procedures and will also encompass pharmacological, rehabilitative and physical measures that can prevent or postpone the execution of a surgical procedure. The Journal will also publish scientific research related to tissues other than joints that would ultimately have an effect on the joint function.

Author inquiries

You can track your submitted article at http://www.elsevier.com/track-submission. You can track your accepted article at http://www.elsevier.com/trackarticle. You are also welcome to contact Customer Support via http://support.elsevier.com

Copyright

© 2018, International Society for Knowledge for Surgeons on Arthroscopy and Arthroplasty. Published by Reed Elsevier India Pvt. Ltd. All rights reserved. Papers accepted for publication become the copyright of *International Society for Knowledge for Surgeons on Arthroscopy and Arthroplasty*, and authors will be asked to sign a transfer of copyright form, on receipt of the accepted manuscript by Elsevier. This enables the Publisher to administer copyright on behalf of the Authors, whilst allowing the continued use of the material by the Author for scholarly communication.

This journal and the individual contributions contained in it are protected under copyright by Elsevier Ltd., and the following terms and conditions apply to their use:

Photocopying

Single photocopies of single articles may be made for personal use as allowed by national copyright laws. Permission of the Publisher and payment of a fee is required for all other photocopying, including multiple or systematic copying, copying for advertising or promotional purposes, resale, and all forms of document delivery. Special rates are available for educational institutions that wish to make photocopies for non-profit educational classroom use. For information on how to seek permission visit **http://www.elsevier.com/permissions** or call: (+44) 1865 843830 (UK) / (+1) 215 239 3804 (USA).

Derivative Works

()

Subscribers may reproduce table of contents or prepare lists of articles including abstracts for internal circulation within their institutions. Permission of the Publisher is required for resale or distribution outside the institution. Permission of the Publisher is required for all other derivative works, including compilations and translations (please consult **www.elsevier.com/permissions**).

Electronic Storage or Usage

Permission of the Publisher is required to store or use electronically any material contained in this journal, including any article or part of an article (please consult **www.elsevier.com/permissions**).

Except as outlined above, no part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording or otherwise, without prior written permission of the Publisher.

Notice

No responsibility is assumed by the Publisher for any injury and/or damage to persons or property as a matter of products liability, negligence or otherwise, or from any use or operation of any methods, products, instructions or ideas contained in the material herein. Because of rapid advances in the medical sciences, in particular, independent verification of diagnoses and drug dosages should be made.

Although all advertising material is expected to conform to ethical (medical) standards, inclusion in this publication does not constitute a guarantee or endorsement of the quality or value of such product or of the claims made of it by its manufacturer.

Subscription information

The *Journal of Arthroscopy and Joint Surgery* (ISSN: **2542-6001**) is published thrice a year. The annual price for **individual subscription** based in India is **INR 3600**; and for international subscribers, the annual price is **USD 60**. For **institutional subscription** within and outside India, please contact the Publishers office at journals.india@elsevier.com.

Further information is available on this journal and other Elsevier products through Elsevier's website (http://www.elsevier.com). Subscriptions are accepted on a prepaid basis only and are entered on a calendar year basis. Issues are sent by standard mail. Priority rates are available upon request. Claims for missing issues should be made within six months of the date of dispatch.

Orders, claims, advertisement and journal inquiries: Please visit our Support Hub page https://service.elsevier.com for assistance.

Editorial Office: Dr Pushpinder Singh Bajaj, Bajaj Specialist Clinics, B-7/5 Safdarjung Enclave, New Delhi – 110029. Tel: 41057555 / 41057556 / 41057557. Email: psbajaj@hotmail.com.

Publishing Office: Elsevier, A division of Reed Elsevier India Pvt. Ltd., 14th Floor, Building No.10B, DLF Cyber City, Phase-II, Gurgaon-122002, Haryana, India. Email: journals.india@elsevier.com

۲

Journal of Arthroscopy and Joint Surgery

۲

An official publication of International Society for Knowledge for Surgeons on Arthroscopy and Arthroplasty

(ISSN: 2542-6001)

Volume 5, Number 3, September-December 2018

Editor-in-Chief

PROF RAVI GUPTA Chandigarh

Executive Editor PROF LALIT MAINI Delhi

DR DINESH PATEL USA

DR PONKY FIRER South Africa

PROF GIANNOUDIS UK

PROF AMAR RANGAN UK

DR KHALID MOHAMMAD New Zealand

MR KAPIL KUMAR UK

DR MAKARAM SRINIVASAN UK

DR ANDREAS SETTJE Germany

DR ANANT JOSHI Mumbai

DR ASHOK RAJGOPAL Gurgaon

DR ASHISH BABULKAR Pune

DR ASIT SHAH USA

DR ANIL BHAT Karnataka

MR BINOD SINGH UK

DR BINU THOMAS Tamil Nadu

DR DAVID MARTIN Australia

DR DAVID RAJAN Coimbatore

DR DENNY LIE Singapore

DR EDWARD T MAH Australia

DR GRAHAM MERCER South Australia

DR H K WONG Hong Kong

()

Managing Editor DR PUSHPINDER BAJAJ Delhi **Deputy Editor** DR AMITE PANKAJ Delhi

MR SANJEEV ANAND UK

Pediatric Orthopaedics DR PARMANAND GUPTA Chandigarh

Orthopaedic Oncology DR MANISH PARUTHI Mumbai

> **Elbow, Wrist & Hand** DR RAJ MURALI UK

Shoulder DR AMOL TAMBE UK

Section Editors

Trauma & Rehabilitation DR ALEXANDER WOOD UK

Hip DR AJAY AGGARWAL USA

Foot & Ankle DR MUNEESH BHATIA UK

Training & Education DR JANAK MEHTA Australia

Arthroplasty DR MANOJ SOOD UK

Associate Editors

PROF JEGAN KRISHNAN Australia DR GURINDER BEDI Delhi

DR RAJESH SETHI UK DR DINSHAW PARDIWALA Mumbai

۲

Editorial Board

DR V BHALAIK UK DR PUNEET MONGA UK DR TAOFEEK ADEYEMI Nigeria DR MS DHILLON Chandigarh DR VIVEK PANDEY Karnataka

Advisory Board

DR HIROYUKI SUGAYA Japan DR HITESH GOPALAN Cochin PROF J E MENDES Portugal DR JAAP WILLEMS Holland DR JOHN EBNEZAR Bangalore DR JVS VIDYASAGAR Hyderabad PROF LENNARD FUNK UK DR MARIO PENTA South Australia DR NICK WALLWORK South Australia DR NIRBHAY SHAH Rajkot DR PAOLO PALADINI Italy DR PARAG SANCHETI Pune DR PETER CAMPBELL Australia PROF PP KOTWAL Delhi DR SUNDARARAJAN Coimbatore DR ASHISH DEVGAN Rohtak DR RAJU EASWARAN Delhi DR RAHUL KHARE Delhi DR MANIT ARORA

PROF RAJASEKARAN Coimbatore MR RAM VENKATESH UK MR R PANDEY UK PROF RAJ BAHADUR Chandigarh MR ROBERT J GREGORY UK DR ROHIT ARORA Austria DR SACHIN TAPASVI Pune DR SANJAY DESAI Mumbai DR SANJAY GARUDE Mumbai DR SANJAY TRIVEDI Ahmedabad DR SRIPATHI RAO Karnataka PROF SUDHIR KAPOOR Delhi MR VED GOSWAMI UK DR YOUNG LAE MOON Korea

Copyright (C) 2018, International Society for Knowledge for Surgeons on Arthroscopy and Arthroplasty. All rights reserved.

Published by Reed Elsevier India Pvt. Ltd.

No part of the publication may be transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic or mechanical, without written permission from the Editor-in-Chief.

Disclaimer: Although all advertising material is expected to conform to ethical (medical) standards, inclusion in the publication does not constitute a guarantee or endorsement of the quality or value of such product or of the claims made of it by its manufacturer. Please consult full prescribing information before issuing prescriptions for any products mentioned in this publication.

Printed at EIH Limited-Unit Printing Press, IMT Manesar, Gurgaon

Journal of Arthroscopy and Joint Surgery An official publication of International Society for Knowledge for Surgeons on Arthroscopy and Arthroplasty

۲

(ISSN: 2542-6001)

Volume 5, Number 3, September–December 2018

Table of Contents

۲

Acute Achilles tendon rupture treatment: Where are we now? Randeep Aujla, Sarang Sapare, Maneesh Bhatia	139
KNEE	
Isolated popliteal tendon avulsions: Current understanding and approach to management Peter Annear, Manit Arora	145
Multiligamentous knee injury – A Level III study to describe systematic approach, management and rehabilitation protocol with review of literature Nikhil Verma, Harjoban Singh, Shekhar Srivastav	149
MPFL reconstruction using autologous semitendinosus tendon and transpatellar technique Divyanshu Goyal, Sandeep Yadav, Vidyasagar JVS	156
A longitudinal analysis of functional outcome between all-polyethylene and metal-backed tibial components in total knee arthroplasty Muhammad Sakti, Ruksal Saleh, Jansen Lee, Handoko Lau, Putra Prameswara Anak Agung Gede	163
Role of drain in early clinical outcomes following primary total knee arthroplasty B. Hari Krishnan, Rahool S., Anubhav Agrawal, Anurag Kawale, Sarang Kanade	167
Does intraarticular PRP injection improve function, pain and quality of life in patients with OA of knee? Case control study of 50 patients <i>Manjiri Ranade, Hemant Pandit, Kailash Kothari</i>	171
Using google trends to assess for seasonal variation in knee injuries Varun Dewan, Hartej Sur	175
Spontaneous bilateral quadriceps tendon rupture in a patient with chronic kidney disease: A case report and review of literature Ramneek Mahajan, Yugal Karkhur, V. Anil, Abhimanyu Kakralia	179
Concomitant multiligamentous knee injury and patellar tendon tear- A rare injury pattern Nikhil Verma, Harjoban Singh, Nazir Mohammad, Shekhar Srivastav	183
HIP	
Midterm results of reconstruction of femoral defects with cementless femoral components in revision hip arthroplasty for aseptic loosening Rakesh John, Amit Singh, Anuj Jain, Simon Thomas, Shekhar Agarwal, Sunny Agarwal, Nitesh Jajodia	187
Potential damage to the femoral neurovasculature during approach to the hip Sean M. Mitchell, Ryan P. Mitchell, Michael W. Mitchell	194
A pilot study -role of DSA in assessing vascularity of proximal femur in idiopathic femoral head osteonecrosis <i>Akshay Lekhi, R.B. Kalia</i>	198

 \bigcirc

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Journal of Arthroscopy and Joint Surgery

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/jajs

Review article Acute Achilles tendon rupture treatment: Where are we now?

Randeep Aujla*, Sarang Sapare, Maneesh Bhatia

Trauma & Orthopaedic Surgery, University Hospitals of Leicester, Leicester, United Kingdom

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 30 January 2017 Accepted 15 February 2018 Available online 21 February 2018

Keywords: Achilles tendon Rehabilitation Non-surgical Surgery Minimally invasive

ABSTRACT

Objective: Our objective was to review the current literature regarding acute Achilles tendon ruptures and provide a succinct summary of the use of clinicians treating Achilles tendon ruptures. We aim to provide guidance for treatment based upon current literature.

Methods: We reviewed current literature and subjectively assessed for quality and influence of studies in current practice.

Review: The Achilles Tendon Rupture Score (ATRS) has become a vital tool in assessing functional outcome following interventions as re-rupture rates have balanced out for all treatment modalities. There remains continued debate between surgical and non-surgical treatment options. Both patterns have evolved over the past decade. Percutaneous fixation techniques are superseding traditional open surgery. Functional dynamic non-surgical regimes are also being developed to create the optimum environment for the Achilles tendon to heal and provide high functional outcomes. There even remains limited evidence that platelet-rich plasma aids healing, the significance of gap between tendon ends or of thromboprophylaxis lowering the incidence of symptomatic venous thromboembolism.

Conclusions: Acute Achilles tendon ruptures should either be managed in a functional rehabilitation regime or by percutaneous surgical repair. The decision depends upon both patient and clinician factors. © 2018 Published by Elsevier, a division of RELX India, Pvt. Ltd on behalf of International Society for Knowledge for Surgeons on Arthroscopy and Arthroplasty.

Contents

1.	Background	10
	1.1. Achilles Tendon Rupture Score (ATRS)	10
2.	Currents treatment modalities	0
	2.1. Plaster cast regime	0
	2.2. Orthosis	0
	2.3. Open surgery	0
	2.4. Percutaneous surgery	0
3.	Comparison of treatments	0
	3.1. Any surgery vs. any non-surgical regime 14	0
	3.2. Open surgery vs traditional non-surgical	ł1
	3.3. Plaster cast versus walking boot	ł1
	3.4. Functional regimes	ł1
	3.5. Open surgery vs. functional non-surgical regime	2
	3.6. Open surgery vs. minimally invasive surgery	2
	3.7. Minimally invasive surgery vs. functional non-surgical regime	2
4.	Adjuncts to treatment	2
	4.1. Platelet Rich Plasma (PRP)	2
	4.2. Stem cell therapy	2
5.	Controveries	13

* Corresponding author at: 44 Darwin Crescent, Loughborough, Leicestershire, LE115SB.

E-mail address: Randeep.aujla@hotmail.co.uk (R. Aujla).

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jajs.2018.02.003

2214-9635/© 2018 Published by Elsevier, a division of RELX India, Pvt. Ltd on behalf of International Society for Knowledge for Surgeons on Arthroscopy and Arthroplasty.





	5.1.	Does Achilles tendon rupture gap matter?	143
	5.2.	Venous-thromboembolism in Achilles tendon rupture	143
	5.3.	Predictors of outcome	143
6.	Conclu	usion	143
	Confli	cts of interest	143
	Fundi	ng	143
	Ethica	ıl approval	143
	Refere	nces	143

1. Background

The Achilles tendon is the most frequently ruptured tendon in the body.¹ The incidence of Achilles tendon ruptures (ATR) is rising.^{1–4} Table 1 highlights the demographics of ATR across multiple communities, the majority of these studies taking place in Scandinavia.^{3,5–7} Incidences ranging from 6 to 37.3 per 100,000 have been quoted.^{1,3} Five studies demonstrate an increased incidence over their studied periods. Most of these studies attribute the increased incidence with a higher population participation in sporting activities. However, there is a trend away from surgical treatment.^{7–9} Males are far greater affected than females with a male-to-female ratio ranging between 0.9–7.7:1, with only one study finding a female predominance.¹⁰

1.1. Achilles Tendon Rupture Score (ATRS)

Outcome measures for patients with AT ruptures are based on a mixture of subjective parameters. The Achilles Tendon Rupture Score (ATRS) was first developed in 2007 after a need for a validated patient-relevant evaluation tool was identified.¹⁷ The ATRS has been proved to have a high level of reliability, validity, sensitivity and internal consistency.^{18,19} The ATRS gives surgeons the best tool to assess the functional outcomes post-Achilles tendon ruptures.

Ability to single-heel raise does correlate with PROMs however this outcome is not widely reported.²⁰

2. Currents treatment modalities

2.1. Plaster cast regime

Plaster cast regimes have been the traditional method to nonoperatively treat acute ATR. Equinus casts are still utilised acute from Accident and Emergency Departments but regimes progressing to sequential plantigrade positions were common.²¹ Plaster cast allows the treating surgeon control over the amount of plantaflexion to apply at the ankle and assurances about patient compliance. There is however the risk of plaster sores, poor skin management/hygiene and stiffness.

2.2. Orthosis

Management of acute ATR within an orthosis is commonplace now. The benefits include flexibility of ankle position, ability to take care of any skin problems, improved weight bearing ability, earlier return of function and improved patient satisfaction.^{22,23} Disadvantages of the orthosis is that they do not full immobilise all patients due their off-the-shelf design although air filled liners improve the fit (Fig. 1). There is also the issue to possible patient removal of the orthosis. This lack of compliance could potentially impair tendon healing.

2.3. Open surgery

Open surgery involves exposure and debridement of the ends of the ruptured tendon. Following this suture repair is conducted and repair of the dissected paratenon. Usually equinus plaster cast is applied before the initiation of the surgeons chosen rehabilitation regime.

2.4. Percutaneous surgery

More recently percutaneous repair systems have been launched to reduce the morbidity associated with Achilles tendon repairs. These systems allow reduced impact upon soft tissues and obviate the need for breaching the paratenon. However there is an association with nerve injury. Strength is comparable to open Kessler formation repairs (Fig. 2).²⁴

3. Comparison of treatments

3.1. Any surgery vs. any non-surgical regime

A recent meta-analysis looked to compare all surgical versus all non-surgically managed acute ATR.²⁵ The primary outcome measure was re-rupture. A small benefit was found in the surgical group, but with so many variables involved in each management regime, this is an inaccurate representation to counsel patients. Also, functional outcomes must become of higher importance following ATR as this is what we must provide for patients. We shall attempt to break down comparisons of treatment regimes to

Table 1

A table to show critical demographics from multiple studies assessing acute Achilles tendon ruptures.

Study	Community	Population Size	Study Period	Incidence per 100,000	Mean Age	M:F ratio	Trend
Erickson et al. ¹⁰	USA	25.6 million	2005-2011	10.8		0.9	Increasing (6.7-10.8)
Huttunen et al. ⁷	Sweden	9.5 million	2001-2012	55.3 (male)/14.7 (female)		3.8	
Maffulli et al. ¹	Scotland	5.1 million	1980-1995	6.0	30	1.7	Increasing (4.7-6)
Suchak et al. ²	Alberta, Canada	950,000	1998-2002	9.9	41.4	4.0	Increasing (5.5-9.9)
Moller et al. ¹¹	Malmo, Sweden	230,000	1987-1991	± 30	37	6.3	
Houshian et al. ³	Multiple cities, Denmark	220,000	1984-1996	37.3	42.1	3.1	Increasing (18.2–37.3)
Lantto et al. ⁶	Oulu, Finland	140,000	1979-2011	21.5	43 (SD 13)	7.7	Increasing (2.1–21.5)
Levi et al. ⁵	Copenhagen, Denmark	89,000	1978-1995	13.4	41	2.9	

Risk factors for ATR include the use of steroids^{12,13} and fluoroquinolone antibiotic therapy.^{14–16}



Fig. 1. An example of an orthosis that can be used (VACOPed[®]).



Fig. 2. The Achillon[®] system used for percutaneous repair.

include similar studies to gain stronger conclusions when comparing surgical and non-surgical regimes.

3.2. Open surgery vs traditional non-surgical

Trends in treating AT ruptures have been traditionally based on re-rupture rate as the primary outcome measure. The re-rupture rate has been notoriously quoted as being lower in surgical treatment based on an early meta-analysis.²⁶ However, this result was based on four studies all pre-dating 2001, with one from 1981, which compared open surgery and traditional non-surgical regimes using plaster cast with non-weight bearing immobilisation.^{21,27–29} A defining study was performed by Keating et al. in 2011. Their RCT compared standard open surgery against a traditional casting immobilisation regime.³⁰ Re-rupture rates were 5% and 10% respectively, both which would be considered high rates for the latest treatment methods. Limited functional outcome scores were included, and both treatment methods are relatively historical despite being published in 2011. Based on this evidence there was an era of functional dynamic regimes and modern surgical methods.

3.3. Plaster cast versus walking boot

As orthopaedics moves forward, there is a constant drive away from the use of plaster of Paris to more patient-friendly methods including synthetic casts, orthosis and splints. This pressure has made its way into acute ATR management also. Many centres initially treated with a plaster cast immobilisation from the Accident and Emergency department. This allows easy, cheap and immediate immobilisation of the injured limb. A group from Sheffield in the UK compared cast immobilisation versus controlled early mobilisation in an orthosis.²² The splint led to early regain mobility and increased satisfaction. A systematic review reviewed plaster cast immobilisation versus dynamic functional rehabilitation following surgical repair of the ATR. The concluded that functional regimes were safe with high satisfaction rates.³¹

There has been no study directly comparing plaster cast and orthosis in similar cohorts. The UK STAR study is aiming to assess the effect on functional outcomes following treatment in either functional bracing or plaster cast immobilisation. This multicentre randomised controlled trial (RCT) will aim to recruit 330 patients over the future three years. This study is likely to lay to rest the argument between plaster cast and functional bracing.

3.4. Functional regimes

Recent studies had supported non-surgical treatment using functional/dynamic rehabilitation for acute ATR with comparable re-ruptures rates between surgical and non-surgical regimes when these methods were utilised.²³ Early weight-bearing with a dynamic range of motion has been shown to achieve favourable outcomes regarding the range of motion, strength, and return to activities while minimising the possibility of healing in a lengthened position, or re-rupture.³² These results were summarised by McCormack et al. Meta-analysis of RCTs comparing postsurgical dynamic regimes versus immobilisation in a cast.³¹ They pooled data from 10 studies (570 patients) to show that there was no increase in complication rates and a higher patient satisfaction after using dynamic regimes.

An RCT performed by Valkering et al. compared early fullweight bearing and non-weight bearing following open surgical repair. Interestingly they found raised levels of biological markers of tendon repair (procollagen type 1, glutamate, lactate and pyruvate) in the full-weight bearing cohort with an improved early ankle range of motion.³³ In a similar study, Barfod et al. demonstrated an increased stiffness in the plantar flexor muscle-tendon complex in the non-weight bearing group.³⁴ These results add some clinical evidence that early stressing of the healing tendon tissue can lead to an improved outcome, likely due to collagen fibre orientation. However, these regimes were all instituted after surgical repair. Hutchison et al. implemented a hospital-wide (Swansea Morriston Achilles Rupture Treatment; SMART) programme between 2008 and 2014, reporting on 211 non-operatively managed ATR.³⁵ The regime involved two weeks in an equinus cast followed by eight weeks in a VACOped boot. They allowed immediate full-weight bearing. Mean ATRS at nine months was 72.4 (SD 14) with a re-rupture rate of 1.1%. However, this final functional level was only available for 20% of patients included in the study. A similar study from Northern Ireland presented 949 ATR seen between 1996 and 2008.³⁶ This study used different methods to immobilise the limb but included all patients. Initially, they used a custom-made rigid polypropylene double shell patellar tendon bearing orthosis before an aircast pneumatic walking boot was introduced in 1999. A re-rupture rate of 2.8% with good to excellent subjective assessments in 99.4% was found.

Currently, there is no consensus as to the most superior functional regime.³⁷ Immediate full-weight bearing regimes have been implemented, in both non-surgical and post-surgical regimes, without compromise to outcomes or re-rupture rates.³⁸⁻

⁻⁴¹ Aujla et al has demonstrated that a functional regime of 8 weeks duration, compared to 10 weeks, lead to no detriment in functional outcome scores following ATR.⁴²

3.5. Open surgery vs. functional non-surgical regime

Three RCTs have compared traditional open surgery and nonsurgical functional rehabilitation.^{19,43,32} Willits et al. showed no difference in re-rupture rate, calf strength, the range of motion, calf circumference or Leppilahti score.³² They advised non-surgical treatment to avoid surgical complications. Nilsson-Helander et al. found no difference in re-rupture rates, Achilles Tendon Rupture Score (ATRS) at 6 and 12 months. The only statistically significant difference in outcome was noted in the 12-month heel-rise work test in favour of surgical treatment.¹⁹ Olsson et al. demonstrated no difference in symptoms, physical activity level or quality of life. Statistical superiority was only shown in drop counter-drop jump and hopping in favour of surgery.⁴³ These results suggest that open surgical repair may lead to superior functional in loading activities over functional non-surgical regimes with no discernable difference in functional scores or re-rupture rate. This would support the use of dynamic functional non-operative regimes for the majority of patients. It provides fewer risks with equivocal re-rupture rates.

3.6. Open surgery vs. minimally invasive surgery

As surgical techniques improved the desire for minimally invasive surgery (MIS) has to lead to multiple systems being developed. Laboratory studies have demonstrated no difference in ultimate tensile strength of repair between percutaneous MIS and open techniques.⁴⁴ A meta-analysis of six RCTs compared traditional open surgery versus MIS techniques.⁴⁵ This showed no difference in re-rupture rate, nerve injury, deep infection, tissue adhesions or deep vein thrombosis. However, MIS was shown to provide three times greater good to excellent subjective outcomes and a significantly lower superficial infection rate.⁴⁵ Hsu et al. showed in their retrospective series that their percutaneous technique had a significantly improved rate of return to baseline physical activities over open repair with no difference in complication rates.⁴⁶

3.7. Minimally invasive surgery vs. functional non-surgical regime

No RCT has yet been conducted directly comparing modern MIS versus a non-surgical functional dynamic regime with the primary outcome measure being a patient function. Metz et al. did conduct an MIS versus functional non-surgical regime in a VACOped boot, but they did not include the ATRS as part of their outcomes.⁴⁰ They did include Leppilahti scores as functional outcome assessment, which showed no statistical difference, but this was not the primary outcome being assessed.

4. Adjuncts to treatment

4.1. Platelet Rich Plasma (PRP)

There have been multiple studies assessing the use of biological augmentation following surgical repair of ATR.^{47–49} These cohort studies suggest an earlier return to work with no adverse outcomes. De Carli et al. went on step further and evaluated all patients with MRI imaging. They found no clinical difference between the PRP and non-PRP cohorts but did find increased signal enhancement, to gadolinium, in the PRP cohort suggesting better tendon remodelling.⁵⁰

Kaniki et al. injected PRP twice within the first two weeks following acute ATR treated in a non-surgical regime. They compared this to a previous historical cohort that underwent the same non-surgical regime but with no PRP. No measurable difference was found in strength at 1 or 2 years following injury.⁵¹

No RCT using biological augmentation has been performed as of yet, but the Platelet Rich Plasma in Achilles Tendon Healing (PATH-2) trial is on-going at the moment in the United Kingdom. This pragmatic multi-centre RCT is comparing the use of PRP in nonsurgically managed ATR. The primary outcome measure is heelrise endurance test at 24 weeks.

4.2. Stem cell therapy

A small cohort, level 4 study in patients with sport-related Achilles tendon ruptures showed excellent results with no reruptures when open Achilles tendon repair was augmented with bone marrow aspirate concentrate (BMAC).⁴⁹

Kadakia et al. showed promising results of use of bone marrow-derived stem cells in animal models. 52

In another animal model, Yuksel et al showed the efficacy of local bone marrow mesenchymal stem cell therapy, and plateletrich plasma positively affected the recovery of the tendon histopathologically, immunohistochemically, and biomechanically and increase the structural strength.⁵³

Mesenchymal stem cells were used to treat rabbits with surgically Achilles tendon rupture and were divided into three groups looking at tendon healing at 14 and 28 days. The three groups were, cross-section of the Achilles tendon (CSAT); CSAT+ Suture; and CSAT+MSC (mesenchymal stem cell). A comparison showed a statistically significant decrease in the inflammatory process and an increase in the structural organisation of collagen in the CSAT and CSAT+MSC groups.⁵⁴

In an animal study, rats were divided into three groups: the BMC group (bone marrow cells injected around the tendon), the MSC group (mesenchymal stem cells injected around the tendon), and the non-treated control group (incision only). The researchers looked at outcome measures which included mechanical testing, collagen immunohistochemistry, histological analysis, and reverse transcription-polymerase chain reaction to detect expression of transforming growth factor- β (TGF- β) and vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF). They reported the ultimate failure load in the BMC group was significantly higher than that in the non-treated or the MSC group at seven days after incision (3.8 N vs. 0.9 N or 2.1 N, p < 0.016) and at fourteen days after incision (10.2 N vs. 6.1 N or 8.2 N, p < 0.016). Hence they concluded transplantation of whole bone marrow cells might be a better option than cultured mesenchymal stem cells.⁵⁵

5. Controveries

5.1. Does Achilles tendon rupture gap matter?

It was Kotnis et al. in 2006 that highlighted the need to assess ATR gap to aid decision making for surgical treatment.⁵⁶ They assessed 125 ATR patients and surgically managed those with a residual gap of >5 mm in full equinus. As a result of this protocol. they treat 54% of ATR surgically with either open or percutaneous repair, but they did not employ a dynamic functional rehabilitation regime in either arm. There was no significant difference in complications, but no functional results were recorded. Two earlier studies employed a similar 5 mm gap protocol.^{57,58} Other studies have utilised a 10 mm gap to drive surgical treatment.³⁵ However, this was based on tendon lengthening showing poor function in a cadaveric study.⁵⁹ A more recent study found no difference in function when comparing acute ATR with gaps less than or greater than 10 mm using a functional dynamic regime.⁶⁰ Roberts et al. assessed 69 ATR using MRI and found no significant correlation between gap size and one-year functional outcome in nonsurgically managed ATR.⁶¹ Westin et al. demonstrated that a gap of >10 mm led to an increased re-rupture rate and lowered functional outcome, but this was based on a cohort of just 45 patients.⁶²

Ultrasound is a dynamic assessment but is inherently userdependent. Those that criticise this protocol would discuss how ATR rarely occurs as a clean-ended rupture and often depicts a horses-tail appearance. This makes precise identification of rupture ends confusing and inaccurate. Overall there is no clear evidence that gap size affects functional outcome.

5.2. Venous-thromboembolism in Achilles tendon rupture

There remains an unexplained high rate of VTE in patients after acute ATR when compared to other lower limb injuries requiring immobilisation.⁶³ The incidence is said to vary between 0.8% and 23.5%.^{64,65} The true incidence, of symptomatic VTE, likely to be between 3 and 7% depending on an individual institutes treatment algorithm and thresholds to investigate. Lapidus et al. showed an asymptomatic deep vein thrombosis rate of 34–36% after ATR with or without chemical thromboprophylaxis.⁶⁶ Studies have failed to show any benefit of using low-molecular-weight heparin (LMWH) or aspirin in patients after ATR to reduce symptomatic VTE rate.^{66–68} Nevertheless, the majority of hospital recognise ATR as a high-risk patient and treat with thromboprophylaxis after risk assessment.

5.3. Predictors of outcome

Domeij-Arverud et al. used data from a prospective RCT comparing post-operative regimes in surgically treated ATR.⁶⁹ They found improved outcomes in patients aged under 40, females and in patients that did not suffer from a VTE during treatment. Conversely, two studies have shown superior results in males.^{70,71} In our unpublished data across 236 ATR treated in a functional regime found that age had an inverse correlation with outcome and that males had superior functional outcomes at final follow-up.

6. Conclusion

We propose that a two-tier treatment protocol is required for the acute ACT. The vast majority of patients will achieve good functional outcomes using a dynamic functional regime of 8–10 weeks duration. Three randomised controlled trials have shown no differences in functional outcomes between dynamic functional regimes and open surgery. There are minimal risks to the patients along with Achilles Tendon Rupture Scores of 75–85 out of 100. For patients with higher demands, a minimally invasive technique can be used to repair the Achilles tendon surgically. This provides superior, yet not statistically proven, higher Achilles Tendon Rupture Scores of 85–90 out of 100 that may provide this cohort with improved results. A randomised controlled trial comparing these two methods, utilising functional outcomes, could be undertaken to quantify the functional difference between the two.

Conflicts of interest

No benefits in any form have been received or will be received from a commercial party related directly or indirectly to the subject of this article.

Funding

None.

Ethical approval

N/A.

References

- 1. Maffulli N, Waterston SW, Squair J, Reaper J, Douglas S. Changing incidence of Achilles tendon rupture in Scotland: a 15-year study. *Clin J Sport Med.* 1999;9 (3):157–160.
- 2. Suchak AA, Bostick G, Reid D, Blitz S, Jomha N. The incidence of Achilles tendon ruptures in Edmonton, Canada. *Foot Ankle Int.* 2005;26(11):932–936.
- Houshian S, Tscherning T, Riegels-Nielsen P. The epidemiology of Achilles tendon rupture in a Danish county. *Injury*. 1998;29(9):651–654.
- Leppilahti J, Puranen J, Orava S. Incidence of Achilles tendon rupture. Acta Orthop Scand. 1996;67(3):277–279.
- 5. Levi N. The incidence of Achilles tendon rupture in Copenhagen. *Injury*. 1997;28(4):311–313.
- Lantto I, Heikkinen J, Flinkkilä T, Ohtonen P, Leppilahti J. Epidemiology of Achilles tendon ruptures: increasing incidence over a 33-year period. Scand J Med Sci Sports. 2015;25(1):e133–8.
- Huttunen TT, Kannus P, Rolf C, Felländer-Tsai L, Mattila VM. Acute Achilles tendon ruptures incidence of injury and surgery in Sweden between 2001 and 2012. Am J Sports Med. 2014;42(October (10)):2419–2423.
- Ganestam A, Kallemose T, Troelsen A, Barfod KW. Increasing incidence of acute Achilles tendon rupture and a noticeable decline in surgical treatment from 1994 to 2013. A nationwide registry study of 33,160 patients. *Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc.* 2015;1–8.
- Mattila VM, Huttunen TT, Haapasalo H, Sillanpää P, Malmivaara A, Pihlajamäki H. Declining incidence of surgery for Achilles tendon rupture follows publication of major RCTs: evidence-influenced change evident using the Finnish registry study. Br J Sports Med. 2013; bjsports-2013.
- Erickson BJ, Cvetanovich GL, Nwachukwu BU, et al. Trends in the management of achilles tendon ruptures in the United States medicare population, 2005-2011. Orthop J Sports Med. 2014;2(9) 2325967114549948.
- Möller A, Åström M, Westlin NE. Increasing incidence of Achilles tendon rupture. Acta Orthop Scand. 1996;67(5):479–481.
- Newnham DM, Douglas JG, Legge JS, Friend JA. Achilles tendon rupture: an underrated complication of corticosteroid treatment. *Thorax*. 1991;46 (11):853–854.
- Mahler F, Fritschy D. Partial and complete ruptures of the Achilles tendon and local corticosteroid injections. Br J Sports Med. 1992;26(1):7.
- Huston KA. Achilles tendinitis and tendon rupture due to fluoroquinolone antibiotics. N Engl J Med. 1994;331(11) 748–748.
- Williams RJ, Attia E, Wickiewicz TL, Hannafin JA. The effect of ciprofloxacin on tendon, paratenon, and capsular fibroblast metabolism. *Am J Sports Med*. 2000;28(3):364–369.
- Movin T, Gad A, Güntner P, Földhazy Z, Rolf C. Pathology of the Achilles tendon in association with ciprofloxacin treatment. *Foot Ankle Int.* 1997;18(5):297– 299.
- Nilsson-Helander K, Thomeé R, Grävare-Silbernagel K, et al. The Achilles tendon total rupture score (ATRS) development and validation. *Am J Sports Med.* 2007;35(3):421–426.
- Kearney RS, Achten J, Lamb SE, Parsons N, Costa ML. The Achilles tendon total rupture score: a study of responsiveness, internal consistency and convergent validity on patients with acute Achilles tendon ruptures. *Health Qual Life Outcomes*. 2012;10(1):1.
- Nilsson-Helander K, Silbernagel KG, Thomeé R, et al. Acute Achilles tendon rupture a randomized, controlled study comparing surgical and nonsurgical

treatments using validated outcome measures. Am J Sports Med. 2010;38 (11):2186–2193.

- 20. Olsson N, Karlsson J, Eriksson BI, Brorsson A, Lundberg M, Silbernagel KG. Ability to perform a single heel-rise is significantly related to patient-reported outcome after Achilles tendon rupture. *Scand J Med Sci Sports*. 2014;24(1):152– 158.
- Cetti R, Christensen S-E, Ejsted R, Jensen NM, Jorgensen U. Operative versus nonoperative treatment of Achilles tendon rupture a prospective randomized study and review of the literature. *Am J Sports Med.* 1993;21(6):791–799.
- Saleh M, Marshall PD, Senior R, MacFarlane A. The Sheffield splint for controlled early mobilisation after rupture of the calcaneal tendon. A prospective, randomised comparison with plaster treatment. *Bone Jt J*. 1992;74 (2):206–209.
- 23. Jones MP, Khan RJ, Smith RLC. Surgical interventions for treating acute Achilles tendon rupture: key findings from a recent Cochrane review. *J Bone Jt Surg Am.* 2012;94(12):e88.
- 24. Ismail M, Karim A, Shulman R, Amis A, Calder J. The Achillon achilles tendon repair: is it strong enough? *Foot Ankle Int.* 2008 Aug;29(8):808–813.
- Soroceanu A, Sidhwa F, Aarabi S, Kaufman A, Glazebrook M. Surgical versus nonsurgical treatment of acute Achilles tendon rupture. J Bone Jt Surg Am. 2012;94(23):2136–2143.
- 26. Khan RJ, Fick D, Keogh A, Crawford J, Brammar T, Parker M. Treatment of acute Achilles tendon ruptures. J Bone Jt Surg Am. 2005;87(10):2202–2210.
- Nistor L. Surgical and non-surgical treatment of Achilles Tendon rupture: a prospective randomized study. J Bone Jt Surg Am. 1981;63(3):394–399.
- Schroeder D, Lehmann M, Steinbrueck K. Treatment of acute Achilles tendon ruptures: open vs. percutaneous repair vs. conservative treatment. A prospective randomized study. Orthop Trans. 1997;21:1228.
- Möller M, Movin T, Granhed H, Lind K, Faxen E, Karlsson J. Acute rupture of tendo Achillis. Bone Jt J. 2001;83(6):843–848.
- Keating JF, Will EM. Operative versus non-operative treatment of acute rupture of tendo Achillis. J Bone Jt Surg Br. 2011;93(8):1071–1078.
- McCormack R, Bovard J. Early functional rehabilitation or cast immobilisation for the postoperative management of acute Achilles tendon rupture? A metaanalysis of randomised controlled trials. Br J Sports Med. 2015; bjsports-2015.
- Willits K, Amendola A, Bryant D, et al. Operative versus nonoperative treatment of acute Achilles tendon ruptures. J Bone Jt Surg Am. 2010;92 (17):2767–2775.
- **33.** Valkering KP, Aufwerber S, Ranuccio F, Lunini E, Edman G, Ackermann PW. Functional weight-bearing mobilization after Achilles tendon rupture enhances early healing response: a single-blinded randomized controlled trial. *Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc.* 2016;1–10.
- 34. Barfod KW, Bencke J, Lauridsen HB, Dippmann C, Ebskov L, Troelsen A. Nonoperative, dynamic treatment of acute Achilles tendon rupture: influence of early weightbearing on biomechanical properties of the plantar flexor muscle-tendon complex—a blinded, randomized, controlled trial. J Foot Ankle Surg. 2015;54(2):220–226.
- Hutchison AM, Topliss C, Beard D, Evans RM, Williams P. The treatment of a rupture of the Achilles tendon using a dedicated management programme. *Bone Jt J*. 2015;97(4):510–515.
- **36.** Wallace RGH, Heyes GJ, Michael ALR. The non-operative functional management of patients with a rupture of the tendo Achillis leads to low rates of re-rupture. *J Bone Jt Surg Br.* 2011;93(10):1362–1366.
- Kearney RS, Costa ML. Current concepts in the rehabilitation of an acute rupture of the tendo Achillis. *Bone Jt J.* 2012;94(1):28–31.
- Maffulli N, Tallon C, Wong J, Lim KP, Bleakney R. No adverse effect of early weight bearing following open repair of acute tears of the Achilles tendon. J Sports Med Phys Fit. 2003;43(3):367.
- Costa ML, MacMillan K, Halliday D, et al. Randomised controlled trials of immediate weight-bearing mobilisation for rupture of the tendo Achillis. *Bone Jt J.* 2006;88(1):69–77.
- **40.** Metz R, Verleisdonk E-JM, Geert J-M-G, et al. Acute achilles tendon rupture minimally invasive surgery versus nonoperative treatment with immediate full weightbearing—a randomized controlled trial. *Am J Sports Med.* 2008;36 (9):1688–1694.
- Suchak AA, Bostick GP, Beaupré LA, D'Arcy CD, Jomha NM. The influence of early weight-bearing compared with non-weight-bearing after surgical repair of the Achilles tendon. J Bone Jt Surg Am. 2008;90(9):1876–1883.
- Aujla R, Kumar A, Bhatia M. Non-surgical treatment of Achilles rupture: does duration in functional weight bearing orthosis matter? *Foot Ankle Surg.* 2015;. [Internet]. [cited 2016 Dec 3]; Available from: http://www.sciencedirect.com/ science/article/pii/S126877311500168X.
- **43.** Olsson N, Silbernagel KG, Eriksson BI, et al. Stable surgical repair with accelerated rehabilitation versus nonsurgical treatment for acute Achilles tendon ruptures a randomized controlled study. *Am J Sports Med.* 2013;41 (December (12)):2867–2876.
- 44. Clanton TO, Haytmanek CT, Williams BT, et al. A biomechanical comparison of an open repair and 3 minimally invasive percutaneous Achilles tendon repair techniques during a simulated, progressive rehabilitation protocol. Am J Sports Med. 2015;43(8):1957–1964.
- 45. McMahon SE, Smith TO, Hing CB. A meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials comparing conventional to minimally invasive approaches for repair of an Achilles tendon rupture. *Foot Ankle Surg.* 2011;17(4):211–217.

- **46.** Hsu AR, Jones CP, Cohen BE, Davis WH, Ellington JK, Anderson RB. Clinical outcomes and complications of percutaneous Achilles repair system versus open technique for acute Achilles tendon ruptures. *Foot Ankle Int.* 2015;36 (11):1279–1286.
- Sánchez M, Anitua E, Azofra J, Andía I, Padilla S, Mujika I. Comparison of surgically repaired Achilles tendon tears using platelet-rich fibrin matrices. *Am J Sports Med.* 2007;35(2):245–251.
- 48. Schepull T, Kvist J, Norrman H, Trinks M, Berlin G, Aspenberg P. Autologous platelets have no effect on the healing of human Achilles tendon ruptures a randomized single-blind study. *Am J Sports Med.* 2011;39(1):38–47.
- Stein BE, Stroh DA, Schon LC. Outcomes of acute Achilles tendon rupture repair with bone marrow aspirate concentrate augmentation. *Int Orthop.* 2015;39 (5):901–905.
- 50. De Carli A, Lanzetti RM, Ciompi A, et al. Can platelet-rich plasma have a role in Achilles tendon surgical repair? *Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc.* 2015;1–7.
- Kaniki N, Willits K, Mohtadi NG, Fung V, Bryant D. A retrospective comparative study with historical control to determine the effectiveness of platelet-rich plasma as part of nonoperative treatment of acute Achilles tendon rupture. *Arthrosc J Arthrosc Relat Surg.* 2014;30(9):1139–1145.
- 52. Kadakia AR, Dekker RG, Ho BS. Acute Achilles tendon ruptures: an update on treatment. J Am Acad Orthop Surg. 2017;25(1):23–31.
- 53. Yuksel S, Guleç MA, Gultekin MZ, et al. Comparison of the early period effects of bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells and platelet-rich plasma on the Achilles tendon ruptures in rats. *Connect Tissue Res.* 2016;57(5):360–373.
- Vieira MC, Silva A, Oliveira RJ, Fernandes WS, Silva RA. Therapeutic potential of mesenchymal stem cells to treat Achilles tendon injuries. *Foot Ankle Surg.* 2017;23:18.
- Okamoto N, Kushida T, Oe K, Umeda M, Ikehara S, Iida H. Treating Achilles tendon rupture in rats with bone-marrow-cell transplantation therapy. *JBJS*. 2010;92(17):2776–2784.
- Kotnis R, David S, Handley R, Willett K, Ostlere S. Dynamic ultrasound as a selection tool for reducing Achilles tendon reruptures. *Am J Sports Med.* 2006;34(9):1395–1400.
- 57. Thermann H, Zwipp H, Tscherne H. Functional treatment concept of acute rupture of the Achilles tendon: 2 years results of a prospective randomized study. *Unfallchirurg*, 1995;98(1):21–32.
- Weber M, Niemann M, Lanz R, Müller T. Nonoperative treatment of acute rupture of the Achilles tendon results of a new protocol and comparison with operative treatment. Am J Sports Med. 2003;31(5):685–691.
- Costa ML, Logan K, Heylings D, Donell ST, Tucker K. The effect of Achilles tendon lengthening on ankle dorsiflexion: a cadaver study. *Foot Ankle Int.* 2006;27(6):414-417.
- 60. Qureshi A, Gulati A, Shah A, Mangwani J. The influence of gap distance on clinical outcome in acute tendo Achilles rupture treated with accelerated functional rehabilitation. *Bone Jt J.* 2016;98-B(November (Suppl. 19)):13.
- Roberts SC, Francis P, Hughes N, Boyd G, Glazebrook MA. Non-operative treatment of tendo-achilles rupture: is 'gap size' important in determining suitability for functional rehabilitation? *Bone Jt J Orthop Proc Suppl.* 2014;96:14.
- Westin O, Helander KN, Silbernagel KG, Möller M, Kälebo P, Karlsson J. Acute ultrasonography investigation to predict reruptures and outcomes in patients with an Achilles tendon rupture. Orthop J Sports Med. 2016;4(10). [Internet]. [cited 2016 Dec 28]. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/ articles/PMC5066526/.
- Nilsson-Helander K, Thurin A, Karlsson J, Eriksson BI. High incidence of deep venous thrombosis after Achilles tendon rupture: a prospective study. *Knee* Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc. 2009;17(10):1234–1238.
- Patel A, Ogawa B, Charlton T, Thordarson D. Incidence of deep vein thrombosis and pulmonary embolism after Achilles tendon rupture. *Clin Orthop Relat Res*. 2012;470(1):270–274.
- Makhdom AM, Cota A, Saran N, Chaytor R. Incidence of symptomatic deep venous thrombosis after Achilles tendon rupture. J Foot Ankle Surg. 2013;52 (5):584–587.
- **66.** Lapidus LJ, Rosfors S, Ponzer S, et al. Prolonged thromboprophylaxis with dalteparin after surgical treatment of achilles tendon rupture: a randomized, placebo-controlled study. *J Orthop Trauma*. 2007;21(1):52–57.
- **67.** Lassen MR, Borris LC, Nakov RL. Use of the low-molecular-weight heparin reviparin to prevent deep-vein thrombosis after leg injury requiring immobilization. *N Engl J Med.* 2002;347(10):726–730.
- **68.** Braithwaite I, Dunbar L, Eathorne A, Weatherall M, Beasley R. Venous thromboembolism rates in patients with lower limb immobilization after Achilles tendon injury are unchanged after the introduction of prophylactic aspirin: audit. *J Thromb Haemost.* 2016;14(2):331–335.
- Domeij-Arverud E, Anundsson P, Hardell E, et al. Ageing, deep vein thrombosis and male gender predict poor outcome after acute Achilles tendon rupture. *Bone Jt J.* 2016;98(12):1635–1641.
- Olsson N, Petzold M, Brorsson A, Karlsson J, Eriksson BI, Silbernagel KG. Predictors of clinical outcome after acute Achilles tendon ruptures. *Am J Sports Med.* 2014;42(June (6)):1448–1455.
- Silbernagel KG, Brorsson A, Olsson N, Eriksson BI, Karlsson J, Nilsson-Helander K. Sex differences in outcome after an acute Achilles tendon rupture. Orthop J Sports Med. 2015;3(6) 2325967115586768.

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Journal of Arthroscopy and Joint Surgery

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/jajs

Review article

Isolated popliteal tendon avulsions: Current understanding and approach to management

Peter Annear^a, Manit Arora^{a,b,*}

^a Perth Orthopaedic and Sports Medicine Centre, Perth, Australia ^b University of New England, Australia

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 24 September 2017 Accepted 15 February 2018 Available online 21 February 2018

Keywords: knee sports medicine arthroscopy popliteal avulsions review

Contents

ABSTRACT

Isolated popliteal tendon avulsions are rare injuries with less than 20 cases reported in the literature. Clinical suspicion of injury is aided by MRI findings. Due to the paucity of literature there is a lack of consensus as to the best management for such injuries. Both non-operative and operative treatment options have been reported to be successful. We proposed a treatment algorithm based on our findings of the literature with a trial of 3 months of non-operative treatment followed by delayed surgical repair in refractory cases.

© 2018 Published by Elsevier, a division of RELX India, Pvt. Ltd on behalf of International Society for Knowledge for Surgeons on Arthroscopy and Arthroplasty.

1.	Introduction	145
2.	Anatomy	145
3.	Function	146
4.	Mechanism of Injury	146
5.	Clinical signs and symptoms	146
6.	Imaging	146
7.	Treatment	147
	Conflict of interest	148
	Acknowledgement	148
	References	148

1. Introduction

An isolated popliteus tendon avulsion is a rare and uncommon injury, with less than 20 cases reported in the literature. Avulsion of the popliteus tendon may occur as a result of knee hyperextension, with the combination of either tibial external rotation or a varus force to the knee. Due to the lack of literature, both operative and non-operative treatments have been reported to be successful. We review the current literature and provide a treatment algorithm based on our findings.

* Corresponding author at: Perth Orthopaedic and Sports Medicine Centre (POSMC), 31 Outram Street West Perth, Perth, Australia.

E-mail address: manit_arora@hotmail.com (M. Arora).

2. Anatomy

The posterolateral corner (PLC) complex of the knee consists of the popliteus tendon, lateral collateral ligament, biceps femoris tendon, popliteal meniscal ligament, popliteal fibular ligament, lateral gastrocnemius muscle, arcuate ligament, oblique popliteal ligament and the fabellofibular ligament.

The popliteal muscle originates from the posteromedial aspect of the proximal tibial metaphysis above the soleal line¹ and forms the floor of the popliteal fossa.² The popliteal tendon then passes through the popliteal hiatus, entering the knee joint and inserting into the lateral femoral condyle at the edge of the popliteal sulcus, with a curved footprint. The popliteus tendon is intracapsular, but extra-articular and extrasynovial.³ There are various aponeurotic attachments described to the posterior horn of the lateral

2214-9635/© 2018 Published by Elsevier, a division of RELX India, Pvt. Ltd on behalf of International Society for Knowledge for Surgeons on Arthroscopy and Arthroplasty.







meniscus and the fibular head.⁴ The insertion into the lateral meniscus retracts and protects the meniscus in flexion.⁵

3. Function

The PLC functions to resist genu varum, external tibial rotation and posterior tibial translation. The role of the popliteus within the PLC is less clearly described. It has been proposed to assist in unlocking the knee,⁶ initiate and assist internal rotation of the tibia on the femur² and prevent forward dislocation of the femur on the tibia in low flexion.⁷

Within the PLC it is an important static stabilizer. It acts as a secondary restraint to posterior displacement of the tibia in posterior cruciate ligament deficient knees.⁸

The popliteal tendon has been described recently as the static 'fifth ligament' of the knee.⁹ Sectioning of the tendon in cadavers leads to significant increases in external rotation and smaller increases in internal rotation, varus angulation and anterior translation. Further, an anatomic popliteal tendon reconstruction in the same cadaveric knees significantly reduced the increase in external rotation seen with sectioning but not the smaller differences in internal rotation, varus angulation and anterior translation.⁹

It appears thus that the main role of the popliteus tendon may be in assisting internal rotation of the tibia on the femur and as a restraint to external rotation.

4. Mechanism of Injury

It has been suggested that popliteal injuries occur due to blows to the anteromedial aspect of the proximal tibia with the knee hyperextended or due to non-contact related hyperextension with external rotation.¹⁰ Nakhostine et al reported four cases in which the isolated avulsion of the popliteal tendon was due to external rotation with the tibia in low flexion.¹¹ Brown could not identify a clear mechanism of injury in their radiological study.¹ It appears that an external rotation force with the knee in hyperextension or near hyperextension is the most likely mechanism of injury.

5. Clinical signs and symptoms

Due to the lack of literature surrounding such injuries it is hard to elucidate a constant pattern of signs and symptoms. The typical injury appears to result from an external rotation force in a hyperextended or near hyperextended knee, with subsequent stop of play and pain towards the lateral and posterolateral aspect of the knee with effusion. There is usually tenderness laterally and posterolateral and the dial test is usually negative. The range of motion tends to be preserved other than in the acute phase where pain may limit movements. There are no specific tests described in the literature to isolate the popliteus from the PLC.

It is important however to test for concomitant injuries to the cruciates and collaterals. Isolated injuries to the popliteus occur in less than 10% of cases with over half of cases having associated meniscal injuries or bone bruises.¹,12 One quarter of cases have concomitant injury to the cruciates and a small number have injury to the collaterals also.¹,13

6. Imaging

Plain radiographs may show small avulsion of fragment from the lateral femoral condyle at the insertion point of the popliteal tendon¹⁴ however this is non-specific and not a consistent finding. The presence of such an osseous fragment though is important for pre-operative planning.

On MR imaging, the popliteus tendon is seen as a T2 hypointense cord-like structure attaching to the popliteal sulcus on the lateral aspect of the lateral femoral condyle (Fig. 1 a and b). On coronal images, the insertion is below the origin of the lateral head of the gastrocnemius and the femoral attachment of the LCL. On the saggital images, the tendon can then be seen passing posteroinferiorly behind the posterior horn of the lateral meniscus.³

The classical MR findings of injury related to degree of strain¹⁵ also apply to the popliteus tendon³ (Fig. 2a and b) – first degree (stretch injury): minor degree of fiber disruption with interstitial edema and haemorrhage producing a feathery appearance on MR; second degree (partial tear): fluid signal without retraction along



Fig. 1. a and b – Coronal proton density (a) and fast spin echo T2 (b) images of a normal popliteal tendon showing insertion into the footprint along the popliteal sulcus.





Fig. 2. a and b - Coronal proton density (a) and fast spin echo T2 (b) images of a Grade 3 (complete) popliteal tendon avulsion of the anatomical footprint.

with haematoma and perifascial fluid collection; and third degree (complete rupture): complete separation of the tendon from the footprint with fluid signal intervening and various degrees of retraction. In cases of complete rupture it is important to note the presence of an osseous fragment attached to the tendon. Further, complete ruptures may benignly appear as a periarticular soft tissue swelling surrounded by fluid.¹⁶

In a study of the MRI scans of 24 consecutive patients, Brown et al (1995) found that 96% of tears of the popliteus involved the muscular portion and 15% of patients had tears to both the muscular and tendinous portion with only one case of tendon tear alone.¹ This emphasizes both the rarity of the lesion and the need to look for, not just tendon avulsion and injury, but injury to the muscle belly itself, which may take the form of fluid signal and oedema within the muscle belly or perimuscular soft tissues.

7. Treatment

Due to paucity of literature surrounding popliteal tendon avulsions, there is a lack of consensus as to the most effective treatment. Both non-operative¹⁴,17–19 and operative treatment^{6–} ⁸,11,20,21 regimens have been described as successful.

Non-operative treatment protocols usually consist of a long leg hinge knee brace with no motion or weight bearing restrictions and an early physical therapy program starting with gentle range of motion exercises which are progressively increased as tolerated. Usually there is return to most activities and some sports by 6 months. There was one case²² of a popliteal tendon avulsion with a posterior tibial nerve compression due to the haematoma of the injury, where the tendon had adequately recovered by 3 months however the nerve took another 3 months for recovery.

Operative options usually centre on reducing the fragment to bone and fixing with either screws or suture anchors. Intraoperatively, an arthroscopic 'lateral gutter drive-through' sign²³ has been described where the arthroscope can be pushed into the interval between the politeus tendon and the lateral femoral

condyle. A positive sign indicates the presence of a femoral avulsion of either the popliteus tendon or concomitant LCL.²³ There has been one case described where the fragment was simply excised in an elderly patient²¹ who had adequate function postoperatively and was able to return to all daily activities.

Based on the available literature we propose a treatment algorithm for isolated popliteal tendon avulsions (Fig. 3).



Fig. 3. Treatment algorithm for approach to popliteal tendon avulsions based on the literature.

Conflict of interest

None.

Acknowledgement

We wish to thank Dr William Breidahl MBBS FRANZCR (Clinical Associate Professor UWA) for kindly providing MRI images of the popliteal tendon.

References

- Brown TR, Quinn SF, Wensel JP, Kim JH, Demlow T. Diagnosis of popliteus injuries with MR imaging. *Skeletal Radiol.* 1995;24(October (7)):511–514.
- Ullrich K, Krudwig WK, Witzel U. Posterolateral aspect and stability of the knee joint. I. Anatomy and function of the popliteus muscle-tendon unit: an anatomical and biomechanical study. *Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc Off J* ESSKA. 2002;10(March (2)):86–90.
- Jadhav SP, More SR, Riascos RF, Lemos DF, Swischuk LE. Comprehensive Review of the Anatomy, Function, and Imaging of the Popliteus and Associated Pathologic Conditions. *RadioGraphics*. 2014;34(March (2)):496–513.
- 4. Covey DC. Injuries of the posterolateral corner of the knee. *J Bone Joint Surg Am.* 2001;83–A(January (1)):106–118.
- 5. Tria AJ, Johnson CD, Zawadsky JP. The popliteus tendon. *J Bone Joint Surg Am.* 1989;71(Jun (5)):714–716.
- Mirkopulos N, Myer TJ. Isolated avulsion of the popliteus tendon. A case report. Am J Sports Med. 1991;19(August (4)):417–419.
- 7. Rose DJ, Parisien JS. Popliteus tendon rupture. Case report and review of the literature. *Clin Orthop.* 1988;(January (226)):113–117.
- Garth WP, Pomphrey MM, Merrill KD. Isolated avulsion of the popliteus tendon: operative repair: A report of two cases. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 1992;74 (January (1)):130–132.
- LaPrade RF, Wozniczka JK, Stellmaker MP, Wijdicks CA. Analysis of the Static Function of the Popliteus Tendon and Evaluation of an Anatomic Reconstruction. Am J Sports Med. 2010;38(March (3)):543–549.

- 10. Baker CL, Norwood LA, Hughston JC. Acute posterolateral rotatory instability of the knee. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 1983;65(June (5)):614–618.
- Nakhostine M, Perko M, Cross M. Isolated avulsion of the popliteus tendon. Bone Jt J. 1995;77–B(March (2)):242–244.
- Recondo JA, Salvador E, Villanúa JA, et al. Lateral stabilizing structures of the knee: functional anatomy and injuries assessed with MR imaging. *Radiogr Rev Publ Radiol Soc N Am Inc.* 2000;20(October (1)) Spec No:S91–102.
- Guha AR, Gorgees KA, Walker DI. Popliteus tendon rupture: a case report and review of the literature. Br J Sports Med. 2003;37(August (4)):358–360.
- Isolated popliteus tendon avulsion: Current Orthopaedic Practice [Internet]. LWW. [cited 2017 Aug 17]. Available from: http://journals.lww.com/corthopaedicpractice/Fulltext/2012/01000/ Isolated_popliteus_tendon_avulsion.18.aspx.
- Palmer WE, Kuong SJ, Elmadbouh HM. MR imaging of myotendinous strain. AJR Am J Roentgenol. 1999;173(September (3)):703–709.
- Agha M. MRI of the posterolateral corner of the knee, please have a look. Alex J Med [Internet]. 2016 Sep 23 [cited 2017 Aug 18]; Available from: http://www. sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S2090506816300537.
- Gruel JB. Isolated avulsion of the popliteus tendon. Arthrosc J Arthrosc Relat Surg. 1990;6(June (2)):94–95.
- Burstein DB, Fischer DA. Isolated rupture of the popliteus tendon in a professional athlete. *Arthrosc J Arthrosc Relat Surg.* 1990;6(September (3)):238– 241.
- **19.** Naver L, Aalberg JR. Avulsion of the popliteus tendon: A rare cause of chondral fracture and hemarthrosis. *Am J Sports Med.* 1985; 13(November (6)):423–424.
- Westrich GH, Hannafin JA, Potter HG. Isolated rupture and repair of the popliteus tendon. Arthrosc J Arthrosc Relat Surg. 1995;11(October (5)):628–632.
- Murray JRD, Grundy JRB, Collins IE, et al. Spontaneous rupture of the popliteus tendon in a 74-year-old woman and review of the literature. *Arthrosc J Arthrosc Relat Surg.* 2004;20(October (8)):860–864.
- [22]. Geissler WB, Corso, Caspari RB. Isolated rupture of the popliteus with posterior tibial nerve palsy. *Bone Jt J*. 1992;74–B(November (6)):811–813.
- Feng H, Zhang H, Hong L, Wang X, Zhang J. The lateral gutter drive-through sign: an arthroscopic indicator of acute femoral avulsion of the popliteus tendon in knee joints. *Arthrosc J Arthrosc Relat Surg.* 2009;25(December (12)):1496–1499.

Journal of Arthroscopy and Joint Surgery 5 (2018) 149-155

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Journal of Arthroscopy and Joint Surgery

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/jajs

Research paper

Multiligamentous knee injury – A Level III study to describe systematic approach, management and rehabilitation protocol with review of literature

Nikhil Verma^{*}, Harjoban Singh, Shekhar Srivastav

Delhi Institute of Trauma and Orthopaedics (DITO), Sant Parmanand Hospital, Civil Lines, Delhi, India

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 11 March 2018 Accepted 25 August 2018 Available online 27 August 2018

Keywords: Multiligamentous knee injuries (MLKIs) Knee dislocation (KD) Repair Reconstruction Cruciate and collateral ligaments

ABSTRACT

Introduction: Multiligamentous knee injury (MLKI) is a complex and difficult entity in terms of management and rehabilitation programme due to lack of consensus in literature over optimal treatment guidelines. Thus this case series was intended to describe our surgical technique, sequence of fixation of ligaments with functional & clinical outcomes following reconstruction of ligaments and rehabilitation protocol.

Material and methods: 20 consecutive patients diagnosed with MLKI between 2015 and 2017 were enrolled and underwent surgical reconstruction/repair of torn ligaments. A prospective collected data of all patients were analysed retrospectively in terms of clinical and functional outcome by assessing the patients with their range of motion (ROM), lysholm and tegner activity scores.

Results: A total of 20 MLKI patients who were operated from 2015 to 2017 were recruited and followed up for a mean period of 1.8 years (range 6 months to 2 years). Mean range of motion among the KD groups (I-V) was from 5° to 111.67°. Mean Lysholm score among the KD groups (I-V) was 84.53. Mean Tegner activity level of KD groups (I-V) before injury was 4.6 and mean current level at the time of follow up was 3.6. No significant medial laxity was observed at final follow up period.

Conclusion: We found good functional outcome in most cases treated by our systematic approach and management protocol. Better functional outcomes in MLKIs needs thorough clinico-radiological evaluation and proper surgical planning in terms of repair/reconstruction. Early intervention (<3 weeks), multistage reconstruction and individualized rehabilitation are key factors for early return to activities. © 2018 Published by Elsevier, a division of RELX India, Pvt. Ltd on behalf of International Society for Knowledge for Surgeons on Arthroscopy and Arthroplasty.

1. Introduction

Multiligamentous knee injury (MLKI) is a complex and difficult entity in terms of management and rehabilitation programme due to lack of consensus in literature over optimal treatment guidelines.¹ It constitute less than 0.02% of all orthopaedic injuries and may be associated with neurovascular injury that can threaten the affected extremity.¹ Heterogeneity in injury mechanism and pattern necessitates comprehensive clinical and detailed radiological examination to identify and planning for management of all injured structures.² A multiligamentous knee injury (MLKI) is defined as one complete cruciate ligament tear (grade III) with either partial or complete collateral or other cruciate ligament tear (grade II or III).³ Knee dislocations usually result in multiligament knee injuries and are characterised by disruption of both cruciate ligaments with or without associated collateral ligament injury.²

With recent advances in surgical technique and devices, multiligament knee injuries are now being managed surgically with superior outcomes compared to non operative in terms of return to work and sports activities. Early surgical intervention (<3 weeks from the injury) with reconstruction of cruciate ligaments along with PLC associated with less revision rates and yielded superior functional and clinical outcomes as measured by Lysholm and Tegner activity score^{4,5} compared to repair of these structures.⁶

There is paucity of literature addressing the management options and their outcomes in MLKI patients because of low incidence of these injuries and higher rates of associated trauma, complexity







^{*} Corresponding author.

E-mail addresses: drnikhilucms@gmail.com (N. Verma), harjoban81@gmail.com (H. Singh), drssrivastav@hotmail.com (S. Srivastav).

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jajs.2018.08.003

^{2214-9635/© 2018} Published by Elsevier, a division of RELX India, Pvt. Ltd on behalf of International Society for Knowledge for Surgeons on Arthroscopy and Arthroplasty.

and heterogeneity in both pattern and mechanism of injury.¹ Thus this case series was intended to describe our surgical technique, sequence of fixation of ligaments with functional & clinical outcomes following reconstruction of ligaments and rehabilitation protocol.

1.1. Objectives of study

The objectives of our study are 1) to describe the surgical technique of repair, reconstruction and sequence of fixation of ligaments in combined cruciate and collateral ligaments injuries 2) to describe rehabilitation protocol following reconstruction/repair of ligaments 3) to analyze the functional and clinical outcomes of patients with multiligamentous knee injuries (MLKI) using Lysholm, Tegner activity scoring methods and range of motion of the injured knee.

2. Material and methods

20 consecutive patients diagnosed with MLKI between 2015 and 2017 were enrolled and underwent surgical reconstruction/repair of torn ligaments. A prospective collected data of all patients were analysed retrospectively in terms of clinical and functional outcome by assessing the patients with their range of motion (ROM), lysholm and tegner activity scores. Schenck⁷ classification was used to classify the pattern of multiligament knee injuries.

2.1. Preoperative evaluation

All patients were first examined clinically including neurovascular examination. USG Color Doppler and CT Angiography were done for patients with feeble or diminished distal pulses in cases of knee dislocation resulting from high velocity injury. In case of neurological deficit EMG (Electromyography) and NCV (Nerve Conduction Velocity) were done for diagnosing the type of neural injury. After addressing the neurovascular emergencies a thorough clinical assessment was done to determine the cruciates and collaterals injury. Various clinical tests were used to diagnose the ligament injuries as shown in Table 1.

2.2. Radiographic evaluation

All patients underwent plain radiographic assessment for joint congruency and to rule out periarticular/avulsion fractures. In cases of Tibial spine/PCL/Medial collateral ligament (MCL) bony avulsion injuries CT scan was advised for precise evaluation. MRI evaluation was done in all MLKI patients to confirm the ligamentous injuries and to identify any associated intraarticular damage and concomitant meniscal injuries. Fig. 1A showing ACL, MCL tear with meniscal injury and Fig. 1B showing bicruciate injury (ACL + PCL).

2.3. General surgical management of MLKI

After clinico-radiological examination preoperative planning was done regarding repair vs reconstruction of ligaments, autograft selection and mode of fixation in cases of MLKI as shown in Table 2. Surgery was performed within 3 weeks of injury in acute cases so that repair of the torn collateral ligaments could be performed easily. In chronic cases patients were operated when near normal range of motion and good quadriceps control achieved to prevent post-operative arthrofibrosis and loss of joint motion. Both legs were prepared and draped at the same time to harvest the Semitendinous-gracilis (STG) graft from contralateral normal leg if required. Diagnostic arthroscopy was performed to begin with using standard anterolateral and anteromedial portals. Associated meniscal injuries were addressed at the same time. In cases of grade II/III MCL tear repair was always being augmented by STG graft to prevent the post-operative valgus instability/laxity due to poor result of repair procedure done alone. In cases of LCL/PLC injuries reconstruction was always being attempted using autograft to yield better functional outcomes.

2.4. Surgical management of cruciate ligament tears

In patients with bicruciate injuries with intact collateral ligaments, PCL reconstruction was indicated in all grade 3 injuries. Reconstruction started first with PCL tunnels formation using STG graft harvested from contralateral side. For ACL reconstruction, STG graft harvested from ipsilateral leg was used. Then graft was prepared in 5 strands manner with standard whipstitch technique using ethibond and vicryl thread. Both femoral and tibial tunnels were drilled using the standard technique of anatomical PCL reconstruction. Then ACL tunnels were drilled in tibial and femoral side using standard anatomical ACL reconstruction technique. PCL graft was passed and secured with biointerference screw on femoral side while tibial tunnel aperture was left unsecured. Then ACL graft was passed and secured with adjustable/fixed loop on femoral side. Now both grafts on tibial sites were secured with biointerference screws. PCL graft was secured first with knee in 90° flexion followed by ACL graft fixation in knee extension. In cases with associated collateral injuries, PCL reconstruction was done using Quadriceps tendon graft which was harvested from ipsilateral side by giving 5 cm long incision over anterior aspect of distal thigh starting from superior pole of patella as shown in Fig. 2 and prepared in same manner using standard whipstitch technique.

2.5. Surgical management of medial structure injuries

In cases of cruciate tear with avulsion from tibial site or intrasubstance MCL tears, repair was done with suture anchors or with non-absorbable sutures (Ethicon) along with capsule imbrication. In cases with severe rupture of MCL and the capsule, repair with augmentation was employed. Medial longitudinal incision given over anteromedial surface of proximal tibia, ipsilateral STG tendon graft prepared in double strands fashion without detachment from tibial surface. Then graft was passed through the medial retinaculum and inserted at medial epicondyle level (5 mm posterior and 3 mm proximal) through the coronal tunnel (graft size) formed in the femur and secured with biointerference screw with knee in 30 degree flexion. The graft was reflected back over the tibial surface

 Table 1

 Showing clinical assessment of MLKIs.

Ligament	Clinical tests
ACL	Anterior drawer, Lachman & pivot shift
PCL	Posterior drawer, Posterior sag & loss of tibial step off
MCL/LCL	Valgus/Varus stress test done in 0 and 30° of flexion
Posteromedial structures	Anteromedial drawer test/Slocum test done in 90° flexion & external rotation
Posterolateral structures	Dial test performed in prone position with knee in 30 & 90° flexion



Fig. 1. A: showing ACL, MCL and medial meniscal injury.

Table 2

Preferred graft selection, technique and mode of fixation of ligaments in MLKIs.

Ligament	Graft	Technique	Mode of fixation
ACL PCL MCL/ PMC	Ipsilateral/contralateral STG Ipsilateral/contralateral STG/Quadricep tendon Ipsilateral STG	Single bundle reconstruction Single bundle reconstruction Repair with augmentation	Adjustable/fixed loop-femur side, biointerference screw-tibial side biointerference screw- femur & tibial side biointerference screw- femur side, Ligament staple — tibial side
LCL/PLC	Ipsilateral/contralateral STG	Repair + Larson figure of 8 reconstruction	Biointerference screws-femur & fibular side

and attached posterior to pesanserinus insertion to secure a two point fixation on tibia. Spiked metallic ligament staple (Arthrex) was used to fix the posterior limb as shown in Fig. 3.

2.6. Surgical management of lateral structure injuries

In cases of cruciate tear with lateral side injuries, reconstruction



Fig. 2. B: showing combined ACL + PCL injury.

was preferred. Using the lateral curved incision, extended proximally between iliotibial band and biceps femoris, distally between gerdy's tubercle and the fibular head. Long head of biceps femoris was identified & act as landmark for common peroneal nerve which was traced posterior and medial to it. STG tendon autograft was used to reconstruct the LCL by using standard modified Larson (figure of 8) technique. Biointerference screw was used to secure the graft in the lateral aspect of distal femur with knee in $20-30^{\circ}$ flexion and slight internal rotation.

2.7. Surgical management of anterior structure injuries

Concomitant anterior structure viz patellar tendon avulsion injury was addressed after ACL + MCL fixation. A transosseous repair of patellar tendon was done by forming two vertical tunnels in patella from inferior to superior pole direction and fixed with knee in complete extension using ethibond/fibre wire.

2.8. Rehabilitation protocol

All MLKI patients were given knee brace for 6–8 weeks. Protected active assisted ROM was started in the immediate postoperative period except in cases of concomitant patellar tendon injuries where ROM started after delay of 3 weeks. All patients were kept non weight bearing with toe touch till 4 weeks followed by partial weight bearing for another 4 weeks. Full weight bearing without brace was begun at 8 weeks.

2.9. Statistical/data analysis

Data was analysed and compiled in mean values and ranges for relevant variables. Functional outcomes of all MLKI patients were evaluated by Lysholm score and Tegner activity score. Comparison was done between pre-operative and postoperative values using paired Wilcoxon test. P value was considered significant when it was less than 0.05.

3. Results

A total of 20 MLKI patients who were operated from 2015 to 2017 were recruited and followed up for a mean period of 1.8 years (range 6 months to 2 years). There were 15 males (75%) and 5 females (25%). The mean age of the patients was 29 years (range 15–43 years).10 patients had MLKI due to motor vehicle accident (MVA-50%), 5 patients had injury during sports activities (25%) and rest 5 fell in other mechanisms of injury that include fall from stairs, twisting of knee during dancing (25%). Out of 4 major ligaments of the knee, 13 patients of MLKI (65%) had 2 injured ligaments&7 patients (35%) had 3 injured ligaments. No patient had all 4 ligaments injury who underwent popliteal arterial repair with saphenous graft taken from contralateral side along with multiligament reconstruction with uneventful recovery whereas no patient (0%) had neural injury (Table 3).

We classified various pattern of MLKIs according to Schneck RJ⁷ classification of knee dislocations (KD) as shown in Fig. 4. 13



Fig. 3. Showing medial collateral ligament repair with augmentation using ipsilateral STG graft (2 point fixation technique).

Table 3 Showing demographic profile of MLKI patients (n = 20).

Demographic profile	(N = 20)
Age (years)	29(15-43)
Gender	
Male	15(75%)
Female	05(25%)
Mode of Injury	
MVA	10(50%)
Sports	05(25%)
Others	05(25%)
Numbers of Ligaments Involved	
2	13(65%)
3	07(35%)
4	0 (0%)
Vascular iniurv	1 (5%)
Neural injury	0 (0%)
Time from surgery to follow up (years)	1.8(6 months-2 yrs)

patients (65%) were KD-I, 2 patients(10%) were KD-II, 4 patients (20%) were KD-III involving the MCL, 1 patient (5%) was KD-III involving the LCL/PLC while no patient (0%) was of KD-IV and KD-V type of ligament injury pattern. 5 patients (25%)with KD-III type of injury pattern (ACL + PCL + MCL/LCL) were planned for stage reconstruction where ACL reconstruction was deferred and rest underwent single stage reconstruction. The most common injury pattern in our study was single cruciate with medial collateral ligament (MCL) followed by bicruciate with medial side injuries.

Table 4 describes the clinical and functional outcomes of all MLKI patients managed surgically. The mean follow up was 1.8 years (range 6 months -2 years). Mean range of motion among the KD groups (I-V) was from 5° to 111.67°. In KD I group ROM was near normal (0–120°) but as the severity of injury increased (from KD I

to KD III) ROM showed a declining trend to $5-105^{\circ}$. KD I-II groups had equal performances in terms of range of motions (p > 0.05). Mean Lysholm score among the KD groups (I-V) was 84.53. KD I-II groups had the highest Lysholm scores while KD III group had lowest. Mean Tegner activity level of KD groups (I-V) before injury was 4.6 and mean current level at the time of follow up was 3.6. The difference in mean Tegner activity score was found to be statistically insignificant with p value = 1 (p > 0.05). Ligament laxity was evaluated in all MLKI patients pre and post operatively. Greater than 5 mm of movement was observed to be as positive laxity. At the final follow up, 2 patients (10%) had anterior translation/laxity and 1 patient of all MLKIs (5%) had lateral laxity on clinical assessment, however no subjective symptoms noticed by the patients to force them for any revision surgical intervention. No significant medial laxity was observed at final follow up period.

3.1. Postoperative complication

All the patients were observed and followed to detect early and late complications. 2 patients underwent arthroscopic lavage following their surgery due to postoperative knee effusion, fever and raised TLC count (that raises the suspicion of intraarticular infection). In both the patients symptoms resolved following the lavage, however no pathogenic organism was detected on culture of the joint fluid. 2 patients of KD–III group where stage reconstruction was planned (ACL reconstruction deferred) developed knee arthrofibrosis with range of flexion less than 70° but was having stable knee, arthroscopic adhesiolysis was done to resolve the knee stiffness. No patient underwent revision surgery (reconstruction) due to persistent instability/laxity of the reconstructed/repair ligaments or even in cases of stage reconstruction. No statistical relationship was found between complication and injury pattern.



Fig. 4. Pie Graph showing Patterns of ligament injury, KD = knee dislocation, KD-I, single cruciate combined with either MCL or LCL injury; KD-II, central pivot injury(ACL + PCL); KD-III, bicruciate with either MCL or LCL/PLC; KD-IV, all 4 ligaments injury; KD-V, MLKI with associated fracture.

Table 4			
Showing Functional and clir	nical outcomes of MLKI	patients at final	follow up

Group	Lysholm Score (Mean) Range (78–95)	Tegner activity Level (Mean)		ROI	M In	Ligament laxity	
		Level before Injury (range 3–7)	Current Level (range 2–6)	Deg (Ra -12	grees nge 0 20)	(Anterior &	lateral)
KD I	88	5	4	0	120	_	-
KD II	86	4	3	10	110	_	_
KD III	79.6	4.8	3.8	5	105	2(anterior)	1(lateral)
KD IV	_	_	_	_	_	_	_
KD V	-	-	_	-	-	_	-
Average among KD groups	84.53	4.6	3.6	5	111.67		

4. Discussion

A prospective collected data of all MLKI patients was analysed retrospectively to design a systematic approach and management protocol to yield better functional outcomes in all these patients. We observed that in our study, men in the age of 15–43 years were at high risk of MLKIs. The most common ligament injury pattern in our study was single cruciate with medial collateral ligament (MCL) followed by bicruciate with medial structure injuries (ACL + PCL + MCL). In our study, high velocity injury (MVA) accounted for 50% of cases whereas sports injuries accounted for 25% only. The demographic data including age, sex, ligament injury pattern showed similar reports as most of the literature on knee injuries. However, there is dramatic difference in terms of mode of injury from the results of western countries where Jenkins et al.⁸ showed 45% high velocity and 40% low velocity injuries with mean age group of 21 years. This may be attributed to higher involvement in sports activities in western population. We have found 2 patients with concomitant anterior structure injuries (ACL + MCL + PT avulsion/tear along with meniscal injury) over which no published literature is available concerning the mechanism and management of this type of injury pattern. In the literature it has been shown that one of the important factor behind the failure of surgical management of MLKIs was unrecognized posteromedial or posterolateral injuries occurred due to poor clinical and radiographic assessment of the injury. $^{9-11}$ Thus a thorough clinical assessment (examination under anaesthesia in acute cases) and radiographic evaluation including X-rays, CT, MRI are needed in all MLKIs for appropriate surgical planning in terms of graft choice and mode of fixation of reconstructed ligaments. In the literature, it has shown that surgical management of MLKIs yields better outcomes than conservative treatment.^{4,5} Early (<3 weeks) vs late surgical intervention in MLKIs is also a debatable issue in the literature in terms of return to sports activity, however in terms of functional outcomes no difference was found between the two groups as shown in the study of Levy BA et al.⁶ In our study, we addressed all MLKIs surgically within 3 weeks so that repair of the injured structures could be attempted easily. Decision regarding repair vs reconstruction of ligaments was made according to the ligament injured, extent and site of its tear. We performed single bundle reconstruction of all cruciate injuries (ACL/PCL) in cases of MLKIs due to limitation of bone stock, fewer tunnels required and scarcity of grafts availability. However in terms of knee instability and OA rates no significant difference was found between single bundle and double bundle techniques at long term follow up as reported in a randomized controlled trial by Jarvela S et al.¹² In MCL injuries, repair or reconstruction depends upon site, extent of tear, quality of torn tissue and time since the injury as reported by Schein A et al.¹³ We always performed repair along with augmentation with ipsilateral STG graft with 2 point fixation technique over tibia as described earlier. In our study no patient had significant medial laxity at final follow up. Lateral side injuries (LCL/PLC) were always being taken care by reconstruction at our institute using STG graft and it yielded better functional outcomes with no revision. This finding was found comparable with other author's results who have reported superior outcomes of reconstruction over repair.^{6,14}

In cruciate combined with either medial or lateral collateral injuries, we performed single stage reconstruction. Bicruciate injuries with either of the collateral ligament involvement, stage reconstruction was planned due to: (1) scarcity of graft (2) extensive soft tissue damage (3) to reduce the operating time (4) to decrease the chances of post operative arthrofibrosis and laxity. In staged reconstruction, ACL reconstruction was always being deferred. While PCL was always being reconstructed and secured first to restore the normal tibio-femoral alignment and to maintain central pillar of the joint followed by collateral ligament reconstruction.¹⁵ On subsequent follow up patients did not find any subjective symptoms of ACL deficiency thus did not undergo sec-ond stage reconstruction. Bin SI et al.¹⁶ reported two stage reconstruction of ligaments in acute injury cases produces good outcomes in terms of laxity, functional knee scores and ROM. However, Miller et al. in his study showed single stage reconstruction of all ligaments as index procedure in acute injury yields reliable functional outcomes and stability.9 Outcomes in terms of symptomatic laxity and functional scores were equivalent to other KD group patients at final follow up. According to Lysholm scoring system (mean 84.53), we found fair to good functional outcome in all MLKIs patients with this approach and management protocol. This favourably correspond to findings of other studies who reported satisfactory results with functional score between 68–79.^{17,18} We found that injury pattern and anatomical lesions were possible indicators of prognosis of MLKIs.

Sequences of graft tensioning is also a debatable topic in literature. We prefer PCL graft fixation and tensioning first with knee in 90° position. This restores the normal anatomy, tibial step off and central pivot of the joint. PLC graft is fixed next in 70° knee flexion and LCL at 20–30° with slight valgus force. Prepassed ACL graft is fixed next on tibial site with knee in near full extension and finally the MCL in 30° knee flexion. This sequence has also been supported by many publications in the literature.^{19,20}

The most common complication associated with surgically intervened MLKIs are postoperative knee arthrofibrosis and persistent instability/laxity. Medial side injuries tend to provide more stiffness while with lateral side injuries, persistent laxity is more of an issue.¹ We started immediate brace protected active assisted ROM exercises with non-weight bearing toe touch till 4–6 weeks. After that physiotherapy was started with continuous passive motion which was helpful in restoring the ROM. After 8 weeks of rehabilitation full weight bearing was started and patients were trained to develop good quadriceps and hamstring control to achieve stable and functional knee.

5. Conclusion

We found good functional outcome in most cases. Mean Lysholm score was 84.53 (84–95 good) in MLKIs treated by our systematic approach and management protocol. The difference in scores among KD groups suggestive of possible impact of injury pattern over functional recovery and prognosis. Better functional outcomes in MLKIs needs thorough clinico-radiological evaluation and proper surgical planning in terms of repair/reconstruction. However, heterogeneity in injury pattern and small population size made the comparison & conclusion difficult. Early intervention (<3 weeks), multistage reconstruction and individualized rehabilitation are key factors for early return to activities.

Level of evidence

Level III study.

Conflict of interest

The authors of the study have no conflict of interest.

Funding

There is no funding source for this study.

Ethical approval

This study does not contain any study with animals and all patients were included in the study only after their written consent.

References

- Kaitlin M, Carroll BS, et al. Approach to management of the patient with the multiligament-injured knee. *Harv Orthop J.* 2013;15:54–64.
- Moatshe G, Chahla J, et al. Diagnosis and treatment of multiligament knee injury: state of the art. Jisakos. 2017;2:1–14.
- Charles L, Kurt PS, et al. Multiligamentous knee injuries-surgical treatment algorithm. North Am J Sports Phys Ther. 2008;3:198–203.
- Fanelli GC, Gliannotti BF, et al. Arthroscopically assisted combined Posterior cruciate ligament/posterior lateral complex reconstruction. Arthroscopy. 1996;12:521–530.
- Liow RY, Keating JF, et al. Ligament repair and reconstruction in traumatic dislocation of the knee. J Bone Joint Surg. 2003;85:845–851.
- Levy BA, Dajani KA, et al. Repair versus reconstruction of the fibular collateral ligament and posterolateral corner in the multiligament-injured knee. *Am J Sports Med.* 2010;38:804–809.
- Schenck RJ. Classification of knee dislocations. Operat Tech Sports Med. 2003;11: 193–198.
- 8. Jenkins PJ, Clifton R, et al. Strength and function recovery after multipleligament reconstruction of the knee. *Injury*. 2011;42:1426–1429.
- Zhang Y, Zhang X, et al. Surgical management of the multiple-ligament injured knee: a case series from China and review of published reports. Orthop Surg. 2013;5:239–249.
- **10.** Ibrahim SA, Ghafar S, et al. Surgical management of traumatic knee dislocation with posterolateral corner injury. *Arthroscopy*. 2013;29:733–741.
- 11. Osti M, Tschann P, et al. Posterolateral corner of the knee: microsurgical analysis of anatomy and morphometry. *Orthopedics*. 2013;36:1114–1120.
- Jarvella S, Kiekara T, et al. Double-bundle versus single-bundle anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction a prospective randomized study with 10-year results. Am J Sports Med. 2017;20:1–8.
- **13.** Schein A, Matcuk G, et al. Structure and function, injury, pathology and treatment of the medial collateral ligament of the knee. *Emerg Radiol.* 2012;19: 489–498.
- Stannard JP, Brown SL, et al. The posterolateral corner of the knee: repair versus reconstruction. Am J Sports Med. 2005;33:881–888.
- Stannard JP, Bauer KL. Current concepts in knee dislocations: PCL, ACL and medial sided injuries. J Knee Surg. 2012;25:287–294.
- Bin SI, Nam TS, et al. Surgical outcome of 2-stage management of multiple knee ligament injuries after knee dislocation. Arthroscopy. 2007;23:1066–1072.
- Goudie EB, Will EM, et al. Functional outcome following PCL and complex knee ligament reconstruction. *Knee*. 2010;17:230–234.
- Wang CJ, Chen HS, et al. Outcome of surgical reconstruction for posterior cruciate and posterolateral instabilities of the knee. *Injury*. 2002;33:815–821.
- **19.** Kim SJ, Kim SH, et al. Does sequence of graft tensioning affect outcomes in combined anterior and posterior cruciate ligament reconstructions? *Clin Orthop Relat Res.* 2015;473:235–243.
- Levy BA. CORR Insights: does sequence of graft tensioning affect outcomes in combined anterior and posterior cruciate ligament reconstruction? *Clin Orthop Relat Res.* 2015;473:244–245.

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Journal of Arthroscopy and Joint Surgery

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/jajs

Research paper

MPFL reconstruction using autologous semitendinosus tendon and transpatellar technique



^a Department of Arthroscopy and Sportsmedicine, Gleneagles Global Hospitals, Sagar Road, Saroor Nagar, L.B. Nagar, Hyderabad-500035, Telangana, India ^b Department of Orthopaedics and Arthroscopy and Sports Medicine, Gleneagles Global Hospitals, Sagar Road, Saroor Nagar, L.B. Nagar, Hyderabad-500035, Telangana, India

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 22 January 2018 Accepted 15 February 2018 Available online 22 February 2018

Keywords: MPFL reconstruction Autologous semitendinosus graft Recurrent dislocation patella

ABSTRACT

Background: Several authors have recommended many different MPFL surgical reconstruction or repair techniques and use of various types of grafts.

Purpose: Is use of autologous semitendinosus tendon and transpatella tunnel technique good choice for MPFL reconstruction?

Study design: Retrospective case series study.

Method: Patients attending orthopaedic opd with traumatic dislocation of patella without bony deformity between the age group of 20–55 years over the last 10 year period 2006–2015 were included in the study. 23 patients could be followed up for 2–6 years. In all the patients ipsilateral semi tendinosus free graft harvested and looped through two parallel tunnels made horizontally in the patella while holding both the ends of the tendon near the attachment site which is equidistance between adductor tuberosity and medial epicondyle and temporarily fixed. After fixation, range of motion of knee, patella femoral tracking and lateral tightness checked. Then permanent fixation done accordingly at that point. Patients were allowed to bear weight from second post op day.

Results: Out of 23 patients, 4 patients had arthrofibrosis which required arthroscopic fibrolysis. Three patients had underwent lateral retinacular release earlier. There were no recurrent dislocations.

Conclusion: Semitendinosus autograft and transpatella tunnel technique are one of the good choices in MPFL reconstruction.

© 2018 Published by Elsevier, a division of RELX India, Pvt. Ltd on behalf of International Society for Knowledge for Surgeons on Arthroscopy and Arthroplasty.

What is known about the subject?

MPFL is a band like tissue extending from midpoint between adductor tubercle and medial epicondyle of femur to medial border of patella. It is ruptured in traumatic dislocation of patella. There are many suggested soft tissue procedures for prevention of recurrent dislocation of patella like lateral release, medial imbrications, vastus medialis advancement over patella and MPFL reconstruction. Among these it has been found that MPFL reconstruction is superior to others and has least reoccurrences. For MPFL reconstruction various tendon can be used like semitendinosus, gracilis, quadriceps and patellar tendon. Different authors have claimed superiority of one over the other. Similarly, different fixation techniques at patellar and femoral site have been described in literature along with fixation at various degree of knee flexion.

* Corresponding author. E-mail address: drdivyanshugoyal@gmail.com (D. Goyal).

What this study adds to the existing knowledge?

MPFL reconstruction prevents recurrent dislocation of patella in traumatic dislocation of patella. Using Autologous semitendinosus graft has good results with trans- tunnel technique of patellar fixation.

1. Introduction

Patello- femoral dislocations are common and occur as a result of rotational injuries at knee joint. In recent biomechanical studies, MPFL (Medial Patello-Femoral Ligament) has been recognised as a major stabiliser of the patella on the medial aspect, and contributes to proper patello femoral tracking.¹ It is injured in almost all lateral patellar dislocations and is commonly seen in young active individuals with incidence being more in females.³⁷

Radiographs taken in patello-femoral view (with knee in 30° flexion) show opening of medial patella-femoral joint, lateral sublaxation of patella and MRI studies (Axial sections) prove

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jajs.2018.02.001

2214-9635/© 2018 Published by Elsevier, a division of RELX India, Pvt. Ltd on behalf of International Society for Knowledge for Surgeons on Arthroscopy and Arthroplasty.







rupture of the MPFL after patellar dislocation.²⁸ It has also been shown that the reconstruction of this ligament can restore stability. If not repaired this leads to chronic recurrent dislocation and patello-femoral osteoarthritic changes.³⁰

Since it is known that soft tissue procedures previously described with or without lateral retinacular release alone cannot consistently restore patello femoral stability, more focus has been given to stabilization by MPFL reconstruction.⁸

Deie M et al.¹⁴ noted that after Reconstruction of the medial patellofemoral ligament no recurrence of patellar instability was found with normalization of the congruence angle, tilt angle, and lateral shift ratio in all of their patients.

Drez D et al.¹³, Noted in their series of 15 patients; a 93% good to excellent results of medial patello-femoral ligament reconstruction using autologous Hamstring or Fascia Lata graft in the treatment of patellar dislocation. Mean follow-up was 31.5 months.

Now, the role of the MPFL has been almost established in the Management of Dislocations of patella.

For reconstructing MPFL, various kinds of grafts can be used including Semitendinosus ³¹, Quadriceps⁴¹, Gracilis¹² or Fascia Lata¹³ or allografts.²

For proper patellaofemoral tracking it is essential to reconstruct MPFL in anatomic fashion. Non anatomical reconstruction can lead to non physiologic loading in patellofemoral joint.¹⁶

2. Anatomy and biomechanics

Kaplan²¹ first described in 1957, MPFL as a transverse reinforcement between base of patella and the tendon of medial head of gastronemius. MPFL was first described and named by Warren and Marshell.⁴²

MPFL is condensation of tissue from medial border of patella to a point between adductor tubercle and medial epicondyle in the second layer of antero medial region of the knee.⁴² Average length of MPFL is 56.9 mm \pm 4.69 mm (range 46.0 to 75.0 mm) $.^{34}$ Towards the femoral attachment MPFL passes beyond the limit of joint capsule and then overlays the periosteum of femoral condyle.⁴² Patellar attachment is usually wider than the femoral attachment and is at the most prominent medial edge of the patella.¹ The patellar end of the MPFL passes deep to the distal vastusmedialisobliquus (VMO), which overlays the MPFL at the patellar attachment and also attaches to the proximal part of the medial border of the patella.¹ When the vastus medialis contracts, the MPFL may be pulled proximally and become tighter. It is suggested that the VMO pulls the patella medially via the MPFL and acts not only as a direct dynamic stabiliser of the patella but also as an indirect dynamic stabiliser through the MPFL.³²

The MPFL provides approximately 60% of the total medial restraining force against lateral patellar displacement, at 20° of knee flexion.¹⁵ MPFL experiences maximal loads at full knee extension or during early flexion as quadriceps femoris neuromuscular activation pulls the patella toward the femoral trochlea.^{5,17} After 30° of knee flexion, the femoral trochlea contributes more to patellar stability.¹⁹ Nomura et al.²⁹ reported that the MPFL was very taut at 0° of knee flexion, slightly relaxed at 15°–30° of knee flexion, and relatively taut at 45°–150° of knee flexion when a 1-kg force was applied to the quadriceps tendon. Amis et al.¹ reported that the patella could be subluxated laterally most easily at 20° flexion in the intact knee. The contribution of the MPFL to resisting patellar lateral subluxation was greatest in the extended knee.

Nomura et al.²⁹ reported that the length change pattern was affected greatly if the femoral fixation point moved only 5 mm from the normal femoral attachment. Thus, the natural MPFL is clearly not isometric. Amis et al.¹ reported that the length change pattern of a reconstructed MPFL depends critically on the site of

femoral attachment, with a more proximal attachment increasing distance to the patellar attachment as the knee flexes; the converse is true for a distal attachment.

The mean failure load was 208 ± 90 N at 26 ± 7 mm of displacement for specimens with a mean age of 72 years.²⁷ Burks et al.⁹ noted a mean force of 209 ± 55 N (range, 125 to 308 N) at 25 mm of displacement for MPFL failure during lateral patellar dislocation.

2.1. Material and methods

Patients who attended our department with lateral dislocation of patella due to trauma from 2009 to 2016 (23 patients) formed the material of our study. Out of these 23 patients 11 were male and 12 females with age group between 20 and 55 years of age.

2.1.1. Exclusion criteria

Patients having excessive genu valgum, torsional deformities of femur/tibia, trochlear dysplasia and fractures of condyles of femur and tibia and neuromuscular disorders. Patients who had existing osteoarthritis, congenital dislocation of patella, and collagen disorders (habitual dislocation of patella) were excluded

2.1.2. Inclusion criteria

Post traumatic isolated MPFL rupture with recurrent dislocation of patella.

2.2. Method

Clinical assessment-History of type of trauma, general examination, other joint laxities to exclude existing collagen disorder.

Local examination- examination of knee joint for other ligamentous instabilities, attitude of limb (varus/valgus), position of patella, ROM, Tracking of patella.

- Q Angle
- Apprehension test
- Patellar glide test and patella tilt test
- Sideways movement of the patella (SAGE Test)



Fig. 1. Clinical evaluation.



Fig. 2. Clinical evaluation.



Fig. 3. Radiograph image showing medial patellar damage.

After clinical examination and imaging studies, surgical blood profile and Pre Anaesthetic Check up were done (Figs.1–5).

Patients were given Spinal/General anaesthesia. Post anaesthesia again local examination was done. Under all aseptic precautions painting and draping was done.

Ipsilateral autologous semitendinosus tedon is harvested and prepared and non absorbable sutures are applied at either end to serve as leading and trailing suture material (Figs. 6 and 7).

Two patellar tunnels are created, one just proximal to center of patella and one distal using two K wires. Tunnel diameters are increased using appropriate size cannulated drill bit to 4 mm taking care not to breach articular or anterior surface of patella (Figs. 8 and 9).



Fig. 4. Radiograph image showing opening of patella- femoral joint space.



Fig. 5. MRI image showing torn MPFL.



Fig. 6. Autologous semitendinosus graft harvested.

The prepared graft is pulled from medial to lateral side through one tunnel of patella and looped and pulled lateral to medial through second tunnel of patella and both ends presenting in the medial patellar margin incision (Figs. 10 and 11).

These threads are tightly held at appropriate femoral fixation site (posteromedial margin equidistant between adductor tubercle and medial epicondyle in 30° flexion of knee) and ROM as well as patellar tracking checked (Figs. 12 and 13).



Fig. 7. Graft preparation with ethibond.



Fig. 8. Transpatellar tunnel drilling.

The fixation site could be manipulated as per the intra op observation. Final fixation was done using non absorbable suture material, fibre wire or screw. If required, arthroscopic lateral release was done at the same time (Fig. 14).

After giving proper wash, closure was done in layers and sterile dressing applied. Compression was applied.

POST-OP PROTOCOL –

- Immobilization was done using either brace or plaster slab.
- Quadriceps- strengthening exercises and full weight bearing walker walking from 2nd p.o.day
- Suture removal done after ten days.
- After that, Immobilization in hinged brace allowing ROM 0–30° FOR 1 week, 0–60° for second week and 0–90° from third week, unrestricted ROM from six weeks.



Fig. 9. Increasing size of tunnel with cannulated drill bit.



Fig. 10. Passing graft from medial to lateral.

• Proprioceptive protocol from 9 weeks to six months.

3. Results

We followed 23 patients for a minimum of 2 years and maximum of 6 years.

For all 23 patients, MPFL tear could be recognised in MRI. Number of male and female patients was 11 and 12 respectively.



Fig. 11. Looping of graft on patella with both the free ends on medial side.



Fig. 12. Determining femoral fixation site.

All the patients were in the age group of 20 to 55 years. We excluded patients in whom growth plate was not fused and patients above 55 years as they had osteoarthritis requiring total knee replacement as a treatment.



Fig. 13. Checking range of motion.



Fig. 14. Arthroscopic evaluation and lateral release if required.

Among these 23 cases, 14 had isolated MPFL rupture. Six patients had associated ACL injury and three were part of multi ligamentous injury.

We found Weiberg type 3 patella in 18 cases.

There were no reoccurrences in our patients. Patellar apprehension was relieved in all patients.

In four patients post op arthrofibrosis was encountered and required Arthroscopic fibrolysis. These patients were in the age group of 50–55 or with multi ligamentous injury.

Three patients underwent lateral retinacular release.

4. Discussion

Patellar dislocation is defined as complete loss of contact between the articular surfaces of the patella and femoral trochlea. This is an objective instability: at least one true dislocation episode has occurred. The instability is considered subjective in cases of patellar subluxation.²⁰ First episode of patellar dislocation is treated conservatively with immobilisation and quadriceps (vastus medialis) strengthening exercises.⁷ If the dislocation recurs after a trial of rehabilitation, operative intervention is considered with the aim restoring soft tissue anatomy to normal.¹¹

Patellofemoral instability can be attributed to both primary and secondary factors. Trochlear dysplasia, excessive tibial tubercle-trochlear groove (TT-TG) distance, and patella alta has been identified as primary instability factors. Excessive femoral anteversion, excessive lateral tibial torsion, recurvatum and genu valgum are known secondary instability factors.²⁰ Weiberg type 3 patella is also a predisposing factor.⁴³ Soft tissue injury like MPFL rupture after post traumatic dislocation leads to recurrent dislocations.

Various treatments for patellofemoral instability have been proposed including bony and soft tissue procedures, such as lowering or medialization of the tibial tubercle, division of the lateral retinaculum, plication of the medial retinaculum, MPFL reconstruction, lowering of the vastus medialis, and trochleoplasty.

Role of MPFL in patellar stabilization is well established and its reconstruction is considered as one of the most important soft tissue procedures to prevent recurrent dislocations of patella.

In our study we included patients with post traumatic recurrent patellar dislocation without any bony defects who required only soft tissue procedures. We excluded the patients with bony abnormality requiring bony procedures. Out of many soft tissue procedures available like patellar tendon grafting by Camanho et al.¹⁰, quadriceps tendon grafting by Fink et al.¹⁸ We chose MPFL reconstruction using semitendinosus over others, as role of MPFL as patellar stabiliser is well established and published studies have shown good outcome after MPFL reconstruction using semitendinosus.^{13,14} Other soft tissue procedures like repairing MPFL for mid substance tear and medial retinacular imbrication with or without lateral release^{6,23,25,44} do not provide consistent good results because it is difficult to identify thinned out MPFL, difficult to provide adequate tension and it fails due to stretching.²²

There are various graft options available including Semitendinosus³¹, Gracilis¹², Fascia Lata¹³, Quadriceps⁴¹ and allografts.² The semitendinosus and gracilis are commonly harvested as grafts for MPFL reconstruction.²⁶ We chose autologous Semitendinosus tendon because of its easy accessibility, strength and length is appropriate. Allografts are not that readily available.

Common methods of patellar fixation described include tunnels^{11,24} and suture anchors.¹³ We chose tunnels over suture anchor. Anatomical studies have shown the graft to be 5–12 mm wide. Single strand technique utilise hamstrings of about 3.5 mm wide. This can be doubled over to give a thickened ligament, but may cause difficulty with the placement of a large single tunnel within the patella. A larger patellar tunnel may increase the risk of joint penetration or patellar fracture.²⁴ Our two tunnel technique allows a wide tendon graft but uses small tunnels, thus minimising these potential complications. Also as tunnel transverse the entire width of patella it influences the patellar tilting.¹¹

Most important part of this procedure, as other authors have also mentioned is the femoral attachment point. More proximally placed graft will result in a reconstructed MPFL that is lax in extension and tight in flexion that might cause loss of knee flexion and creates excessive pressure on the medial patella.¹⁶ Conversely, distally placed graft will result in an over tight MPFL in extension and a lax ligament in flexion. We did not use image intensifiers for this purpose. Many authors suggest use of image intensifier for the exact location of the femoral attachment site.³⁶ We palpated medial epicondyle and identified a point posterior and proximal to it, just below the adductor tubercle.^{4,32,38} Here, graft was held temporarily and range of motion was checked along with patellar tracking. If not satisfied femoral attachment site was manipulated. For femoral fixation any one out of many methods like suture fixation.³⁹ or screw fixation.¹² can be chosen. In our cases we did suture fixation with fibre wire (Arthrex).

One of the important aspects of any ligament reconstruction is the tension of the graft.¹¹ Computational analysis has shown that small alterations in length and position of the graft can dramatically increase the force and pressure applied to the medial patellofemoral cartilage.^{5,16} To try to optimise graft tension, we, with other authors, recommend cycling the knee through its range of motion prior to fixation with the knee flexed at 30°. To optimise graft tension, we did cycling the knee through its range of motion prior to fixation. This aims to remove "give" from the graft prior to fixation.¹¹ Over tensioning could be avoided by applying low loads (2n) to reconstructed MPFL graft during fixation to medial femoral condyle, so that normal translation and patellofemoral contact is re-established.³ Excessive graft tension can lead to flexion contracture.

Complications mentioned by previous authors are patellar fracture, graft impingement, graft failure either due to pull out or graft rupture, mal tracking of patella and recurrent dislocations.²⁰ We did not find any of these complications in our patients throughout the follow up. We faced arthrofibrosis in 4 patients which is the most common complication according to other authors also.²⁰ These patients were of higher age group or with multi ligamentous injury. These were treated with arthroscopic arthrofibrolysis. Three patients required lateral release at the time of primary reconstruction. None of the patients had recurrent dislocations. Reported recurrence rate is 0% to 4% in published studies.^{13,33,35,40}

5. Summary

MPFL reconstruction done using autologous ipsilateral Semitendinosus tendon by looping the graft in two patellar tunnels and determining the femoral fixation point by intra op checking of ROM and patellar tracking for 23 patients having recurrent patellar dislocation without any bony abnormality after clinical and radiological examination who were followed up for a period of 2–6 years has given good results with no reoccurrence of dislocation in any case and with minimal complication rate.

6. Conclusion

Autologous Semitendinosus tendon as a graft and transverse patellar tunnel technique for patellar side fixation are good choice for MPFL reconstruction.

Conflict of interest

None.

References

- Amis AA, Firer P, Mountney J, Senavongse W, Thomas NP. Anatomy and biomechanics of the medial patellofemoral ligament. *Knee*. 2003;10:215–220.
- 2. Anbari A, Cole BJ. Medial patellofemoral ligament reconstruction: a novel approach. J Knee Surg. 2008;21:241–245.
- Beck P, Brown NA, Greis PE, et al. Patellofemoral contact pressures and lateral patellar translation after medial patellofemoral ligament reconstruction. *Am J Sports Med.* 2007;35(9):1557–1563.
- Bicos J, Carofino B, Andersen M, Schepsis AA, Fulkerson JP, Mazzocca A. Patellofemoral forces after medial patellofemoral ligament reconstruction. J Knee Surg. 2006;19:317–326.
- Bicos J, Fulkerson JP, Amis A. Current concepts review: the medial patellofemoral ligament. Am J Sports Med. 2007;35:484–492.

- Boddula MR, Adamson GJ, Pink MM. Medial reefing without lateral release for recurrent patellar instability: midterm and long-term outcomes. *Am J Sports Med.* 2013;42(1):216–224.
- Buchner M, Baudendistel B, Sabo D, Schmitt H. Acute traumatic primary patellar dislocation: long-term results comparing conservative and surgical treatment. *Clin J Sport Med.* 2005;15:62–66.
- Buckens CF, Saris DB. Reconstruction of the medial patellofemoral ligament for treatment of patellofemoral instability: a systematic review. Am J Sports Med. 2010;38:181–188.
- Burks RT, Desio SM, Bachus KN, Tyson L, Springer K. Biomechanical evaluation of lateral patellar dislocations. *Am J Knee Surg.* 1998;11:24–31.
- **10.** Camanho GL, Bitar AC, Hernandez AJ, Olivi R. Medial patellofemoral ligament reconstruction: a novel technique using the patellar ligament. *Arthroscopy*. 2007;23(1)108 e1-108.e4.
- 11. Carmont MR, Maffulli N. Medial patellofemoral ligament reconstruction: a new technique. *BMC Musculoskelet Disord*. 2007;8:22.
- Cosgarea AJ. Medial Patellofemoral Ligament Reconstruction and Repair for Patellar Instability. Surgical Techniques of the Shoulder, Elbow, and Knee in Sports Medicine. Philadelphia, PA: Saunders(Elsevier); 2008:733–747.
- Drez Jr. DJr., Edwards TB, Williams CS. Results of medial patellofemoral ligament reconstruction in the treatment of patellar dislocation. *Arthroscopy*. 2001;17:298–306.
- 14. Deie M, Ochi M, Sumen Y, Adachi N, Kobayashi K, Yasumoto M. A long-term follow-up study after medial patellofemoral ligament reconstruction using the transferred semitendinosus tendon for patellar dislocation. *Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc.* 2005;13:522–528.
- 15. Desio SM, Burks RT, Bachus KN. Soft tissue restraints to lateral patellar translation in the human knee. *Am J Sports Med.* 1998;26:59–65.
- Elias JJ, Cosgarea AJ. Technical errors during medial patellofemoral ligament reconstruction could overload the medial patellofemoral cartilage: a computational analysis. Am J Sports Med. 2006;34(9):1478–1485.
- Feller JA, Amis AA, Andrish JT, Arendt EA, Erasmus PJ, Powers CM. Surgical biomechanics of the patellofemoral joint. Arthroscopy. 2007;23:542–553.
- Fink C, Veselko M, Herbort M, Hoser C. Minimally invasive reconstruction of the medial patellofemoral ligament using quadriceps tendon. *Arthrosc Tech*. 2014;3(3):e325–e32910.1016/j.eats.2014.01.012.
- Kyung Hee-Soo, Kim Hee-June. Medial patellofemoral ligament reconstruction: a comprehensive review. *Knee Surg Relat Res.* 2015;27 (3):133–140.
- Chouteau J. Surgical reconstruction of the medial patellofemoral ligament. Orthop Trraumatol. 2015;102(1):189–194.
- Kaplan EB. Factors responsible for the stability of the knee joint. Bull Hosp Jt Dis. 1957;18:51–59.
- Duchman Kyle R, Bollier Matthew J. The role of medial patellofemoral ligament repair and imbrication. Am J Orthop. 2017;46(2):87–91.
- Lee CH, Wu CC, Pan RY, Lu HT, Shen HC. Medial retinacular flap advancement and arthroscopic lateral release for symptomatic chronic patellar lateral subluxation with tilting. *Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc.* 2014;22 (10):2499–2504.
- Mikashima Y, Kimura M, Kobayashi Y, Miyawaki M, Tomatsu T. Clinical results of isolated reconstruction of the medial patellofemoral ligament for recurrent dislocation and subluxation of the patella. Acta Orthop Belg. 2006;72:65–71.
- Miller JR, Adamson GJ, Pink MM, Fraipont MJ, Durand Jr. PJr.. Arthroscopically assisted medial reefing without routine lateral release for patellar instability. *Am J Sports Med.* 2007;35(4):622–629.

- 26. Mologne TS, Friedman MJ. Arthroscopic anterior cruciateligament reconstruction with hamstring tendons: indications, surgical technique and complications and their treatment. In: Scott WN, ed. Surgery of the Knee. 4. Philadelphia: Churchill Livingstone; 2006:648–651.
- Mountney J, Senavongse W, Amis AA, Thomas NP. Tensile strength of the medial patellofemoral ligament before and after repair or reconstruction. J Bone Jt Surg Br. 2005;87:36–40.
- Nomura E, Horiuchi Y, Inoue M. Correlation of MR imaging findings and open exploration of medial patellofemoral ligament injuries in acute patellar dislocations. *Knee*. 2002;9:139–143.
- 29. Nomura E, Horiuchi Y, Kihara M. Medial patellofemoral ligament restraint in lateral patellar translation and reconstruction. *Knee*. 2000;7:121–127.
- Nomura E, Inoue M, Kobayashi S. Long-term follow-up and knee osteoarthritis change after medial patellofemoral ligament reconstruction for recurrent patellar dislocation. Am J Sports Med. 2007;35:1851–1858.
- Nomura E, Inoue M. Hybrid medial patellofemoral ligament reconstruction using the semitendinous tendon for recurrent patellar dislocation: minimum 3 years follow up. Arthroscopy. 2006;22:787–793.
- Nomura E, Inoue M, Osada N. Anatomical analysis of the medial patellofemoral ligament of the knee, especially the femoral attachment. *Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc*. 2005;13:510–515.
- 33. Schöttle PB, Fucentese SF, Romero J. Clinical and radiological outcome of medial patellofemoral ligament reconstruction with a semitendinosus autograft for patella instability. *Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc*. 2005;13 (7):516–521.
- Placella G, Tei M, Sebastiani E, et al. Anatomy of the Medial Patello-Femoral Ligament: a systematic review of the last 20 years literature. *Musculoskelet* Surg. 2014;(July)10.1007/s12306-014-0335-y.
- Christiansen SE, Jacobsen BW, Lund B, Lind M. Reconstruction of the medial patellofemoral ligament with gracilis tendon autograft in transverse patellar drill holes. Arthroscopy. 2008;24(1):82–87.
- Schottle PB, Schmeling A, Rosenstiel N, Weiler A. Radiographic landmarks for femoral tunnel placement in medial patellofemoral ligament reconstruction. *Am J Sports Med.* 2007;35:801–804.
- Sillanpaa P, Mattila VM, livonen T, Visuri T, Pihlajamaki H. Incidence and risk factors of acute traumatic primary patellar dislocation. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*. 2008;40:606–611.
- Smirk C, Morris H. The anatomy and reconstruction of the patellofemoral ligament. *Knee*. 2003;10:221–22710.1016/S0968-0160(03)00038-3.
- Steensen RN, Dopirak RM, Maurus PB. A simple technique for reconstruction of the medial patellofemoral ligament using quadriceps tendon graft. *Arthroscopy*. 2005;21:365–370.
- Smith TO, Walker J, Russell N. Outcomes of medial patellofemoral ligament reconstruction for patellar instability: a systematic review. *Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc*, 2007;15(11):1301–1314.
- Teitge RA, Torga-Spak Roger. Medial patellofemoral ligament reconstruction. Orthopedics. 2004;27:1037–1040.
- Warren LF, Marshall JL. The supporting structures and layers on the medial side of the knee: an anatomical analysis. J Bone Jt Surg Am. 1979;61:56–62.
- Wiberg G. Roentgenographic and anatomic studies on the femuropatellar joint: with special reference to chondromalacia patellae. *Acta Orthop Scand*. 1941;12:319–410.
- 44. Xu H, Zhang C, Pei G, Zhu Q, Han Y. Arthroscopic medial retinacular imbrication for the treatment of recurrent patellar instability: a simple and all-inside technique. *Orthopedics*. 2011;34(7):524–529.

Journal of Arthroscopy and Joint Surgery 5 (2018) 163-166



Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Journal of Arthroscopy and Joint Surgery

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/jajs

Research paper

A longitudinal analysis of functional outcome between allpolyethylene and metal-backed tibial components in total knee arthroplasty



Muhammad Sakti, Ruksal Saleh, Jansen Lee^{*}, Handoko Lau, Putra Prameswara Anak Agung Gede

Department of Orthopaedic and Traumatology, Dr.Wahidin Sudirohusodo General Hospital at University of Hasanuddin, Makassar, 90245, Indonesia

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 27 March 2018 Accepted 2 September 2018 Available online 4 September 2018

1. Introduction

Osteoarthritis of knee is a most common form of arthritis due to degeneration of articular cartilage and subchondral bone. Arthroplasty is reserved for patient with advanced osteoarthritis despite appropriate conservative management such as exercise, weight loss, physiotherapy, analgesics, anti-inflammatory drugs, intraarticular steroids and have an unacceptable level of pain or physical function or both. There are mainly two types of tibial component implants used which are metal-backed and all-polyethylene.^{1–10}

Due to manufacturing and packaging of All-Polyethylene tibial components, particularly sterilization techniques, causing components were prone to rapid oxidation, leading to wear debris, osteolysis, loosening and failure.¹¹ Then, Metal-Backed was favoured and predominant design due to improved load transmission, greater heat-sink capacity, improved locking mechanisms and intraoperative flexibility with the use of stems and augments which led to better results.^{12–15}

With the introduction of Ultra-High-Molecular-Weight Polyethylene (UHMWPE) and improvement of crosslinking, sterilization with gamma radiation in oxygen-free environment, and packaging techniques, polyethylene becomes the gold standard bearing surface in modern arthroplasty.^{16–18}

Hospital economic challenges especially developing countries are associated with decreasing reimbursement and increasing costs

* Corresponding author. E-mail address: lee.jansen.88@gmail.com (J. Lee). causing knee arthroplasty surgeons to examine the cost of joint implants and their effects on procedure profitability. In response to cost pressures, the interest in the use of All-Polyethylene implants in low physical demands patients are increasing which could offer economic benefits by reducing cost and potential clinical benefits if long-term survivorship of total knee arthroplasty is improved.^{19–21}

2. Materials and methods

This prospective study of 68 patients with advanced osteoarthritis operated for cemented posterior stabilised total knee arthroplasty (TKA) for comparison of All-Polyethylene and Metal-Backed tibial components using Fixed Bearing PFC Sigma Tibial Tray PS and AllPoly PS.

The decision of patients recieving either type of implants were decided by the hospital policy. Due to cost saving, All-Polyethylene was decided by hospital policy to be used as the type of implant for all patients who would undergo total knee arthroplasty procedure. Transition of the implant changes policy was the timing of this study to collect 34 patients for each group by consecutive sampling method. Patients with neurologic deficits, pathologic process, other injury causing gait imbalance and bone loss or intraoperative complications were excluded in this study.

The operations were performed by two trained arthroplasty surgeons with considerable experience. Patient underwent standard cemented total knee arthoplasty with appropriate balancing. Postoperative regimens consisted of early mobilisation with immediate full weight-bearing and physiotherapy.

Clinically, patients were assessed for deformity, range of motion, pain, satisfaction, expectations and functional activities according

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jajs.2018.09.003

2214-9635/© 2018 Published by Elsevier, a division of RELX India, Pvt. Ltd on behalf of International Society for Knowledge for Surgeons on Arthroscopy and Arthroplasty.

 Table 1

 Details of the patients in both groups.

	-		
	Metal-Backed	All-Polyethylene	p value
Male: Female Mean Age in years (range) Mean BMI in kg/m ² (range)	18: 16 63,1 (54–73) 27,7 (25–33)	16: 18 64,4 (53–74) 27,8 (25–35)	0,628 0,945

*Mann-Whitney test.

to Knee Society Score (KSS) list and Western Ontario & Macmaster University Osteoarthritis Index Score (WOMAC) list which were validated with specific cut-off points for total knee arthroplasty.^{22–24} The data were collected preoperative and post-operatively at 1st, 3rd and 6th months and final follow up of 1 year assessing clinical and functional paramaters. Data were then analyzed using SPSS for windows version 22. Non-parametric statistical methods were used since data is not distributed normally with Mann-Whitney *U* test. We constructed in graphs and tables for the data interpretation.

3. Results

With the duration of one year follow-up of all total knee arthoplasties, 34 were in men and 34 were in women. The mean age at the time of the index of the surgery was 63,8 years (range, 53 years–74 years). The distribution in various age groups is given in Table 1. The mean Body Mass Index (BMI) was 27,8 kg/m² (range,

 25 kg/m^2 to 35 kg/m^2). There was no significant difference in distribution between the age, gender and body mass index (BMI) of two groups (Table 1).

3.1. Knee society score

After the operation, the anatomical alignment of the knees were restored to normal. The Score of objective knee indicators increased significantly after operation with minor improvement was seen between 3 months and 1 year. The mean range of motion of all the patients improved from 76° to 106° with mean improvement of 30°. There was no statistical difference (p value > 0.05) between two groups in terms of objective knee indicators and range of motion (Table 2).

From the symptoms score evaluating pain with level walking and stairs, significant improvements were seen from preoperative period to one-year post-operative follow-up. Significant difference of symptom score was seen at 3-month and 6-month follow-up in which Metal-Backed group was better with p value 0.024 and 0.039 consecutively. In patient satisfaction, the mean scores were increasing after operation and statiscally there were no difference between groups. While in evaluation of the patient's expectations, we found a decrease in the score at one-year post operation and no statiscal difference between both groups was found (Table 3).

In functional activities, improvement was seen before operation and one year follow-up after operation. No significant difference was found between two groups (Table 4).

Table 2

Comparison of Objective Knee Indicators and Range of Motion before operative and 1, 3, 6 months and 1 year after operation.

	Metal-Backed (Mean \pm SD)	All-Polyethylene (Mean \pm SD)	p value ^a
Objective Knee Indicators			
Preoperative	36.9 ± 17.5	38.3 ± 22.5	0.863
1 month	69.8 ± 2.7	68.9 ± 3.3	0.468
3 month	70.1 ± 2.7	69.5 ± 3.1	0.584
6 month	70.4 ± 2.4	69.8 ± 2.6	0.524
1 year	70.4 ± 2.4	69.8 ± 2.6	0.524
Range of Motion			
Preoperative	$76.2^{\circ} \pm 18.8^{\circ}$	75.9°±17.7°	0.986
Postoperative	$107.1^{\circ}\pm6.4^{\circ}$	105.9°±5.9°	0.538
Improvement	$30.8^{\circ} \pm 13.4^{\circ}$	30.8°±15.1°	0.838

SD: Standard Deviation.

^a Mann-Whitney test.

Table 3

Comparison of Symptoms, Patient Satisfaction and Patient Expectation Score before operative and 1, 3, 6 months and 1 year after operation.

	Metal-Backed (Mean \pm SD)	All-Polyethylene (Mean \pm SD)	p value ^a
Symptoms			
Preoperative	13.5 ± 1.9	13.5 ± 2.4	0.861
1 month	16.4 ± 1.5	15.8 ± 1.8	0.332
3 month	19.2 ± 1.1	18.1 ± 1.5	0.024
6 month	21.6 ± 0.9	20.8 ± 1.2	0.039
1 year	23.5 ± 0.9	23.5 ± 0.8	0.955
Patient Satisfaction			
Preoperative	9.6 ± 2.1	10.6 ± 3.4	0.508
1 month	13.5 ± 1.8	14.2 ± 3.1	0.623
3 month	16.7 ± 1.6	17.3 ± 2.6	0.768
6 month	19.5 ± 1.5	19.9 ± 3.2	0.728
1 year	22.6 ± 1.7	23.1 ± 2.7	0.851
Patient Expectations			
Preoperative	11.2 ± 2.3	10.9 ± 2.3	0.676
1 month	12.2 ± 2.0	11.9 ± 2.1	0.774
3 month	12.9 ± 1.1	12.6 ± 1.4	0.641
6 month	12.9 ± 1.0	12.9 ± 1.1	0.914
1 year	12.4 ± 0.7	12.5 ± 0.9	0.564

SD: Standard Deviation.

^a Mann-Whitney test.
	Metal-Backed (Mean \pm SD)	All-Polyethylene (Mean \pm SD)	p value ^a
Functional Activities			
Preoperative	7.3 ± 4.0	7.2 ± 5.3	0.863
1 month	11.1 ± 3.3	11.4 ± 3.6	0.848
3 month	15.6 ± 2.6	15.4 ± 3.0	0.821
6 month	18.5 ± 2.3	18.4 ± 2.6	0.903
1 year	21.6 ± 2.4	21.2 ± 2.7	0.570

Table 4
Comparison of Functional Activities Score before operative and 1, 3, 6 months and 1 year after operation.

SD: Standard Deviation.

^a Mann-Whitney test.

3.2. Western Ontario & Macmaster University Osteoarthritis Index Score

From this score list, pain, stiffness and physical function were accessed and it showed improvement after operation. there were no statistically significant difference between two groups with regard to the pain, stiffness, physical function or in cummulative score(Table 5).

4. Discussion

Despite the advantages that metal-backed design provides, it also has several disadvantages. The metal component will reduce the thickness of polyethylene by 2–5 mm with a potential for increased wear.^{25–27} additional bone resection is necessary to increase the thickness of polyethylene. Due to the interface between the insert and metal component, it may serve as a source of wear debris.²⁸ In addition, metal backing increases the cost burden.¹⁶ Consequently, all-polyethylene emerges because of the desire to reduce costs.¹⁹

This prospective study involving 34 patients consists of metalbacked and all-polyethylene groups which showed significant improvement after the operation. Improvement in pain, range of motion and daily activity performance were seen starting from one month to one year post operation. We found no significant difference between all-polyethylene and metal-backed implants in terms of functional outcome.

In our study, Knee Society Score (KSS) list showed significant improvement of objective score, symptoms, patient satisfaction and expectation, and functional activities after the operation. No difference in functional outcome were found between two groups. The result was similar to previous studies^{1,12,13} due to advancement technology in cross-linking and gamma radiation in an oxygen-free environment enhancing tensile strength, ductility, modulus, toughness, crack propagation resistance and the packaging.^{29–31}

Metal-backed component was initially introduced to improve the longevity of fixation particularly in deficient bone. Recent studies concluded that there were no differences in clinical function, radiographic evaluation or durability of fixation till 8–10 years

Table 5Comparison Western Ontario & Macmaster University Osteoarthritis Index Score(WOMAC) list of before operative and 1, 3, 6 months and 1 year after operation.

	Metal-Backed (Mean \pm SD)	All-Polyethylene (Mean \pm SD)	p value ^a
Preoperat	ive		
1 month	59.9 ± 14.8	60.1 ± 12.8	0.904
3 month	46.0 ± 9.2	45.9 ± 7.6	0.876
6 month	30.5 ± 6.1	31.9 ± 5.3	0.511
1 year	17.8 ± 4.6	18.8 ± 5.0	0.628
	7.9 ± 2.7	8.1 ± 2.6	0.862

SD: Standard Deviation.

^a Mann-Whitney test.

of follow-up. Surpisingly, some studies showed higher incidence of osteolysis and backside wear in metal-backed components.¹⁸

The symptoms score showed a significant improvement in metalbacked components in 3-month and 6-month follow-up compared to All-Polyethylene although the both scores were equal in one year follow-up. The result could be influenced by multiple factors. Brihault et al.³² showed a higher and less uniform stress distribution, especially in cancellous bone, in deformability of all-polyethylene components resulting in higher micromotion compared to metalbacked due to higher strain. Since the stiffness of metal components is higher, the loads for the condyle to the polyethylene insert will be transmitted to the metal, which carry the bulk of load and generate low peak stress beneath the tibial component. On the other hand, load transmitting to the polyethylene component will concentrate on certain areas of cancellous bone beneath the polyethylene. Although exact correlation with clinical outcomes are not well established, these effects on tibial bone could lead to pain.³³

Another possible explanation would be the potential difficulty of with removing posterior extruded cement as stated as one of the disadvantages.^{34,35} Repeated stress due to impingement or scratch at the polyethyelene surface is the suspected cause of reactive synovitis which will eventually detach and subsequently become loose body hence forming hypertrophic fibrous tissue. Other proposed explanation is that the extruded cement mantle irritates the surrounding synovial tissue or fibrous scar tissue.³⁶ Athough In this study, pain was not intense and prolonged until 20 months post operation as stated by Katargalis et al.³⁷

Pain itself is influenced by various factors including individual difference in pain threshold, previous expectations, physiological and psychological aspect. In this study, expectation somehow decreased after one year follow-up and this finding could correlate with pain perception as mentioned by Coghill et al.³⁸

The evaluation with *The Western Ontario and McMaster Universities Osteoarthritis Index* (WOMAC) *score list* concluded a significant improvement after operation despite deference between allpolyethylene and metal-backed group regarding pain, stiffness, and functional activity. The significant pain finding in Knee Society Score (KSS) List was not found in this score list. Difference evaluation was used, in which KSS determined the level of pain by using Numerical Rating Score (NRS), while WOMAC used a range of 0–4. Wider range by using NRS will increase the sensitivity of the measurement.

5. Conclusion

The result of comparing the functional outcome between total knee arthroplasty using All-Polyethylene and Metal-Backed components resulted in no significant difference in one-year follow-up. In conclusion, our data showed that all-polyethylene tibial component can be effectively and safely used in total knee arthroplasty as the alternative to metal backed component in terms of cost efficiency.

Disclosure

None of the authors received payments or other benefits or a commitment or agreement to provide such benefits from a commercial entity. No commercial entity paid or directed, or agreed to pay or direct, any benefits to any research fund, foundation, educational institution, or other charitable or nonprofit organization with which the authors are affiliated or associated.

- 1. Patel KR, Patel HR, Patel ZM, Mehta KA. Mid-term results of all poly total replacement versus metal-back total knee replacement. J Indian Orthop Rheumatol Assoc. 2016;2(1):9–12.
- 2. Medical Advisory Secretariat. Total knee replacement: an evidence-based analysis. Ontario Health Technol. Assess. Ser. 2005;5(9).
- Salter RB. Degenerative disorders of joints and related tissues. In: Salter RB, ed. Textbook of Disorders and Injuries of the Musculoskeletal System. third ed. USA: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins; 1999:257–266.
- Sivananthan S, Shah R. Arthritis. In: Sivananthan S, Sherry E, Warnke P, Miller MD, eds. *Mercer's Textbook of Orthopaedics and Trauma*. tenth ed. London: Edward Arnold; 2012:1077–1081.
- Solomon L. Osteoarthritis. In: Solomon L, Warwick D, Nayagam S, eds. Apley's System of Orthopaedics and Fractures. ninth ed. London: Hodder Arnold; 2010: 85–96.
- Lozada CJ, Pace SC. Osteoarthritis. In: Diamond HS, ed. Emedicine Medscape [internet]; 2016 [Visited 2016 November 14] available from: http://emedicine. medscape.com/article/330487-overview.
- Smolders M, DerPerren LV, Sascha H, Ritchie L, Davis J and Seldeeslaghs F. Knee osteoarthritis. In: Selderslaghs F, Der Perren LV, Smolders M, Magnus L [eds.]. Physiopedia. [visited 2016 November 14]. available from: http://www.physiopedia.com/Knee_Osteoarthritis.
- Dye SF. Knee arthroplasty to maximize the envelope of function. In: Bellemans J, Ries MD, Victor J, eds. *Total Knee Arthroplasty: a Guide to Get Better Performance*. Germany: Springer Medizin Verlag; 2005;14.
- Luyten FP, Westhovens R, Taelman V. Arthritis of the knee: diagnosis and management. In: Bellemans J, Ries MD, Victor J, eds. *Total Knee Arthroplasty: a Guide to Get Better Performance*. Germany: Springer Medizin Verlag; 2005:3.
- Hepinstall MS, Rodriguez JA. Cemented total knee arthroplasty. In: Parvizi JP, Rothman RH, Wiesel SW, eds. Operative Techniques in Adut Reconstruction Surgery. Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins, Wolters Kluwer; 2011.
- Brazil D, McTighe T, Keggi J, Keppler L, Kennon R. Clinical evaluation of all polyethylene tibial components in TKA: review paper. *Joint Implant Surg. Res. Found. Reconstr. Rev.*, 2011:53–59.
- Adalberth G, Nilsson KG, Bystrom S, Kolstad K, Milbrink J. All-polyethylene versus metal-backed and stemmed tibial components in cemented total knee arthroplasty: a prospective, randomised RSA study. *J Bone Joint Surg.* 2001;83-B(6):825–831.
- Cheng T, Zhang GY, Zhang XL. Metal-backed versus all-polyethylene tibial componenets in primary total knee arthroplasty: a meta-analysis and systematic review of randomized controlled trials. *Acta Orthop.* 2011;82(5): 589–595.
- 14. Gudnason A, Hailer NP, Dahl AW, Sundberg M, Robertsson O. All-polyethylene versus metal-backed tibial components an analysis of 27,733 cruciate-retaining total knee replacements from the Swedish knee arthroplasty register. *J Bone Joint Surg.* 2014;96:994–999.
- **15.** Nouta KA, Verra WC, Pijls BG, Schoones JW, Nelissen RG. All-polyethylene tibial components are equal to metal-backed components. *Clin Orthop Relat Res.* 2012;470:3549–3559.
- **16.** Doran J, Yu S, Smith D, Lorio R. The role of all-polyethylene tibial components in modern TKA. *J Knee Surg.* 2015;28(5):382–389. USA: Thieme Medical Publishers, Inc.

- 17. Steward TD, Whitwell G, Pai SK. Long-term results of a total knee prosthesis utilising an all-polyethylene tibial component. *Arch Orthop Trauma Surg.* 2013;133(8):1143–1148.
- Rodriguez JA, Baez N, Rasquinha V, Ranawat CS. Metal-backed and allpolyethylene tibial components in total knee replacement. *Clin Orthop Relat Res.* 2001;392:174–183.
- Najibi S, Iorio R, Surdam JW, Whang W, Appleby D, Healy WL. All-polyethylene and metal-backed tibial components in total knee arthroplasty: a matched pair analysis of functional outcome. J Arthroplasty. 2003;18(7):9–15. Suppl 1.
- Hyldahl H, Regner L, Carlsson L, Karrholm J, Weidenhielm L. All-polyethylene vs. Metal-backed tibial component in total knee arthroplasty – a randomized RSA study comparing early fixation of horizontally and completely cemented tibial components. *Acta Orthop.* 2005;76(6):778–784.
- Turow A, Campbell D. Knee replacement survival rates with all-polyethylene or metal-backed tibial components – what do the registries say? *Joint Implant Surg. Res. Found. Reconstr. Rev.* 2013;3(2):59–64.
- **22.** Dowsey MM, Choong PFM. The utility of outcome measures in total knee replacement surgery. *J. Clin. Rheumatol.* 2013;506518:1–8.
- Hanna AW. The knee. In: Pynsent PB, Fairbank JCT, Carr AJ, eds. Outcome Measures in Orthopaedics and Orthopaedic Trauma. London: Taylor & Francis Group; 2004:301–309.
- 24. Collins NJ, Misra D, Felson DT, Crossley KM, Roos EM. Measures of knee function. Arthritis Care Res. 2011;63(011):S208–S228.
- Bartel DL, Burstein AH, Toda MD, Edwards DL. The effect of conformity and plastic thickness on contact stresses in metal-backed plastic implants. *J Biomech Eng.* 1985;107:193–199.
- 26. Engh GA, Dwyer KA, Hanes CK. Polyethylene wear of metalbacked tibial components in total and unicompartmental knee prostheses. J. Bone Joint Surg. Br. 1992;74-B:9–17.
- 27. Tsao A, Mintz L, McRae CR, Stulberg SD, Wright T. Failure of the porous-coated anatomic prostheses in total knee arthroplasty due to severe polyethylene wear. J. Bone Joint Surg. Am. 1993;75-A:19–26.
- Engh GA, Rao A, Ammeen DJ, Sychtez CJ. Tibial baseplate wear: a major source of debris with contemporary modular knee implants. In: *Procs 67th Annual Meeting*. AAOS; 2000.
- 29. Ries MD. Wear in conventional and highly cross-linked polyethylene. In: Bellemans J, Ries MD, Victor J, eds. *Total Knee Arthroplasty: a Guide to Get Better Performance*. Germany: Springer Medizin Verlag; 2005:361–364.
- Bellare A, Spector M. The polyethylene history. In: Bellemans J, Ries MD, Victor J, eds. Total Knee Arthroplasty: a Guide to Get Better Performance. Germany: Springer Medizin Verlag; 2005:45–49.
- Pruitt LA. Conventional and cross-linked polyethylene properties. In: Bellemans J, Ries MD, Victor J, eds. *Total Knee Arthroplasty: a Guide to Get Better Performance*. Germany: Springer Medizin Verlag; 2005:353–359.
- Brihault J, et al. All-polyethylene Tibial Components Generate Higher Stress and Micromotions than Metal-backed Tibial Components in Total Knee Arthroplasty. Springer: Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc; 2015.
- **33.** Completo A, Simoes JA, Fonseca F, et al. The influence of different tibial stem designs in load sharing and stability at the cement–bone interface in revision TKA. *Knee.* 2008;15(3):227–232.
- **34.** Gioe TJ, Maheshwari AV. The all-polyethylene tibial component in primary total knee arthroplasty: current concepts review. *J Bone Joint Surg.* 2010;92-A(2):478-487.
- **35.** Muller SD, Deehan DJ, Holland JP, et al. Should we reconsider all-polyethylene tibial implants in total knee replacement? *J Bone Joint Surg.* 2006;88-B(12): 1596–1602.
- Nam SW, Lee YS, Won JS, Lee BK. Arthroscopic treatment of soft tissue impingement caused by extruded and a detached cement following total knee replacement arthroplasty. Arthrosc. Orthop. Sports Med. 2014;1(2):120–123.
- Katargalis D, Agathangelidis Fm Papadopoulos P, Petsatodis G, Christodoulou A. Arthroscopic removal of impinging cement after unicompartemental knee arthroplasty. *Hippokratia*. 2012;16(1):76–79.
- Coghill RC. Individual differences in the subjective experience of pain: new insights into mechanism and models. *Headache*. 2010;50(9):1531–1535.

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Journal of Arthroscopy and Joint Surgery

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/jajs

Research paper Role of drain in early clinical outcomes following primary total knee arthroplasty

B. Hari Krishnan*, Rahool S., Anubhav Agrawal, Anurag Kawale, Sarang Kanade

Dept of Orthopaedics, Base Hospital, Lucknow, Uttar Pradesh, 226002, India

ARTICLE INFO

Received 11 December 2017

Available online 3 April 2018

Accepted 29 March 2018

Total knee arthroplasty

Closed suction drain

Primary osteoarthritis

Article history:

Keywords:

ABSTRACT

Purpose: To compare and study the short-term clinical outcome in patients with or without a drain usage in primary total knee arthroplasty (TKA).

Methods: A prospective cohort study in a consecutive series of 61 women and 39 men (mean age, 66 years) with primary osteoarthritis underwent unilateral TKA. In the first 50 patients a low suction pressure drain was used for six hours, and in the next 50 patients no drain was used following TKA. *Results:* The 2 groups were comparable in terms of preoperative characteristics, age group, the proportion of patients with pharmacological prophylaxis for deep vein thrombosis, usage of anti fibrinolytics before surgery, the tourniquet time, mode of anaesthesia, operative approach and steps and type of implant used. The mean drain output in the drain group was 92 ml. The time to achieve straight-leg raising was earlier in the drain group (2.1 vs. 3.2 days, p < 0.005), and time to achieve knee flexion to 90° is earlier in patients with drain group (6.2 vs. 7.7 days, p < 0.005). In addition, patients of drain group had lesser postoperative wound soakage, need for dressing change and analgesics. The fall in haemoglobin rate was slightly more in drain group however there was no significant difference in the rate of blood transfusions in both groups and no significant difference in infection procesure drain following total know

Conclusion: The use of a short duration (six hours), low suction pressure drain following total knee replacement enabled earlier return of quadriceps power, and range of motion, without increasing infection and blood transfusion rate. It also resulted in less pain and reduction in analgesic requirement in early postoperative period.

© 2018 Published by Elsevier, a division of RELX India, Pvt. Ltd on behalf of International Society for Knowledge for Surgeons on Arthroscopy and Arthroplasty.

1. Introduction

In 1961, Waugh and Stinchfield were the first to advocate the use of drainage in orthopaedic surgery.¹ In particular, they observed that there was less pain, swelling and infection in patients whose wounds were drained, as well as better healing of the soft tissues and quicker mobilisation of the extremities. Since then, closed drainage has been used routinely for many years to prevent haematoma formation,² reduce the risk of infection and accelerate wound healing^{3,4} and increase the range of movement and rehabilitation progress. It may also decrease wound dehiscence, infection, and persistent drainage.^{5,6} In addition, not using the drain may cause blood to soak through the wound dressing and cause infection,^{7–9} or seep into the subfascial plane and cause compartment syndrome or into the subcutaneous plane and cause ecchymosis,^{8,9} limb oedema, skin blisters, and skin necrosis.

^{*} Corresponding author. E-mail address: orthohari.hk@gmail.com (B. H. Krishnan). Nonetheless, use of a drain following TKR may result in increased blood loss, need for transfusion^{7,8} and retrograde infection.^{9–11} To reduce such risks, the use of a clamping drain,^{12,13} reduction in the drainage duration^{9–11} and suction pressure,^{14,15} and auto transfusion of drained blood^{16,17} are suggested.

2. Materials and methods

Between July 2016 and November 2017, a prospective cohort of consecutive series of 61 women and 39 men (mean age, 66 years) with primary osteoarthritis of knee underwent unilateral TKA under spinal anaesthesia using Zimmer Natural Knee system II. We compared the early outcome in 100 patients with or without a drain following TKA in terms of straight leg raising, range of motion achieved, wound complications and rate of blood transfusion. In the first 50 patients a low suction pressure (200 mmHg) drain was used following TKA for 6 h, and the next 50 patients no drain was used. All the operations were carried out by the same team using standard medial parapatellar approach. Patients with inflammatory arthritis, thrombocytopenia, an abnormal clotting profile, or a

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jajs.2018.03.001

2214-9635/© 2018 Published by Elsevier, a division of RELX India, Pvt. Ltd on behalf of International Society for Knowledge for Surgeons on Arthroscopy and Arthroplasty.









Chart 1. Preoperative Variables.

history of bleeding disorder, patients on antiplatelet therapy were excluded.

The 2 groups were matched in age, sex, body mass index (BMI), haemoglobin level, coronal alignment, range of motion and Western Ontario and McMaster Universities Arthritis Index (WOMAC) (Chart 1). The surgical protocol was standardised, including tourniquet use, medial para-patellar approach, usage of analgesics, surgery time, cementation, haemostasis without tourniquet release, closure of quadriceps and retinaculum with continuous suture, closure of skin, compression dressing with gauze, cotton wool, and crepe bandage, and mechanical prophylaxis for deep vein thrombosis (DVT) using a calf pump for 3–4 days until full ambulation. All patients received pharmacological prophylaxis of subcutaneous LMWH 40 mg daily from first postoperative day for a fortnight. All the operations were carried out and followed up by the same team.

The drain tube (3 mm in diameter with a 70-mm terminal section of multiple perforations at 5-mm intervals) was unclamped and placed at the lateral gutter and connected to an 800 ml plastic bottle (Romovac) with a suction pressure of 200 mmHg (Fig. 1). The drain was released immediately following application of compressive dressings and release of tourniquet.

Outcome measures were performed by an independent assessor (specialist nurse). The amount of blood seeping through the skin wound was assessed by the degree of soaking of the dressing (blood stain visible on the outermost layer of bandage). The amount of intra-articular haematoma was assessed by the size of knee swelling. The amount of blood seeping extra-articularly was assessed by the size of swelling and ecchymosis. Wound



Fig. 1. Low suction pressure drain in TKA.

Table 1

Comparision of Pre Operative Variables.

Variable	Drain Group	No Drain Group	P-Value
Mean age \pm SD (years)	66 ± 8.0	65 ± 8.5	0.546
Female: Male	31:19	30:20	0.491
BMI	28 ± 3.2	$\textbf{27.3} \pm \textbf{3.9}$	0.328
Mean HB \pm SD (gm/dl)	11.4 ± 1.3	11.5 ± 1.1	0.679
Mean tourniquet time \pm SD (min)	$\textbf{83.3} \pm \textbf{15.5}$	$\textbf{80.2} \pm \textbf{17.2}$	0.346
Mean WOMAC score \pm SD	44.6 ± 17.8	$\textbf{42.2} \pm \textbf{18.2}$	0.543

complications (persistent wound discharge and infection) were measured, as were the visual analogue score for pain and duration of maximal score. The progress of rehabilitation was measured by the days needed to achieve straight-leg raising (quadriceps power \geq 3) and the days needed to achieve knee flexion up to 90°. Knee range of motion and WOMAC were measured up to 6 weeks.

The 2 groups were compared using the 2-sample t-test, n-1 Chisquared test, p value of < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

3. Results

The 2 groups were comparable in terms of preoperative characteristics, the proportion of patients with pharmacological prophylaxis for DVT, tourniquet time, and mode of anaesthesia (Table 1). The mean drain output in the drain group was 92 ml. The time to achieve straight-leg-raising was earlier in the drain group (2.1 vs. 3.2 days, p < 0.005), and time to achieve knee flexion to 90° is earlier in patients with drain group (6.2 vs. 7.7 days, p < 0.005), also patients of drain group had lesser post op wound soakage, lesser change of dressings and early debulking of dressings (on day 4). The fall in haemoglobin rate was slightly more in drain group however there was no significant difference in the rate of blood transfusions in both the groups and no significant difference in infection rate (Table 2).

4. Discussion

Advanced osteoarthritis of knee, affecting quality of life is the most common orthopaedic knee ailment in elderly individuals and total knee replacement has become a safe surgical procedure for treatment of these individuals. Postoperative pain management, early functional recovery, prevention of infection and reduction of mortality and morbidity arising out of comorbidities during total knee replacement continue to remain the modern challenges in carrying out TKA.

Amongst the controversial issues in TKA; use of a drain continues to be an important one, in view of a presumed increase in risk of infection and excessive blood loss. Most available evidence favouring TKA without drains are from surgeries done at high volume centres performed predominantly by experienced orthopaedic surgeons. The numbers of primary total knee arthroplasty carried out in peripheral centres and district hospitals manned by young surgeons are increasing in India. It is felt that the use of a drain will be a safe surgical practice in the initial evolving years of these young surgeons. We at a tertiary care Orthopaedic centre carrying out a large volume of primary arthroplasty of knee noticed a significant reduction in postoperative pain, analgesic requirement, soaked dressings warranting a change of dressings in early postoperative period and early return to straight leg raising and knee flexion in individuals undergoing TKA with a drain.

The time to achieve straight-leg-raising has been reported to be comparable following TKA with or without drain in few studies.¹⁸ On the contrary, in our study the time to achieve straight-leg raising was earlier in patients with a drain (2.1 vs. 3.2 days,

Table 2

Comparision of Post Operative Variables.

Variable	Drain Group	No Drain Group	P-Value
% of patients with soakage	6.5%	15.3%	0.160
% of patients with erythema	5.2%	9.1%	0.450
% of patients with fever	11.7%	20.2%	0.248
% of patients with discharge	1.3%	5.2%	0.274
Mean HB drop \pm SD (gm/dl)	2.4 ± 0.8	2.1 ± 0.8	0.064
% of patients with transfusion	5.2%	3.8%	0.737
Mean time for SLR \pm SD (days)	2.1 ± 1.1	3.2 ± 1.9	0.0006
Mean time for 90 [°] knee flexion \pm SD (days)	6.2 ± 1.8	7.7 ± 2.1	0.0002
Mean max pain (VAS) score \pm SD	5.1 ± 1.5	6.2 ± 1.2	0.0001
Mean WOMAC score \pm SD (at 6 weeks post op)	$\textbf{78.0} \pm \textbf{12.2}$	$\textbf{75.0} \pm \textbf{11.4}$	0.207

p < 0.005), and time to achieve knee flexion to 90° was earlier, in patients with drain group (6.2 vs. 7.7 days, p < 0.005), probably owing to a smaller intra-articular haematoma that interfered less with the quadriceps mechanism² (Chart 2). Larger haematoma is more commonly found in knees without a drain. As haemarthrosis may induce an inflammatory response in the knee, the larger amount of undrained blood may require a longer time for reabsorption and may lead to a prolonged inflammatory response and worse pain and early functional outcome. In the patients with drain, early debulking of dressings was possible which would aid in early return of range of motion.

The use of drain is believed to be effective in decreasing hematoma formation^{18,19} which has been theoretically thought to decrease postoperative pain, swelling, and the incidence of infection.²⁰ In our study, we analysed postoperative pain using VAS score and maximum pain score of each patient was noted. The patients without drain had statistically significant pain when compared to drain group and this might be one of the reasons for late return of quadriceps power and knee flexion in non drain group.

Patients with a drain following TKA have been reported to have a higher blood loss, haemoglobin drop, and transfusion rate.^{7,8} Amongst the several RCTs done to study the blood loss and requirement of transfusions post operatively, two studies reported a haemoglobin decrease.⁷ One of the studies, however, reported that the total blood loss and the blood transfusion rates were significantly higher in the closed drainage group.⁷ Nonetheless in our study, patients with a short duration low suction pressure drain even though had a higher haemoglobin drop comparatively in drain group there was no significant difference in the transfusion rate. Lower suction pressure with shorter duration drain (125– 200 mmHg) results in less blood loss.^{14,15}

Some studies showed use of a drain following TKA may result in increased rate of retrograde infection.^{9–11} the risk of drain tube contamination increases from 9% to 19% after 24 h,¹¹ Nonetheless, comparing patients with or without a drain, where a low suction shorter duration drain was used there was no difference in the



Chart 2. Post Operative Variables with Significant Difference.

infection rate and more over wound soakage, change of dressings, erythema around wound was less in patients with drain group.

Only one study has reported an association of drain use and knee scores.²¹ In our study, there was a trend for better range of motion and WOMAC scores up to 6 weeks in patients with a drain. No patient required manipulation under anaesthesia as exhaustive inpatient physiotherapy was given till two weeks post surgery by a specialised physiotherapist. A larger prospective trial is needed to assess the worse short-term outcome in patients without a drain.

Conflict of interest

None.

- 1. Waugh TR, Stinchfield FE. Suction drainage of orthopaedic wounds. *J Bone Joint Surg Am.* 1961;43-a:939–946.
- Omonbude D, El Masry MA, O'Connor PJ, Grainger AJ, Allgar VL, Calder SJ. Measurement of joint effusion and haematoma formation by ultrasound in assessing the effectiveness of drains after total knee replacement: a prospective randomised study. J Bone Joint Surg (Br). 2010;92(1):51–55.
- Kim YH, Cho SH, Kim RS. Drainage versus nondrainage in simultaneous bilateral total knee arthroplasties. *Clin Orthop Relat Res.* 1998;347:188–193.
- Ovadia D, Luger E, Bickels J, Menachem A, Dekel S. Efficacy of closed wound drainage after total joint arthroplasty: a prospective randomized study. *J Arthroplasty*. 1997;12(3):317–321.
 Galat DD, McGovern SC, Hanssen AD, Larson DR, Harrington JR, Clarke HD.
- Galat DD, McGovern SC, Hanssen AD, Larson DR, Harrington JR, Clarke HD. Early return to surgery for evacuation of a postoperative hematoma after primary total knee arthroplasty. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 2008;90:2331–2336.
- Reilly TJ, Gradisar Jr. IAJr., Pakan W, Reilly M. The use of postoperative suction drainage in total knee arthroplasty. *Clin Orthop Relat Res.* 1986;208:238–242.
- Esler CN, Blakeway C, Fiddian NJ. The use of a closed-suction drain in total knee arthroplasty A prospective, randomised study. J Bone Joint Surg Br. 2003;85:215–217.
- Parker MJ, Roberts CP, Hay D. Closed suction drainage for hip and knee arthroplasty. A meta-analysis. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 2004;86:1146–1152.
- 9. Zhang QD, Guo WS, Zhang Q, Liu ZH, Cheng LM, Li ZR. Comparison between closed suction drainage and nondrainage in total knee arthroplasty: a meta-analysis. *J Arthroplasty*. 2011;26:1265–1272.
- Willemen D, Paul J, White SH, Crook DW. Closed suction drainage following knee arthroplasty: effectiveness and risks. *Clin Orthop Relat Res.* 1991:264:232–234.
- 11. Drinkwater CJ, Neil MJ. Optimal timing of wound drain removal following total joint arthroplasty. J Arthroplasty. 1995;10:185–189.
- Pornrattanamaneewong C, Narkbunnam R, Siriwattanasakul P, Chareancholvanich K. Three-hour interval drain clamping reduces postoperative bleeding in total knee arthroplasty: a prospective randomized controlled trial. Arch Orthop Trauma Surg. 2012;132:1059–1063.
- Tai TW, Yang CY, Jou IM, Lai KA, Chen CH. Temporary drainage clamping after total knee arthroplasty: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. J Arthroplasty. 2010;25:1240–1245.
- Morgan-Jones RL, Perko MM, Cross MJ. Uncemented total knee replacement: the favourable influence of low over high pressure drainage. *Knee*. 2000;7:149–150.
- Cheung KW, Chiu KH. Effect of drain pressure in total knee arthroplasty. J Orthop Surg (Hong Kong). 2006;14:163–166.
- Abuzakuk T, Senthil Kumar V, Shenava Y, et al. Autotransfusion drains in total knee replacement. Are they alternatives to homologous transfusion? Int Orthop. 2007;31:235–239.
- 17. Markar SR, Jones GG, Karthikesalingam A, Segaren N, Patel RV. Transfusion drains versus suction drains in total knee replacement: meta-analysis. *Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc.* 2012;20:1766–1772.

- Holt BT, Parks NL, Engh GA, Lawrence JM. Comparison of closed-suction drainage and no drainage after primary total knee arthroplasty. Orthopedics. 1997;20:1121-1125.
- 19. Martin A, Prenn M, Spiegel T, et al. Relevance of wound drainage in total knee arthroplasty—a prospective comparative study. Z Orthop Ihre Grenzgeb. 2004;142:46.
- Kim YH, Cho SH, Kim RS. Drainage versus nondrainage in simultaneous bilateral total knee arthroplasties. *Clin Orthop Relat Res.* 1998;188.
 Leb RB, Parker RD, Cohn BT, Fabian V. The efficacy of closed suction drainage in
- total knee arthroplasty. Orthop Trans. 1995;19:332-333.

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect



Journal of Arthroscopy and Joint Surgery

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/jajs



Does intraarticular PRP injection improve function, pain and quality of life in patients with OA of knee? Case control study of 50 patients



Manjiri Ranade^{a,*}, Hemant Pandit^b, Kailash Kothari^c

^a Pain Clinic of India Thane, 102, Zala Sapphire Coop Hsg Society, Chantali Road, Ghantali, Thane West, 4000602, India ^b Chapel Allerton Hospital, University of Leeds, United Kingdom

^c Pain Clinic of India Chembur, Building No. 1, Road Number 2, Kandari Colony, Chembur East, Mumbai, 400071, India

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 3 May 2018 Accepted 14 June 2018 Available online 19 June 2018

Keywords: Platelet rich plasma Therapeutic exercise Knee osteoarthritis

ABSTRACT

Knee osteoarthritis (OA) is a common debilitating chronic disease. Up to one in 5 people over the age of 45 suffer from knee OA and typical symptoms include significant pain, restricted mobility and difficulty to indulge in activities of daily living. Other than knee replacement, no other reliable treatment exists to manage symptomatic knee OA.

Platelet Rich Plasma (PRP) is a form of Prolotherapy and is increasingly used to manage OA patients, although the evidence is largely anecdotal. We conducted a case-control study to assess efficacy of PRP comparing it for pain relief in OA Knee.

We studied two groups of 25 patients each. One group of 25 patients was given therapeutic exercises and Acetaminophen for pain relief (control group). Second group of 25 patients (PRP group) was injected with two courses of intra-articular injection of Leucocyte rich PRP with interval of 6 weeks. WOMAC (Western Ontario and McMaster Universities Osteoarthritis Index) was recorded pre-intervention, at six months & one year post-intervention in both the groups. Change scores were assessed for statistical significance.

No compilations were noted in both groups and none of the cases needed further surgical intervention during the follow up period. Mean changes of total WOMAC, in PRP group showed significantly better improvement than control group (P < 0.05) at all time intervals.

This study showed that intra articular PRP knee injection combined with therapeutic exercise can be more effective in pain reduction and improvement of stiffness and quality of life, compared with therapeutic exercise alone.

© 2018 International Society for Knowledge for Surgeons on Arthroscopy and Arthroplasty. Published by Elsevier, a division of RELX India, Pvt. Ltd. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction

Osteoarthritis (OA) is a chronic disease defined by progressive degradation of the joint as well as loss of cartilage on joint surfaces. The degeneration that occurs in the joint leads to changes in the catabolic and anabolic activity of chondrocytes. As a result, other components of the joint get compromised which may lead to meniscus degeneration, bone deformity, sclerosis as well as subchondral tissue edema and intermittent synovial inflammation. This condition impairs functional capacity and decreases quality of life (QOL) in patients by producing pain, stiffness and limitation in range of motion of the joint.¹

The weak potential of joint cartilage for repair which is related to its avascular nature has resulted in numerous researches focusing on cartilage repair processes during the last two decades. Common treatments for cartilage tissue repair procure relative satisfaction, but rarely achieve an ideal level of functional capacity for the patient.² Recently, innovative treatments for cartilage tissue repair have been introduced, including mesenchymal stem cell therapy, autologous chondrocyte implantation, use of matrix metalloproteinase inhibitors, gene therapy and growth factors.^{3,4}

In 1970, various studies were performed on different platelet concentrations in plasma. This was followed by work on the higher amounts of growth factors present in platelets, and from those years the first clinical applications of platelet rich plasma (PRP) were investigated.⁴ Classically, PRP is considered as a volume of plasma containing higher concentrations of platelets compared to blood base line level.⁵ In fact, this definition includes plasma and platelets. Platelets contain different growth factors and cytokines,

* Corresponding author.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jajs.2018.06.001

E-mail addresses: pmanjiri@hotmail.com (M. Ranade), H.Pandit@leeds.ac.uk (H. Pandit), drkothari@yahoo.com (K. Kothari).

^{2214-9635/© 2018} International Society for Knowledge for Surgeons on Arthroscopy and Arthroplasty. Published by Elsevier, a division of RELX India, Pvt. Ltd. All rights reserved.

and plasma is a liquid without cells containing proteins and bioactive molecules which play an important role in the cellular repair process.⁶ Today, the generic term PRP has progressed and includes various products. These products are categorized based on the PAW classification system (platelet concentration, white blood cells and activation method).⁷ Because PRP contains growth factors and plasma proteins, it can regulate anti-inflammatory signals and equilibrate angiogenesis.^{8,9} Based on this, its use in order to reduce the progression of OA has been suggested in some studies.^{10,11}

The aim of this case-control study is to assess the efficacy of PRP in reducing pain and stiffness and improve function and quality of life in patients suffering from knee osteoarthritis (OA).

2. Materials & methods

Study Design: case-control study. Study setting: Pain Clinic of India. Study period: 2014–2017.

2.1. Inclusion criteria

Knee pain with minimum 3 months duration in adult patients presenting with evidence of Knee OA on plain x-rays (Kellgren-Lawrence Grade II or III).^{12,13}

2.2. Exclusion criteria

- Age over 80 years
- Patients on immune suppressive therapy
- History of collagen vascular diseases,
- History of cancer or malignant disorders
- Presence of active infection or breach in the skin over the knee
- Recent history of severe trauma to knee (within the past 6 months)
- Auto immune platelet disorders
- Treatment with anti-coagulant and/or anti-platelet agents within ten days prior to injection
- Use of NSAIDS three days prior to injection
- History of intra articular cortisone within 3 weeks or use of systemic steroids within 2 weeks of proposed PRP injection
- Platelet count <150,000 per micro liter
- History of vasovagal shock
- Pregnancy or breast feeding

2.3. Methodology

All consecutive patients presenting to Pain Clinic of India with Knee OA were considered for inclusion in this study. All patients were offered standardized physiotherapy and adequate oral analgesia. In addition, patients were provided with information about PRP and if willing to participate in the study, they were recruited. The study-arm patients were offered PRP in addition to routine treatment of physiotherapy and oral analgesia whilst the control arm patients were offered physiotherapy and oral analgesia.

2.4. Intervention (for the study group)

For preparation of PRP sample all patients were referred to blood banks. 50–60 ml of blood was first collected from patient's upper limb cuboidal vein using 18 G needed in a pre-added 5 ml of ACD – A bulb. 1 ml of blood was sent for blood count. The rest sample passed two stages of centrifuge (first with 1600 rpm for 15 min for separation of erythrocytes and next with 2800 rpm for 7 min in order to concentrate platelets). The final product was 8-10 ml of PRP containing leukocytes. The PRP concentration was 4-6 times the average normal value. As it was stated in some resources that anesthetic agents could not only have toxic effects on chondrocytes but could also influence the activation of platelet by changing the pH of the environment, therefore no local anesthetic agent was injected.¹⁴ The skin of injection site was prepped and draped and liquid PRP was injected in sterile condition using 24 G -1.5 inch needle through classic approach for intra articular injection (supra patellar or medial). All injections were fluoroscopy guided to know exact location of intra articular needle placement. After 15-20 min of rest, patients were asked to actively flex and extend their knees so that the PRP could spread evenly across the joint space. Then patients were sent home with a written order regarding the following issues. They were recommended to have relative rest 24-48 h post-injection and limit weight bearing on the injected joint. Meanwhile for reducing pain and inflammation they were instructed to use cold therapy three times a day each time for 10 min. In the case of pain onset they had permission to use 650 mg of acetaminophen (up to 1.5 gm per day). However, they were strictly prohibited to take NSAIDs, Aspirin or any steroids. Generally patients were recommended to have mild to moderate levels of activity and increase it as tolerated. They could resume their usual activities of daily living (ADL) one week after injection. Exercises were started a week after injection with lower intensity in the first days and then it increased progressively to be continued on a normal level. PRP injection was repeated using the same precautions and technique at 6 weeks after the first injection.

2.5. Follow up

All patients were assessed at 3 months, 6 months and 12 months post initial consultation. Patients were requested to fill in WOMAC questionnaire and in addition joint swelling and range of movement were recorded at each visit.

3. Results

The mean age of patients was 60.2 ± 9 years. Characteristics of both the groups are shown in Table 1.

Platelet rich plasma preparations in this study contained leukocytes (LR-PRP). Table 2 demonstrates the mean platelet concentrations and white blood cell in PRP and the mean platelet concentrations at base (whole blood); PRP concentration had no significant relation to the response to treatment (P > 0.05).

Mean total WOMAC score from baseline to 6 months follow up improved significantly (P = 0.005) in both the groups. However the improvement in PRP group was significantly higher than in the control group at 6 months as well as at one year.

Table 1

The two treatment groups are homogenous for all the parameters evaluated.

Variables		PRP Group	Control Group
Age (Mean / SD)		60.12, +/- 8.75	60.36, +/- 9.30
Sex N,%	F	18(72)	19(76)
	M	7(28)	6(24)
KL Grade (%)	1	0(0)	9(36)
	2	12(48)	13(52)
	3	13(48)	3(12)
	4	0(0)	0(0)
Symptom Period	3-12 M	15(60)	13(52)
	>12 M	10(40)	12(48)

Table 2				
Platelet rich	plasma	cytologic	findings	$(mean \pm SD)$

Parameters	Platelets concentration in whole blood ^a	Platelets concentration in PRP ^a	Platelets concentration in whole $blood/PRP^b$	WBC count in PRP ^a
First injection Second injection	$\begin{array}{c} 218643.80 \pm 85{,}715.72 \\ 241166.14 \pm 51{,}168.98 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 1346060.00 \pm 523,291.05 \\ 1367833.33 \pm 364,955.38 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 5.68 \pm 1.17 \\ 5.62 \pm 1.65 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 240.00 \pm 203.65 \\ 388.89 \pm 489.76 \end{array}$

^a Per mL.

....

^b Fold increase in platelet concentration.

4. Discussion

In our study we found significant improvement in WOMAC score in group of patients who received two intra articular injections of PRP six weeks apart than control group. These improvements persisted at least for the first 12 months post-intervention.

There is no consensus about the standard regimen of PRP treatment in musculoskeletal disorders. In different study protocols, the average number of injections is two to three times at two to six week intervals.¹⁵ We chose two injections six weeks apart as a pragmatic approach. Second injection was performed the same way after 6 weeks. All patients were followed up at predetermined regular intervals after the treatment. Meanwhile they were evaluated for Paracetamol consumption, Pain, Joint swelling and Stiffness. Six months and one year follow up, WOMAC question-naire were filled with the help of project executor. In our study after 6 months and one year pain stiffness functional capacity improved in both PRP and Control group. Comparing with control group reduction in pain as well as total WOMAC score were significantly better in the PRP group.

Presently, various studies, including systematic reviews, have reported the effects of PRP on knee OA, and obtained results similar to our study.^{1,5} Patel et al study, by comparing the effects of single injection or double injections of PRP and injection of normal saline (as a control group) in patients suffering from knee arthritis, showed that single injection was as effective as two times injections and both had better effects than normal saline injection. In their study, PRP obtained was lacking leukocytes with concentration of 2.5 million per micro litter with a single centrifuge turn.¹⁶ In our study, PRP used contained leukocytes after 2 turns of centrifuge with a platelet concentration of 5.6 times.

Kon et al during a two year study investigating the short term (6 and 12 months) and long term (24 months) effects of PRP in knee osteoarthritis. In their studies using the IKDC questionnaire and VAS evaluation to assess patients' condition, results similar to our study were reported.^{17–19}

Sanchez et al showed short term signs and symptoms improvement was correlated with severity of osteoarthritis (radiologic grading).²⁰ In our study also, PRP had better short term results compared to the control group even if in our study this finding didn't show any difference in various grades of OA. A reason for this difference may be related to fewer recruited patients in grades 1 and 4 compared to grades 2 and 3, exclusion of patients with severe genu varum and valgum and the small size of the sample.

The total amount of acetaminophen consumption during the 6 months follow up was higher in the PRP group than in the control group. By questioning patients, it appeared that in the PRP group due to prescription of before injection acetaminophen and because of intermittent pain 3–7 days after injection (because of the inflammatory process which is part of the PRP mechanisms), the highest amount of acetaminophen consumption occurred around the time of injection, but in the control group this amount was spread along the treatment period. Unfortunately, data regarding distribution of the time of acetaminophen consumption are

unavailable to us. In further analysis, it appeared that there was no correlation between the amount of acetaminophen consumption and the amount of response to treatment. In the Patel et al study, it was stated that increase in amount of platelet concentration in PRP leads to an increase in patient's pain after injection which can explain the increased consumption of pain killers the first few days after injection.¹⁶

Cellularity is one of the main aspects of PRP evaluation in different clinical applications. In our study the mean platelet concentration obtained for PRP in the first and second injection was 3-7.8 and 3.2-8.6 times respectively. No relation was found between improvement of pain, stiffness, functional capacity and OOL of patients and the platelet concentration. Some studies have indicated a positive effect of PRP in musculoskeletal diseases subject to concentrations of 4-6 times and others believe that concentrations higher than 8 times can jeopardize the repair process and induce an inhibitory effect on cellular proliferation.^{7,19} Up to now, we haven't been able to find a published study about the effect of PRP in knee OA based on platelet concentration.^{1,5,21} Also, in our study, the obtained PRP contained WBCs with a mean of 10-20% of blood white cells. Some believe, in the process of PRP preparation not only platelet but also monocytes as well as white cell stem cells become present. Some studies only consider PRP to be appropriate when it is free of leukocytes. In their opinion, leukocyte secretion of proteases and reactive oxygen are unwanted.⁷ But certain researches mention the secretion of substances such as cytokines and enzymes to be effective in the processes of repair, platelet activation, prolonging the duration of growth factor release and prevention of infection (Staphylococcus aureus and Escherichia coli).^{7,22} Up to now very few human studies have been published which had mean WBC of PRP in mind.^{1,5} In other studies it was also stated that presence of leukocytes increases pain after injection.

No significant complication (such as infection, atrophy, deep vein thrombosis, fever, hematoma and tissue hypertrophy) was observed except for transient increase in local pain and swelling. Other studies had the same reports. The most frequent patient complaint was injection site pain. In some cases pain lasted up to 10 min post injection, decreased gradually and continued as a dull pain at the injection site which lasted from 3 days to 2 weeks. Three patients complained of transient knee stiffness and feeling of swelling. These symptoms improved with oral analgesia and rest as needed.

This study has key strengths and some limitations. Use of a matched control group, assessment of functional outcome using validated scores and in depth evaluation of the PRP cytology are the strengths whilst relatively small sample size, predominance of female patients and limited follow up are potential weaknesses.

Overall, our study and other studies proposed the short term efficiency of PRP injection in comparison to control group in the treatment of patients suffering from OA. Details considered while choosing this treatment take into account age, gender, grade of arthritis and the duration of complaint from symptoms. These can affect the decision on the characteristics and best concentration of PRP, number of injection, their intervals as well as patient selection. The reduction of PRP effect with time indicates the lack of role of chondral remodeling alone. Therefore more studies are suggested to determinate PRP treatment patients' eligibility conditions, assessment of PRP real effects in the short and long term, and PRP cost benefit nature in a comprehensive and unique protocol.

5. Conclusions

Results obtained from this study showed that intra articular PRP knee injection can be effective in reduction of pain, stiffness and QOL improvement of patients in comparison to the control group in the short term.

Conflict of interest

None.

Appendix A. Supplementary data

Supplementary material related to this article can be found, in the online version, at doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jajs.2018.06.001.

- Yuan M, Meng H, Wang A, et al. Basic science and clinical application of platelet-rich plasma for cartilage defects and osteoarthritis: a review. Osteoarthr Cartil. 2013;21:1627–1637 [PubMed].
- Frizziero A, Giannotti E, Ferraro C, Masiero S. Platelet rich plasma intraarticular injections: a new therapeutic strategy for the treatment of knee osteoarthritis in sport rehabilitation. A systematic review. Sport Sci Health. 2012;8:15–22.
- **3.** Wang-Saegusa A, Cugat R, Ares O, et al. Infiltration of plasma rich in growth factors for osteoarthritis of the knee short-term effects on function and quality of life. *Arch Orthop Trauma Surg.* 2011;131:311–317 [PubMed].
- 4. Napolitano M, Matera S, Bossio M, et al. Autologous platelet gel for tissue regeneration in degenerative disorders of the knee. *Blood Transfus.* 2012;10:72 [PMC free article] [PubMed].
- Smyth NA, Murawski CD, Fortier LA, et al. Platelet rich plasma in the pathologic processes of cartilage: review of basic science evidence. *Arthroscopy*. 2013;29:1399–1409 [PubMed].
- Metcalf KB, Mandelbaum BR, Mcllwraith CW. Application of platelet-rich plasma to disorders of the knee joint. *Cartilage*. 2013;4:295–312 [PMC free article] [PubMed].

- 7. DeLong JM, Russell RP, Mazzocca AD. Platelet-rich plasma: the PAW classification system. *Arthroscopy*. 2012;28:998–1009 [PubMed].
- Raeissadat SA, Sedighipour L, Rayegani SM, et al. Effect of platelet-rich plasma (PRP) versus autologous whole blood on pain and function improvement in tennis elbow: a randomized clinical trial. *Pain Res Treat*. 2014;2014:8 [PMC free article] [PubMed].
- Raeissadat SA, Rayegani SM, Hassanabadi H, et al. Is platelet-rich plasma superior to whole blood in the management of chronic tennis elbow: one year randomized clinical trial. *BMC Sports Sci Med Rehabil*. 2014;6:12 [PMC free article] [PubMed].
- Civinini R, Nistri L, Martini C, et al. Growth factors in the treatment of early osteoarthritis. *Clin Cases Min Bone Metab.* 2013;10:26 [PMC free article] [PubMed].
- Anitua E, Sánchez M, Orive G, Padilla S. A biological therapy to osteoarthritis treatment using platelet-rich plasma. *Expert Opin Biol Ther.* 2013;1–12 [PubMed].
- Hochberg MC, Altman RD, April KT, et al. American college of rheumatology 2012 recommendations for the use of nonpharmacologic and pharmacologic therapies in osteoarthritis of the hand, hip, and knee. Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken). 2012;64:465–474 [PubMed].
- Misso ML, Pitt VJ, Jones KM, et al. Quality and consistency of clinical practice guidelines for diagnosis and management of osteoarthritis of the hip and knee: a descriptive overview of published guidelines. *Med J Aust.* 2008;189:394–399 [PubMed].
- 14. Allan M, James W, Amy V. Treatment of tendon and muscle using platelet-rich plasma. *Clin Sports Med*. 2009;28:113–125 [PubMed].
- Crane D, Everts P. Platelet rich plasma (PRP) matrix grafts. Pract Pain Manage. 2008;8:12–26.
- Patel S, Dhillon MS, Aggarwal S, et al. Treatment with platelet-rich plasma is more effective than placebo for knee osteoarthritis a prospective, doubleblind, randomized trial. Am J Sports Med. 2013;41:356–364 [PubMed].
- Kon E, Buda R, Filardo G, et al. Platelet-rich plasma: intra-articular knee injections produced favorable results on degenerative cartilage lesions. *Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc.* 2010;18:472–479 [PubMed].
- Filardo G, Kon E, Buda R, et al. Platelet-rich plasma intra-articular knee injections for the treatment of degenerative cartilage lesions and osteoarthritis. *Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc.* 2011;19:528–535 [PubMed].
- Tate K, Crane D. Platelet rich plasma grafts in musculoskeletal medicine. J Prolother. 2010;2:371–376.
- 20. Sánchez M, Fiz N, Azofra J, et al. A randomized clinical trial evaluating plasma rich in growth factors (PRGF-Endoret) versus hyaluronic acid in the short-term treatment of symptomatic knee osteoarthritis. *Arthroscopy*. 2012;28: 1070–1078 [PubMed].
- 21. Spaková T, Rosocha J, Lacko M, et al. Treatment of knee joint osteoarthritis with autologous platelet-rich plasma in comparison with hyaluronic acid. *Am J Phys Med Rehabil.* 2012;91:411–417 [PubMed].
- 22. Marx RE. Platelet-rich plasma (PRP): what is PRP and what is not PRP? Implant Dent. 2001;10:225–228 [PubMed].

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

ELSEVIER

Research paper

Journal of Arthroscopy and Joint Surgery

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/jajs

Using google trends to assess for seasonal variation in knee injuries



Varun Dewan^{a,*}, Hartej Sur^b

^a Specialty Registrar in Trauma & Orthopaedics, Royal Wolverhampton NHS Trusts, Wolverhmapton Road, Wolverhampton, WV10 0QP, United Kingdom ^b Specialty Registrar in Trauma & Orthopaedics, Sandwell & West Birmingham Hospitals NHS Trust, Lyndon, West Bromwich, B71 4HJ, United Kingdom

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 12 November 2017 Accepted 15 February 2018 Available online 21 February 2018

Keywords: Knee injury Google trends Injury prevention Mechanism of injury

ABSTRACT

Introduction: The Google Trends search engine provides an insight into the search habits of individuals using the Google search engine. Usage of such data can provide us with information about the incidence of medical condition that are otherwise hard to track as patients do not always seek medical attention. An example of this is injuries to the knee. This study aimed to assess the seasonality of patients with knee symptoms that may be suggestive of a knee injury using data from Google Trends.

Materials & methods: Data was downloaded for 'knee pain' and 'knee swelling' from the Google Trends search engine from 4th January 2004 to 2nd January 2016. Statistical analysis was conducted to assess for trends and seasonality for these search terms.

Results: The data demonstrated that there has been an overall increase in the volume of searches for both 'knee pain' and 'knee swelling' over time. The month of April demonstrated the highest number of searches. Statistical analysis demonstrated a statistically significant increase in searches in warmer months compared to colder months.

Conclusion: The Google Trends search engine represents a method of data collection and analysis that may complement more traditional methods Our study shows that internet searches for symptoms related to knee injuries demonstrated a seasonal trend that has also been shown to be present for knee injuries in professional athletes.

© 2018 Published by Elsevier, a division of RELX India, Pvt. Ltd on behalf of International Society for Knowledge for Surgeons on Arthroscopy and Arthroplasty.

1. Introduction

The internet has become a medical resource not only for the clinician but also for the patient. The NHS choices website handles 48 million visits per month.¹ The Google search engine handles 2 trillion searches per year² with 1% of these being related to medicine.³ Data associated with such searches is an opportunity for those involved in research to detect potential trends of disease and population behaviour.⁴

Google trends is a sample of the billions of searches that are conducted using the Google search engine.⁵ The data is scaled on a range from 0 to 100 and can be broken down into time and geographical location. Its usage in medical research has gradually been gaining popularity with 70 studies having been published utilizing it since 2009.⁶

Currently there is no way to continuously monitor the health seeking habits of patients. Indeed a proportion of the population will not seek medical advice from a health professional immediately and as a result the true incidence of a given pathology at a given time may or may not be truly known or understood.

Reports of injury rates have been shown to be associated with weather conditions in professional athletes, but it is unclear if the same applies to the general population.⁷ Monitoring such a problem would be difficult to do as patients may seek information from other resources such as the internet. The aim of this study is to establish any potential link between seasons and reporting of knee injury related symptoms using the Google Trends search engine.

2. Method

Ethical approval for this study was not sought as it was conducted using publically available data. The study was designed using the guidance from Nuti et al⁶. Search terms were identified by performing an initial comparative search using the Google Trends search engine of knee symptoms: 'knee giving way', 'knee pain', 'knee swelling', 'knee stiffness' and 'knee locking'. Due to the low frequency of searches of the other terms, 'knee pain' and 'knee swelling' were used for the purposes of this study.

A search was conducted on 23rd November 2016 using the Google Trends search engine to obtain search volume information using the composite search terms of 'knee pain' and 'knee swelling'. Data was

2214-9635/© 2018 Published by Elsevier, a division of RELX India, Pvt. Ltd on behalf of International Society for Knowledge for Surgeons on Arthroscopy and Arthroplasty.



^{*} Corresponding author at: Health Education England (West Midlands), 213 Hagley Road, Edgbaston, Birmingham, B16 9RG.

E-mail addresses: varun.dewan@nhs.net (V. Dewan), hartej.sur@nhs.net (H. Sur).



Fig. 1. Chart showing search volume over time.

obtained from 4th January 2004 to 2nd January 2016. The search was limited to the United Kingdom. Weekly search results were down-loaded in the.csv format produced by Google Trends.

Data analysis was conducted using the Wilcoxon Signed Rank Test to assess for any seasonal variation and an analysis of variance (ANOVA) was conducted to assess the suitability of the seasonal model for this data set.

3. Results

Over time, as expected, we saw a year-on-year increase in the search volume for both these symptoms (Fig. 1). The average search volume by week of the year can be seen in Figs. 2 and 3. There is a gradual decrease in search volume from week 16 onwards. Search volumes were greatest in the month of April and lowest in December. This was found to be statistically significant using the student *t*-test.

When the search volumes are grouped by meteorological seasons, as defined by the Met Office⁸, the greatest volume of searches were conducted in Spring and the lowest in Winter. The Wilcoxon Signed Rank Test was performed and demonstrated a statistically significant lower number of searches during the colder months (p < .05)

Regression analysis, conducted using an analysis of variance test (ANOVA), rejected the null hypothesis that there is an increase in search volume over time with no seasonality (p = .82E-10). The alternative hypothesis was, therefore, accepted that there has been an increase in search volume over time with associated seasonality.

4. Discussion

Identifying the mechanism by which an injury occurs and the factors associated has become paramount to injury prevention initiatives. Meeuwise⁹ developed a model that considered the complex interactions that in the lead up to an inciting event may predispose an individual to an injury. Meeuwise⁹ divided these risk factors into those that are intrinsic and those that are extrinsic. Bahr¹⁰ progressed this model further by developing a comprehensive injury causation model which incorporated a biomechanical perspective and focuses on the characteristic of the sport in question. In both of these models, weather would be regarded as an extrinsic risk factor.

We set out in this study to see if there is a link between weather and reported knee symptoms. We have shown that searches for 'knee pain' and 'knee swelling' peaks in April and is lowest in December. We hypothesise that this may be related to increased levels of activity during warmer months. This is in keeping with other studies published that have shown an increased incidence of injuries in warmer months. A study of American football players in the National Football League found that knee and ankle sprains were less common when the temperature was cooler outside.⁷ Furthermore, Orchard reported an increased incidence of ACL injuries in Australian football players in dryer conditions.¹¹ A further two studies demonstrated that moving rugby league games from autumn and winter months to the spring and summer resulted in a higher risk of injuries.^{12,13} The reason that this is thought to happen is that ground is harder during the warmer and drier months.14



Fig. 2. Chart showing the average search volume per week.



Fig. 3. Chart showing the volume of searches by week of the year for study period.

Whilst these studies have been conducted on professional athletes, this environmental factor is also likely to be true for the amateur or 'fair-weather' athlete. These people are more likely to participate in activities that subsequently expose them to injury risk during the spring and summer months.¹⁵ They are not likely to have participated in any injury prevention programs, have the type of equipment that is available to the professional athletes nor the appropriate training. A further factor that has been noted, is that activities may be conducted at a slower pace when weather conditions are thought to be more adverse during the autumn and winter months. The faster pace during the warmer months may be a further risk factor.¹⁶ Types of activities that occur in the warmer months also differs from those the rest of the year and again this may increase the number of injuries.¹⁷ It may have been expected that the injury rates would be higher during the summer months when the weather is at its warmest and the ground at its hardest. However, it is believed that there would likely be decreased levels of activity as the higher temperatures at this time of year causes fatigue.¹⁴

Other studies have previously used Google Trends to demonstrate seasonality in the reporting of ankle symptoms,^{18,19} mental health searches²⁰ and restless leg syndrome²¹ by comparing searches within one or several Northern Hemisphere countries with that of Australia due to their seasons being at different times of year. This was a way to add validity to their results. We did not feel comparing the results of the United Kingdom with those of Australia represented an appropriate comparison owing to the differing climates of the two countries with their milder winter and warmer summer.

Google Trends data allows an interesting opportunity for research into 'real time' public interest in particular topics. It has been utilized in various areas of medical research such as multiple sclerosis²², cancer screening²³ and most notably in the tracking of influenza.²⁴ However, the subsequent failure of the Google Flu Trends²⁵ project has cast doubt on the usefulness of Big Data. Some commentators regard Big Data sets as essentially being 'found data'. This data cannot be verified independently, does not allow for further subgroup analysis, we do not know the purpose for the search being conducted and we are not completely aware of the biases that may be present. We do know, however, that data from Google Trends does suffer from sampling bias as the results are limited only to users of the Google search engine. From the point of healthcare, it is also more likely to be used by younger generations who are perhaps more 'tech savvy' and more embracing of alternative avenues of medical advice. Therefore, this only allows us to gain an insight into a further subset of this population. The Office of National Statistics reported that only 38.7% of adults over the age of 75 used the internet in 2015 compared with 99.2% of those aged between 16 and 24.²⁶ As a result, we are not be able to comment on the group of patients most likely to suffer from osteoarthritis, who often report knee pain associated with colder weather.

The aim of Google Flu Trends was to predict the immediate prevalence of flu and provide a 'nowcast' with the aim of attempting to identify where further resources may be required. We are not attempting to perform such a task with this paper. Instead we are hoping to identify a recurring pattern. We have shown in this paper that there is an increase in the search volume of knee-related symptoms during warmer environmental conditions. Whilst we are speculating that this may be a result of an increased incidence of knee injuries, the findings are in keeping with other injury studies.

Google Trends data represents an opportunity to gain an insight into the search habits of people. This study not only adds to the evidence regarding the possible association between seasonality and knee injuries but also shows that it can be used for purposes such as medical research. Guidelines have recently been published on how Google Trends may be used in medical research.⁵ Adherence to such strict methodologies will aid us in the future as other Big Data sets become available and may play a role in the way we plan and deliver healthcare in the future. These systems are indeed fallible but that does not mean that they should be ignored. Instead an integrated approach should be used so that as much evidence is available to patients, clinicians and policymakers.

Conflict of interest

None.

Contributorship

Varun Dewan: Study design and idea, data collection, statistical analysis and write-up.

Hartej Sur: Data collection, statistical analysis and write-up.

Funding info

Nil.

Acknowledgements

Nil.

- NHS Choices (Internet). NHS choice: what we do. [(Cited 2015 Nov 30) Available from: http://www.nhs.uk/aboutNHSChoices/aboutnhschoices/Pages/whatwe-do.aspx].
- Sullivan D. Google now handles at least 2 trillion searches per year. (Cited May 24). Search engine land (Internet). [Available from: http://searchengineland. com/google-now-handles-2-999-trillion-searches-per-year-250247].
- Pinchin V. I'm feeling yucky:(searching for symptoms on google. (Cited jun 20). Google nlog. [Available from: https://blog.google/products/search/im-feelingyucky-searching-for-symptoms/].
- [4]. Brownstein JS, Freifeld CC, Madoff LC. Digital disease detection-harnessing the web for public health surveillance. N Engl J Med. 2009;360:2153–2157.
- Where trends data comes from. Available from: https://support.google.com/ trends/answer/4355213?hl=en&ref_topic=6248052.
- 6. Nuti SV, Wayda B, Ranasinghe I, et al. The use of google trends in health care research: a systematic review. *PLoS One*. 2014;9(10):e109583.
- Orchard JW, Powell JW. Risk of knee and ankle sprains under various weather conditions in American football. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.* 2003;35(7):1118–1123.
- 8. When does spring start? (Cited 2017 Mar 6). [Available from: http://www. metoffice.gov.uk/learning/learn-about-the-weather/how-weather-works/ when-does-spring-start].

- 9. Meeuwisse WH. Assessing causation in sport injury: a multifactorial model. *Clin J Sport Med.* 1994;4:166–170.
- 10. Bahr R, Krosshaug T. Understanding injury mechanisms: a key component of preventing injuries in sports. *Br J Sports Med*. 2005;39:324–329.
- Orchard J, Seward JH, McGivern J, et al. Rainfall, evaporation and the risk of non-contact anterior cruciate ligament injury in the Australian Football League. Med J Aust. 1999;170:304–306.
- 12. Phillips L, Standen PJ, et al. Effects of sea- sonal change in rugby league on the incidence of injury. *Br J Sports Med.* 1998;32:144–148.
- Gissane C, Jennings D, Kerr K, et al. Injury rates in rugby league football: impact of change in playing season. *Am J Sports Med.* 2003;31:954–958.
- Gabbett T, Minbashian A, Finch C. Influence of environmental and ground conditions on injury risk in rugby league. J Sci Med Sport. 2007;10:211–218.
 Merrill RM, Shields EC, White GL, et al. Climate conditions and physical activity
- in the United States. Am J Health Behav. 2005;29:371–381.
- Orchard J. Is there a relationship between ground and climatic conditions and injuries in football? *Sports Med*. 2002;32:419–432.
 Tucker P, Gilliland J. The effect of season and weather on physical activity: a
- systematic review. *Public Health*. 2007;121:909–922.
- **18.** Liu F, Allan M, Korownyk C, et al. Seasonality of ankle swelling: population symptom reporting using google trends. *Ann Fam Med*. 2016;14(4):356–358.
- Telfer S, Woodburn J. Let me google that for you: a time series analysis of seasonality in internet search trends for terms related to foot and ankle pain. J Foot Ankle Res. 2015;8(1):1.
- 20. Yang AC, Huang NE, Peng CK, et al. Do seasons have an influence on the incidence of depression? The use of an internet search engine query data as a proxy of human affect. *PLoS One*. 2010;2010.
- 21. Ingram DG, Plante DT. Seasonal trends in restless legs symptomatology: evidence from internet search query data. *Sleep Med.* 2013;14:1364–1368.
- Moccia M, Palladino R, Falco A, et al. Trends: new evidence for seasonality of multiple sclerosis. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2016;87(9):1028–1029.
- Schootman M, Toor A, Cavazos-Rehg P, et al. The utility of google trends data to examine interest in cancer screening. BMJ Open. 2015;5:e006678.
- Ginsberg J, Mohebbi MH, Patel RS, et al. Detecting influenza epidemics using search engine query data. *Nature*. 2009;457:1012–U1014.
- Lazer D, Kennedy R, King G, et al. The parable of google flu: traps in big data analysis. Science. 2014;343(6176):1203–1205.
- Statistical bulletin. Internet users in the UK; 2016 [(Cited 2016 May 19) Available from: https://www.ons.gov.uk/businessindustryandtrade/ itandinternetindustry/bulletins/internetusers/2016].





Journal of Arthroscopy and Joint Surgery

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/jajs

Case Report

Spontaneous bilateral quadriceps tendon rupture in a patient with chronic kidney disease: A case report and review of literature



Ramneek Mahajan^{*}, Yugal Karkhur, V. Anil, Abhimanyu Kakralia

Max Smart Superspeciality Hospital, New Delhi, India

A R T I C L E I N F O

Article history: Received 22 May 2018 Received in revised form 10 July 2018 Accepted 10 August 2018 Available online 14 August 2018

Keywords: Spontaneous rupture Secondary hyperparathyroidism Krakow Dialysis

1. Introduction

Spontaneous bilateral quadriceps rupture is a very rare phenomenon but is strongly associated in younger patients with chronic diseases such as gout, systemic lupus erythematosus, diabetes mellitus, corticosteroid therapy, corticosteroid injections, rheumatoid arthritis, hyperthyroidism or hyperparathyroidism secondary to chronic renal failure.

In patients with chronic renal failure, the metabolic mechanism causing the tendon rupture is the disturbances in the balance of calcium and phosphate and consequential secondary hyperparathyroidism which causes extraosseous periarticular and perivascular deposition of calcium–phosphate complexes.

Isolated or unilateral tendon rupture is frequently an associated complication but spontaneous bilateral rupture of the quadriceps tendons as a consequence of minor trauma is a very rare complication.^{1,2} As the complication is very infrequently encountered, it may quite easily proceed unrecognized or be mistreated as pseudo gout or atypical rheumatoid arthritis³

2. Case report

A 34 year old gentleman presented to us with difficulty in walking and inability to stand from sitting position since past 1 month. The patient was apparently well since 1 month when he sustained a trivial jerk but no fall while climbing the stairs which lead to a feeling of giving away. He consulted a local practitioner where the rare possibility of a spontaneous quadriceps rupture was not considered and the patient was treated empirically with knee immobilizer on his right knee for ambulation following a period of rest. A few days later he felt another popping sound on the left knee while walking on level ground after which he developed similar complain in his left knee following which he was unable to walk or lift his legs. Patient was a known case of chronic kidney disease under medical management since the past 3 years pending haemodialysis and was a prospective candidate for renal transplant. The patient did not have any cycle of dialysis in the past.

On physical examination, patient was a thin, lean build man with local examination findings suggestive of suprapatellar swelling over both knees with tenderness on palpation. He was unable to perform a straight leg raise on both sides. On palpation, a defect in the continuity of both quadriceps tendons was found at its patellar insertion. Clinical suspicion of bilateral quadriceps tendon rupture was ascertained with X-rays of both knees suggestive of bilateral patella baja and calcium deposits in the quadriceps tendon. To further confirm the diagnosis and plan the surgical treatment, Magnetic resonance imaging was obtained which showed complete tear of the quadriceps tendon at the patellar insertion in both knees with proximal retraction of the tendon. (Fig. 1A, Fig. 1B).

On further biochemical evaluation in the line of secondary hyperparathyroidism following chronic kidney disease, it revealed elevated serum creatinine level of 6.9 mg/dl, urea 252 mg/dl, Glomerular filtration rate (GFR) of 14.7, Alkaline phosphatase value of 173U/L and Parathyroid Hormone (PTH) of 1691.6 IU/L.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jajs.2018.08.001

^{*} Corresponding author. Institute of Musculoskeletal Sciences, Max Smart Superspeciality Hospital, Saket, New Delhi, India.

E-mail addresses: ramneekmahajan@gmail.com (R. Mahajan), dryugal9890@gmail.com (Y. Karkhur), Dranilv86@gmail.com (V. Anil), kakralia86@gmail.com (A. Kakralia).

^{2214-9635/© 2018} International Society for Knowledge for Surgeons on Arthroscopy and Arthroplasty. Published by Elsevier, a division of RELX India, Pvt. Ltd. All rights reserved.



Fig. 1. A: Sagittal T2, MRI of left knee showing full-thickness tear of quadriceps tendon at patellar attachment site (yellow arrow). B: Sagittal T2, MRI of right knee showing full-thickness tear of quadriceps tendon at patellar attachment site.



Fig. 2. Quadriceps tendon repair using suture anchors in patella.



Fig. 3. Krakow's technique of tendon repair.



Fig. 4. Repair augmentation using stainless steel wire encirclage.

Patient was planned for bilateral quadriceps tendon repair. Nephrology consult was sought prior to the surgery. A cycle of dialysis was conducted and after optimization from nephrology team, he was taken up for surgery for bilateral quadriceps repair with suture anchors (Fig. 2), Krakow suture technique (Fig. 3) and 1.8 mm SS encirclage wiring for augmentation of the repair anchoring from patellar tendon distally and quadriceps tendon proximally following the repair. (Fig. 4). The immediate post-operative X-ray was obtained (Fig. 5A, Fig. 5B).

The patient was kept in knee immobilizer for a period of 3 weeks where patient was encouraged for static quadriceps exercises. At 3 weeks gentle range of motions exercises were initiated. Patient achieved 0-50 degrees of movements in both the knees at 6 weeks and 0-90 degrees of movements at 4 months of follow up (Fig. 6) with good quadriceps strength and no extension lag (Fig. 7).



Fig. 5. A: Immediate post-operative Anteroposterior view. B: Immediate post-operative Lateral view.

3. Discussion

Bilateral quadriceps tendon tear is a very rare clinical entity. In 1949, Steiner and Palmer first reported a case of quadriceps tendon tear in a patient with renal failure. Trivial trauma can rupture bilateral quadriceps in patients with chronic renal failure, systemic lupus erythematosus, gout, diabetes, secondary hyperparathyroidism, pseudogout, alkaptonuria, severe osteomalacia and in patients with systemic steroid treatment.

The cause of tendon tear has not been well established and various causative factors have been proposed like diminished local circulation, disturbed collagen synthesis, repeated micro trauma and reduced tendon elasticity by calcification.⁴

The diagnosis of quadriceps tendon rupture is primarily based upon the history and meticulous clinical examination. Due to the rare incidence of this injury, early clinical diagnosis is essential,



Fig. 6. 90° range of motion at 4 months follow up.

which is a challenging task to the physician. The consistent characteristic finding on clinical examination is a palpable suprapatellar gap where insinuation of finger is possible between the tendon and the superior pole of the patella. Radiographs are not sufficient to make an accurate diagnosis whereas USG (Ultrasound) is the screening investigation. MRI remains the gold standard imaging to assess the extent of rupture, site of rupture, associated osteotendinous injury and preoperative planning.

In view of chronic renal disease, the clinician should have high index of suspicion of this entity and early imaging, especially MRI, is essential. Partial tendon ruptures are managed conservatively with physiotherapy, whereas complete ruptures warrant surgical intervention.⁵

In the described case scenario, the tendon rupture was complete on both the sides and hence warranted a repair. An important rarity of presentation which requires special mention in this case is that there have been multiple case reports in English literature describing the similar pathology in patients with chronic kidney disease undergoing short or long term haemodialysis, but to the best of our literature search, this is probably the first reported case of bilateral spontaneous quadriceps rupture with chronic kidney disease with secondary hyperparathyroidism with no haemodialysis received till the time of presentation.

The association of tendon rupture with the duration of renal failure and period of dialysis have been studied and discussed in literature with a direct relation between the both.^{6,7}

Early surgical repair, control of secondary hyperparathyroidism, early use of vitamin D analogues and total parathyroidectomy can treat and prevent tendon rupture or re-rupture with satisfactory results.⁸

To conclude, bilateral spontaneous rupture of quadriceps tendon is a rare entity with the role of elevated parathyroid hormone in end-stage renal disease patients remaining crucial. Proper



Fig. 7. Full extension at 4 months follow up.

evaluation and management including surgical repair and medical treatment can result in satisfactory clinical and functional outcomes. Early surgical repair is the treatment of choice and is usually associated with good results.⁹ Konrath et al.¹⁰ reported that most patients can expect a good range of motion and may return to their preinjury level but may find difficulty in sporting activities due to persistent weakness. In their study they did not find any significant correlation between the length of time from rupture to repair with strength, function or activity scores.

Conflict of interest

There is no conflict of interest in the submitted research work.

References

- 1. Hoffman GO, Weber T, Lob G. Tendon rupture in chronic kidney insufficiency "uremic tendonopathy"? A literature supported documentation of 3 cases. *Chirurg.* 1990;61:434–437.
- 2. Zimmerman T, Kelm C, Heindrichs C, Herold G. Bilateral rupture of the

quadriceps tendon-case report and review of the literature. Zentralbl Chir. 1993;118:368-371.

- Wick M, Muller EJ, Ekkernkamp A, Muhr G. Missed diagnosis in delayed recognition of bilateral simultaneous rupture of the quadriceps tendons. Unfallchirurg, 1997;100:320–323.
- Wani NA, Malla HA, Kosar T, et al. Bilateral quadriceps tendon rupture as the presenting manifestation of chronic kidney disease. *Indian J Nephrol.* 2011;21: 48.
- Vemuri VN, Venkatesh M, Kada V, et al. Spontaneous bilateral quadriceps tendon rupture in a patient with renal failure. *BMJ Case Rep.* 2018. https:// doi.org/10.1136/bcr-2017-223191.
- Lombardi LJ, Cleri DJ, Epstein E. Bilateral spontaneous quadriceps tendon rupture in a patient with renal failure. Orthopedics. 1995;18:187–191.
- Bhole R, Flynn JC, Marbury TC. Quadriceps tendon ruptures in uremia. *Clin* Orthop. 1985;195:200–206.
- Chen CM, Chu P, Huang GS, et al. Spontaneous rupture of the patellar and contralateral quadriceps tendons associated with secondary hyperparathyroidism in a patient receiving long-term dialysis. *J Formos Med Assoc*. 2006;105: 941–945.
- Scuderi C. Ruptures of the quadriceps tendon: study on twenty tendon ruptures. Am J Surg. 1958;95:626–635.
- Konrath GA, Chen D, Terrence L, et al. Outcomes following repair of Quadriceps tendon ruptures. J Orthop Trauma. 1998;12(4):273–279.

Journal of Arthroscopy and Joint Surgery 5 (2018) 183-186

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Journal of Arthroscopy and Joint Surgery

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/jajs

Case report

Concomitant multiligamentous knee injury and patellar tendon tear-A rare injury pattern



Nikhil Verma^{*}, Harjoban Singh, Nazir Mohammad, Shekhar Srivastav

Delhi Institute of Trauma and Orthopaedics (DITO), Sant Parmanand Hospital, Civil Lines, Delhi, India

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 7 April 2018 Received in revised form 31 July 2018 Accepted 22 August 2018 Available online 23 August 2018

Keywords: Anterior cruciate ligament Medial collateral ligament Patellar tendon Repair Reconstruction

ABSTRACT

Multiligamentous knee injury (MLKI) is a difficult and devastating injury of the knee. These injuries are not so common. Anterior cruciate ligament, medial collateral ligament concomitant with patellar tendon tear is even rarer combination. To best of our knowledge, only few such cases with similar injury pattern have been reported in the literature. We report two such cases & highlight the mechanism, treatment and modified rehabilitation protocol. In acute setting, diagnosis may be difficult due to gross soft tissue swelling. Magnetic resonance imaging is an important diagnostic tool to know the extent and site of ligament tears & to avoid misdiagnosis. Simultaneous repair or reconstruction of all the structures in the grossly unstable knee with modified rehabilitation protocol can be performed to obtain optimal functional outcomes.

© 2018 Published by Elsevier, a division of RELX India, Pvt. Ltd on behalf of International Society for Knowledge for Surgeons on Arthroscopy and Arthroplasty.

1. Introduction

Multiligamentous knee injury (MLKI) is a difficult and devastating injury of the knee. MLKI is defined as tear/disruption (grade III) of at least 2 of the 4 major ligaments of the knee.¹ These complex injuries usually associated with knee dislocation that reduce spontaneously in more than 50% of the cases.² Most common injury pattern in a knee dislocation is anterior cruciate ligament (ACL) and medial collateral ligament (MCL).² These injuries are not so common. In the literature few case reports have been reported mentioning the combined ACL and patellar tendon (PT) ruptures.³ However, ACL + MCL concomitant with PT tear is even rarer combination. To best of our knowledge, only few such cases with similar injury pattern have been reported in the literature.^{2,4,5} Patellar tendon injury is easily missed due to other distracting injuries that take priority and a simultaneous injury may be overlooked. Tsarouhas et al. had reviewed 13 cases and found 1 patellar tendon tear and 5 ACL tear were missed during initial examination when these injuries occur simultaneously.⁶ Patellar tendon tear usually seen in younger population due to eccentric quadriceps contraction. Most of the time tear occurs at inferior pole of patella as a bony avulsion

* Corresponding author.

injury. These injuries require surgical management for favorable functional outcomes^{7,8}.

We report two such cases with ACL, MCL & lateral meniscal injury with concomitant PT tear & highlight the mechanism, treatment and rehabilitation protocol.

2. Case reports

2.1. Patient 1

A 20 year old young boy, student by occupation, presented with history of motor vehicle accident (MVA), pedestrian hit by a car with a close injury to left knee. Initially he was treated with knee brace somewhere else in view of soft tissue injury. He reported to us after 2 weeks with pain and swelling over left knee & inability to extend the knee completely. On clinical examination anterior drawer, lachman and valgus stress tests were found to be positive with extensor lag sign with no neurovascular deficit. Radiographic evaluation was performed, revealing bony avulsion of patellar tendon from inferior pole of patella and soft tissue swelling as shown in Fig. 1. Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) was done subsequently where ACL, MCL (tibial site avulsion), PT and lateral meniscus tear were noticed (Fig. 2).

After pre-anaesthetic clearance (PAC), patient underwent single stage surgical intervention of all the injured structures. First arthroscopic partial lateral menisectomy & ACL reconstruction was

E-mail addresses: drnikhilucms@gmail.com (N. Verma), harjoban81@gmail.com (H. Singh), nazirmohd1989@gmail.com (N. Mohammad), drssrivastav@hotmail.com (S. Srivastav).

^{2214-9635/© 2018} Published by Elsevier, a division of RELX India, Pvt. Ltd on behalf of International Society for Knowledge for Surgeons on Arthroscopy and Arthroplasty.



Fig. 1. X-ray of left knee AP & Lateral view (Arrow) showing bony avulsion fracture of inferior pole of patella: suggestive of patellar tendon avulsion.

performed by standard anatomical technique using Semitendinous gracilis (STG) graft harvested from contralateral side. After ACL reconstruction, MCL was repaired & augmented with ipsilateral STG graft. STG graft was prepared keeping its tibial site insertion intact and passed through the medial retinaculum. At medial epicondule level, a coronal tunnel was drilled in femur and then graft was secured with biointerference screw at femur site with knee in 30° flexion. Graft was then reflected back over the medial surface of tibia and secured with spiked metallic ligament staple just posterior to pesanserinus insertion to achieve two point fixation over tibia. This technique allow us to replicate the natural wide insertion of MCL over tibia. In the end PT repair was done using anterior longitudinal incision given directly over the tendon. No.5 Ethibond suture was used in Krackow fashion to prepare the PT. Then suture was passed through osseous tunnels drilled from inferior to superior pole of patella and tied over the superior pole. Thus a transosseous repair of the PT was achieved with knee in full extension (Fig. 3A and B).

In the post-operative period patient was given knee brace with knee in full extension for a period of 3 weeks and was followed up in clinics at 3 weeks for suture removal then monthly till 3 months and then 6 monthly till complete rehabilitation. After 3 weeks, patient was allowed partial weight bearing with support and active assisted range of motion (ROM) upto 60°. At 6–8 weeks, patient was allowed full weight bearing with continue knee ROM exercises beyond 60°. At 3 months of rehabilitation, patient was trained to develop quadriceps and hamstring control to achieve functionally stable knee. At 18 months follow up, patient had returned to his pre-injury activity level with Tegner activity level of 5, lysholm knee score was 83 with ROM from 0 to 120° as compared to normal contralateral side with no laxity/instability.

2.2. Patient 2

A 34 year old gentleman, government clerk by occupation, presented to us with closed injury to right knee with complaining of pain, swelling & inability to do active extension. Mode of injury was high velocity injury in the form of fall from bike after hit by a car (MVA). Patient was treated with knee brace for 3 weeks somewhere else due to negative findings on plain radiographs. Upon clinical examination, multiligamentous knee injury was suspected due to positive lachman, valgus stress tests with terminal extension lag. MRI confirmed the clinical findings, revealing ACL, MCL, PT tear and lateral meniscal injury (Fig. 4).

3 weeks from the injury patient underwent single stage surgical repair/reconstruction of all the structures as described earlier. PT tear involving 50% of the tendon was found avulsed from inferior pole which was repaired with No.5 Ethibond suture by the previously described technique. Patient was followed at clinics in similar manner with same modified rehabilitation protocol as was the previous patient treated. At 12 months follow up, patient had reached his pre-injury status with Tegner activity level of 4, lysholm knee score of 79 & ROM from 5 to 125° as compared to normal other side with no significant laxity/instability.

In both the cases, due to scarcity of grafts, ACL reconstruction was performed using STG graft harvested from contralateral side. No donor side morbidity in terms of muscle weakness, neurological deficit were noticed.

3. Discussion

Combined ACL & PT injuries have been described in the literature largely as case reports as shown in the study of Malvasi S et al.⁷ – a review of case reports. However, there is paucity of literature



Fig. 2. MRI (Sagittal & Coronal) images of patient 1, Arrows denote Patellar Tendon tear, buckling of Posterior cruciate ligament suggestive of ACL injury & Medial collateral ligament avulsion from femur side.





b)

Fig. 3. (3A & 3B): showing Medial collateral ligament repair with augmentation by ipsilateral STG graft & transosseous repair of avulsed patellar tendon.

over MLKI (ACL + MCL) with PT injury in terms of mechanism of injury, definitive treatment and rehabilitation guidelines. Tsarouhas et al.⁶ introduced a possible mechanism of injury in combined ACL + PT injury. A sudden anterior tibial translation followed by eccentric quadriceps contraction in a partially flexed knee seems to be a common injury pattern. Thus ACL tears first followed by PT.⁶ While Wissman R et al.⁹ reported a component of valgus stress is

required for concomitant MCL tears in patients with ACL & PT tears. The major concern with these complex injuries is to achieve stability with full ROM of the knee post-operatively. Kovachevich et al.¹⁰ had concluded poor healing capacity of full thickness tear of MCL in severely traumatized knees. Thus good results are obtained only with direct repair or reconstruction with STG autograft. PT repairs in acute setting is mandatory to yield good functional outcomes.¹¹ However, ACL reconstruction gives better results with full ROM prior to surgery.¹² There is also difference in postoperative rehabilitation protocol of PT repair which needs delay in range of motion exercises for healing. While ACL + MCL reconstruction requires early aggressive ROM exercises to prevent postoperative arthrofibrosis. Futch et al.¹³ in his study addressed both ACL + PTinjury simultaneously. Despite the early ROM rehabilitation protocol, patient developed knee arthrofibrosis and underwent for adhesiolysis. While Kim et al.¹⁴ managed the similar case (ACL + MCL + PT tear) as a single stage procedure and found favorable outcomes in the follow up. Delay in addressing the PT injury results in quadriceps atrophy, extensor lag, patella alta with retraction of tendon thus makes the repair more difficult.¹⁴ Brunkhorst J et al.² reported the two similar cases where he staged the surgical procedure. He repaired the PT and MCL tear in the acute setting while posterolateral corner (PLC) injury was addressed later on at the time of ACL reconstruction. According to Brunkhorst J et al.,² stage reconstruction decreases the operative time, postoperative knee stiffness & vields better functional outcomes. Our single stage repair/reconstruction approach with individualized rehabilitation protocol has also given better functional out comes in terms of ROM & stability with no revision surgical intervention. In both cases, MCL repair was always being augmented with STG graft with our two point anatomical fixation technique. Only 3 weeks immobilization with brace in full extension was enough for initial protection of the PT repair. This was followed by gradually increasing ROM exercises. Thus with this treatment and rehabilitation strategy, in both the cases we found no postoperative stiffness, extensor lag & ligament laxity. As there is paucity of literature over optimal treatment guidelines for these multiligamentous knee injury cases, we took consideration into simultaneous/single stage reconstruction on following grounds: 1) Complete tear of MCL was causing the severe joint instability 2) the patients were relatively young 3) stage repair would have



Fig. 4. MRI (Sagittal & Coronal) images of patient 2, Arrows showing Anterior cruciate ligament fibre discontinuity, Patellar Tendon tear & Medial collateral ligament avulsion from femur side with tortuosity due to laxity/tear of ligament.

Table 1

Reported cases of Concomitant multiligamentous knee injury and patellar tendon tear with surgical intervention performed.

Year	Sex	Age	Mode of Injury	Surgical Intervention
1991 ⁵	F	25	Sports injury	Not reported
1996 ⁴ (4 cases)	М	36	Sports injury	Single stage
	М	20	Sports injury	Not reported
	М	23	Motorcycle accident	Not reported
	Μ	23	Sports injury	Two stage
2011 ⁶	Μ	38	Martial arts	Not reported
2014 ¹⁴	Μ	32	Sports injury	Single stage
2015 ²	Μ	32	Bicycle accident	Two stage
	Μ	27	Sports injury	Two stage
*Current study	Μ	20	Motor vehicle accident	Single stage
(2018-2 cases)				
	Μ	34	Motor cycle accident	Single stage

prolonged the treatment 4) intraarticular concomitant lesions could have been undetected and to avoid second surgical procedure thus accelerating the rehabilitation program. Surgical planning also depends on soft tissue status, patient's activity level and surgeon's experience. These strategies were also supported by Kim et al.¹⁴ in his study with favorable functional outcomes. Table 1 showing all the previously reported similar cases with their line of surgical intervention.

Misdiagnosis with delay in treatment is common entity with these complex injury pattern. Rae PJ et al.⁵ found PT tear incidentally during surgical repair of acute ACL and MCL tears due to swelling masked the defect in PT and radiographs showed a normally positioned patella.

4. Conclusion

Concomitant MLKI (ACL + MCL) and PT tear is a rare injury pattern. In acute setting, diagnosis may be difficult due to gross soft tissue swelling. MRI is an important diagnostic tool to know the extent and site of ligament tears & to avoid misdiagnosis. Rapid deceleration in flexed and valgus knee followed by eccentric quadriceps contraction is most possible mechanism of this combined injury. Simultaneous repair or reconstruction of all the structures in the grossly unstable knee with modified rehabilitation protocol can be performed to obtain optimal functional outcomes. Although, there is no gold standard surgical treatment algorithm available in the literature. Future studies with large population size are needed to describe optimal treatment guidelines and rehabilitation strategy to achieve better functional outcomes in such complex injuries.

Conflict of interest

The authors of the study have no conflict of interest.

Funding

There is no funding source for this study.

- Charles L, Kurt PS, et al. Multiligamentous knee injuries- Surgical treatment algorithm. N Am J Sports Phys Ther. 2008;3:198–203.
- Brunkhorst J, Johnson LD. Multiligamentous knee injury concomitant with a patellar tendon rupture. Orthopaedics. 2015;38:45–48.
- Malvasi S, Gloyeske B, et al. Multiligamentous knee injury in sports involving concomitant anterior cruciate ligament and patellar tendon disruption: a review of case reports. Int J Athl Ther Train. 2016;21:24–27.
- Levakos Y, Sherman MF, et al. Simultaneous rupture of the anterior cruciate ligament and the patellar tendon: six case reports. *Am J Sports Med.* 1996;24: 498–503.
- Rae PJ, Davies DR, et al. Simultaneous rupture of the ligamentum patellae, medial collateral and anterior cruciate ligaments: a case report. *Am J Sports Med.* 1991;19:529–530.
- Tsarouhas A, Iosifidis M, et al. Combined rupture of the patellar tendon, anterior cruciate ligament and lateral meniscus: a case report and a review of literature. *Hippokratia*. 2011;15:178–180.
- Baere DT, Muylder DJ, et al. An unusual knee trauma: combined rupture of medial collateral ligament and patellar tendon. *Case Rep Orthop.* 2014:1–4, 2014.
- 8. Williams L, Wilkins R, et al. Patellar Tendon Rupture. Rockwood & Green's Fracture in Adults. fifth ed. vol. 2. 2001:1858–1863.
- Wissman R, Vonfischer N, et al. Acute concomitant anterior cruciate ligament and patellar tendon tears in a non-dislocated knee. J Clin Imag Sci. 2012;2:1–4.
- Kovachevich R, Shah PJ, et al. Operative management of the medial collateral ligament in the multiligament injured knee: an evidence based systematic review. *Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc.* 2009;17:823–829.
- Siwek CW, Rao JP. Ruptures of the extensor mechanism of the knee joint. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 1981;63:932–937.
- Robertson GA, Coleman SGS, et al. Knee stiffness following anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction: the incidence and associated factors. *Knee*. 2009;16: 245–247.
- Futch LA, Garth WP, et al. Acute rupture of the anterior cruciate ligament and patellar tendon in a collegiate athlete. *Arthroscopy*. 2007;23:112.e1–112.e4.
- Kim DH, Lee GC, et al. Acute simultaneous ruptures of the anterior cruciate ligament and patellar tendon. *Knee Surg Relat Res.* 2014;26:56–60.

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect



Journal of Arthroscopy and Joint Surgery



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/jajs

Research paper

Midterm results of reconstruction of femoral defects with cementless femoral components in revision hip arthroplasty for aseptic loosening



Rakesh John^{*}, Amit Singh, Anuj Jain, Simon Thomas, Shekhar Agarwal, Sunny Agarwal, Nitesh Jajodia

Delhi Institute of Trauma & Orthopaedics (DITO), Sant Parmanand Hospital, New Delhi, India

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 13 January 2018 Accepted 15 February 2018 Available online 21 February 2018

Keywords: Arthroplasty Revision Hip Aseptic loosening Uncemented femoral component

ABSTRACT

Objectives: To retrospectively review the mid-term outcomes of cementless femoral components used during revision arthroplasty.

Methods: Records of 52 hips with 28 women and 24 men (mean age 61.1 years) were reviewed in which cementless femoral revision was performed for aseptic loosening of the femoral component by a single senior surgeon. The clinical outcome was assessed using the Harris Hip Score. Radiological parameters followed were osseointegration, subsidence, remodelling and heterotropic ossification.

Results: Mean follow-up period was 8.1 years. The mean Harris hip score improved from 32 to 81.8. Subsidence >10 mm was noted in four hips within the first 6 months which was non-progressive. Osseointegration was noted in 42 hips; stable, fibrous integration was noted in the other 10 hips. Extended trochanteric osteotomy united in all cases (mean 5.2 months).

Conclusions: Both extensively porous-coated cylindrical stems and tapered, fluted long stems provide excellent outcomes and survival in reconstruction of femoral defects.

© 2018 Published by Elsevier, a division of RELX India, Pvt. Ltd on behalf of International Society for Knowledge for Surgeons on Arthroscopy and Arthroplasty.

1. Introduction

The number of total hip arthroplasty (THA) procedures is consistently increasing due to the expanded indications, the ageing population and advances in surgical expertise and technology.^{1–3} As a consequence, revision hip arthroplasty procedures have also increased and have become the focus of hip arthroplasty. By 2026, the number of revision hip arthroplasty procedures has been projected to increase twofold.²

Aseptic loosening of the femoral and acetabular components remains one of the major indications for revision hip arthroplasty.⁴ The prevalence of aseptic loosening in most series beyond ten years is reported to be between 32% and 62% depending on the type of prosthesis used.^{1,4,5} Obtaining a stable fixation of the femoral component in revision hip arthroplasty associated with femoral bone loss is technically demanding; poor bone stock and inherent difficulties of removing a well-fixed uncemented or cemented implant often complicates the procedure.¹,6,7 A variety of implants

E-mail address: rakeshjohn23@gmail.com (R. John).

and surgical techniques are available to the surgeon to achieve stable fixation of the implant, 1,6

The purpose of this retrospective study was to assess the clinico-radiological, mid-term outcomes associated with the use of uncemented femoral components (extensively porous-coated cylindrical stem and tapered, fluted long stems) in revision THA done for aseptic loosening of the femoral component with femoral bone defects/osteolysis.

2. Materials and methods

Between 2003 and 2012, 56 consecutive cases of revision hip arthroplasty were performed for aseptic loosening of the femoral component with femoral bone loss. Cases of septic loosening, periprosthetic fractures and cemented revision stems were excluded for the purpose of this study. Among these 56 cases, three patients died due to reasons unrelated to the arthroplasty and one patient was lost to follow-up; these four cases were excluded from the study. For the final analysis, we were left with 52 patients out of whom 28 were females and 24 were males. All surgeries were performed by a single senior surgeon (S.A). The mean age of the patients at the time of the revision surgery was 61.1 years (Range: 29–83 years). The mean duration of follow-up was 8.1 years (Range: 5–14 years; minimum follow-up 60 months).

2214-9635/© 2018 Published by Elsevier, a division of RELX India, Pvt. Ltd on behalf of International Society for Knowledge for Surgeons on Arthroscopy and Arthroplasty.

^{*} Corresponding author at: Delhi Institute of Trauma & Orthopaedics, Sant Parmanand Hospital, New Delhi 110054, India.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jajs.2018.02.006

All the study operations were first revisions. The acetabular component was also revised in 33 (63.5%) cases. The femoral component used was either an extensively porous-coated cylindrical stem – VerSys[®] Beaded Full Coat Revision stem or a cylindrical, fluted, tapered long stem – Wagner Self-Locking (SL) Revision[®] hip stem (Zimmer, Inc, Warsaw, IN).

Demographic data, primary diagnosis, type of fixation used for the primary implant, interval between primary and revision surgery and details of revision surgery (surgical approach, details of osteotomy for implant removal if used, type of implant, intraoperative and postoperative complications) were noted on a pre-designed proforma. Leukocyte counts, erythrocyte sedimentation rate (ESR) and C-reactive protein (CRP) levels were obtained for all patients; if any doubt for infection, a hip aspiration was performed to rule out infection.

Preoperative radiographs included anteroposterior (AP) and lateral views of the affected hip and femur and an AP view of the pelvis with both hips. Templating was performed to estimate the length and diameter of the stem so that a scratch-fit could be obtained in 4 to 6 cm of diaphyseal bone. The femoral bone loss was assessed both preoperatively (on plain radiographs) and intraoperatively after implant removal using the Paprosky classification.^{8–10} The categories which include femoral osteolysis according to this classification are type 2 (metaphyseal damage), types 3A and 3B (metadiaphyseal bone deficiency with or without the reliability of a minimum 4 cm scratch-fit respectively) and type 4 (extensive metadiaphyseal precluding distal fixation). (Fig. 2).

All surgeries were performed in the lateral decubitus position; the posterolateral (Moore's) extensile approach was used in all cases. An Extended Trochanteric Osteotomy (ETO) was performed in 21 (40.4%) patients for removal of the cement mantle. Cerclage wires were used for the fixation of the osteotomy; supplementary bone grafting was not used for any osteotomy. In all cases a nonmodular, distal diaphyseal-fixing, uncemented femoral component was used. In 29 cases, a Wagner Self-Locking (SL) Revision[®] hip stem (Zimmer, Inc, Warsaw, IN) was used (seven type II defects, eight type IIIA defects, nine type IIIB defects and five type IV defects). In 23 cases, an extensively porous coated, cylidrical stem-VerSys[®] Beaded Full Coat Revision stem (Zimmer, Inc, Warsaw, IN) was used (one type II defect, 14 type IIIA defects, four type IIIB defects and four type IV defects).

Follow-up visits were undertaken at 3 weeks, 12 weeks, 6 months, 12 months and annually thereafter. The Harris Hip Score (HHS) was calculated preoperatively and at every follow-up visit by the senior surgeon (SA).¹⁵ Plain radiographs (AP view of the pelvis and AP, lateral views of affected femur) were obtained in the immediate postoperative period, at 6 months and annually thereafter; the immediate postoperative radiograph served as the baseline radiograph for all future radiological comparisons. All radiographs were reviewed by a single observer who was not involved in the clinical management of the patient (NJ). The ETO was considered to be healed if the patient had painless weight-

Table 1

bearing clinically with visible callus formation in both AP and lateral radiographs.

Osseointegration was assessed using the criteria of Engh et al.¹⁰ The stem fixation was classified into three types: (i) stable implant with bony ingrowth (implant with no progressive migration plus minimal/absent radio-opaque line formation around the stem), (ii) stable with fibrous ingrowth (no progressive migration of the stem and extensive radio-opaque line formation) or (iii) unstable implant (progressive subsidence and divergent radiolucent lines around the stem).¹¹

Subsidence of the implant was measured according to the method described by Callaghan et al.¹² The subsidence was considered significant only if it exceeded 10 mm.¹³ The classification of Kolstad et al.¹³ was utilised to classify remodelling in the proximal femur: A (increasing defects), B (stable defects) or C (osseous restoration). The cortical index proposed by Callaghan et al.¹² was also measured and documented. Intraoperative periprosthetic fractures were classified according to the modified Vancouver classification.¹⁴,15 Any heterotropic ossification detected was graded according to the Brooker et al.¹⁶ classification.

3. Results

The primary pathology of the hip for which a primary THA was performed has been summarised in Table 1. The mean time interval between the primary surgery and the revision surgery was 9.8 years (Range: 3–30 years). All the patients presented with groin pain and limp. Twenty-seven patients (51.9%) had progressive shortening with a short limb gait.

The old femoral component extracted was a cemented implant in 36 hips (69.2% of cases) and an uncemented implant in 16 hips. According to the Paprosky classification,³³,37 the osteolysis was classified as follows: eight patients had type II defect, 22 patients had type IIIA defect, 13 patients had type IIIB defect and nine patients had type IV defect (Fig. 1).

Clinical results

The mean HHS improved from a preoperative value of 32 (Range: 12–70) to a postoperative value of 81.8 (range 37–96; p-value < 0.001). The mean age at the last clinical follow-up was 69.1 years.

Radiological results

Evidence of bony ingrowth was noted in 42 patients (80.1% cases). Fibrous integration (periprosthetic radiolucent line) was noted in ten cases. At the time of the last follow-up none of the cases in this series had any evidence of a loose/unstable implant. The ETO united in all patients between 3 and 8 months post surgery (mean time to union: 5.2 months). Significant subsidence (>10 mm) was noted in four cases (maximum of 15 mm). In all

Sl no.	Primary diagnosis	No. of Cases	Percentage of total cases
1	Fracture neck of the femur	18	34.5
2	Femoral head avascular necrosis (AVN)	7	13.4
3	Inflammatory arthritis (rheumatoid arthritis and ankylosing spondylitis)	4	7.7
4	Primary osteoarthritis of hip	4	7.7
5	Secondary osteoarthritis of hip (excluding AVN hip aetiology)	17	32.7
6	Developmental dysplasia of hip (DDH)	1	1.9
7	Intertrochanteric fracture with a failed DHS implant in-situ	1	1.9



Fig 1. Radiographs showing aseptic loosening of femoral component arranged according to the Paprosky classification (A) Type II defect (B) Type IIIA defect (C) Type IIIB defect (D) Type IV defect.



Femoral Osteolysis

Fig. 2. Graph showing the distribution of our cases when classified according to the Paprosky classification³³,37.

these four cases, subsidence occurred in the first six months after surgery; no further subsidence was observed on further follow-up. Radiological signs of bone restoration were seen in 26 hips (81.3%).

Complications

One patient with a Paprosky type IIIA defect had an intraoperative fracture of the greater trochanter (Vancouver Classification- A_G) for which an encirclage was added; the fracture united in 8 weeks. One patient had a foot drop in the immediate postoperative period for which an ankle foot orthosis was applied and the patient was kept non-weight bearing for 12 weeks. The nerve deficit recovered completely within three months. Two patients had Brooker grade 1 heterotropic ossification which was not symptomatic. No cases of periprosthetic joint infection or postoperative hip dislocation were noted. One hip required rerevision after ten years due to loosening of the acetabular component. None of the femoral components needed revision at the last follow-up (Figs. 3–7).

4. Discussion

Obtaining a stable and durable fixation of the revision femoral component in an osteolytic femur is challenging even to the most experienced hip arthroplasty surgeons.¹ The key to a successful revision of the femoral stem in the face of bone loss is to ensure early stability and preservation of the normal biomechanics of the hip. Various implants and fixation strategies have been used over the course of time to achieve this objective. Despite improvements in cementing techniques, the re-revision rates of cemented femoral components have only increased with time and the radiologic loosening rates are still high.^{17–19} Early review of cemented stems showed progressive failure over five to ten years, mainly secondary to aseptic loosening.²⁰

The uncemented extensively porous coated, cylindrical, longstem implant and fluted, tapered, long-stem implant (Wagner SL Revision system[®]) have both been the workhorse implants in the revision scenario.¹ Both these implants obtain purchase in the diaphysis, bypassing the metaphyseal and/or diaphyseal defects and provide initial stability to allow time for bony ingrowth.^{6,21}

The long-term results for extensively porous-coated cementless implants have consistently been good and an excellent survivorship has been described in different series.^{1,6,10,22} Hamilton et al.²² described 905 femoral revisions with extensively porous-coated stems and observed a low incidence of aseptic loosening (1.3%) and re-revision rate (2.2%). The Kaplan-Meier survivorship, using stem re-revision as the end point, was 97.5% ± 1.3% (95% confidence intervals) at 5 years and 95.9% ± 1.9% at 10 years.²²

Weeden and Paprosky¹⁰ in their study of 170 patients (mean follow-up of 14.2 years and minimal follow-up of 11 years) reported radiographic evidence of bony ingrowth in 82% hips, stable fibrous fixation in 14% cases (i.e. >95% cases had stable, biologic fixation of the implant at 11 to 16 years after revision surgery) and unstable fixation only in 4% cases with an overall total mechanical failure rate of 4.1%. Almost half the cases in the series (48%) had a Paprosky type IIIA femoral defect. Though stress shielding and femoral osteolysis was observed in their series, it never went on to become a clinically significant issue nor did these factors compromise the stability of the implant.¹⁰However, results



Fig. 3. (A) Pre-operative radiograph showing severe stress shielding and paper-thin cortex (B) One year post revision surgery with Wagner SL stem (C, D) Five years post-operative radiograph showing a well-fixed and osseointegrated implant and good consolidation of the osteotomy.



Fig. 4. (A) Radiograph of a loosened isoelastic stem 15 years after primary THA in a 51-year-old female with type II Paprosky defect (B) Revision of stem with an extensively porous coated long stem (C) Ten years post surgery showing stable, well-fixed implant and good consolidation of ETO.

of this stem are comparatively poorer in larger femoral defects (Paprosky type IIIB and IV). $^{1,6,10}_{}$

The Wagner stem, which was developed in 1987, is a straight, fluted, tapered, long stem with a grit-blasted surface used for cementless femoral revision. The longitudinal flutes and three point fixation principle provide rotational stability to the implant in the femoral canal whereas the tapered geometry contributes to the axial stability.^{21,23,24} Multiple studies have reported >90% survival after five to ten years and it has been a very popular implant in the armoury of the revision arthroplasty



Fig. 5. (A) Radiograph of an 81 year old man with severe aseptic loosening of a Charnley stem with a Paprosky type IIIA defect (B) Immediate postoperative radiograph (C) Radiograph at 8-year follow-up showing a stable implant and healed osteotomy.



Fig. 6. (A)Aseptic loosening 16 years after primary THA with a grade IIIB Paprosky defect (B) Postoperative radiograph after revision with a Wagner stem (C) Radiograph at 10 years follow-up showing good osseointegration and a healed, consolidated osteotomy.

surgeon.¹⁵,21,25–28 However, it is associated with complications like increased rates of subsidence and instability which has led to the development of modular, fluted, tapered stems.²⁹

Modularity offers the advantages of adjustment in leg length and rotation, anteversion, offset and proximal fill; however, these advantages over the non-modular, uncemented stems have not been clearly demonstrated in practice. Although the mid-term results with the modular, fluted, tapered stems have been excellent, these implants have their own set of complications^{1,6,21,29}. The disadvantages of modular stems include fretting corrosion at hardware junctions and the increased cost, complexity and rates of stem fractures. Removal of the modular implants, if required, can also be a tough proposition fraught with complications.^{19,29–31}

Subsidence is a common complication of distal fixation stems although the exact clinical significance is unknown.⁷,21,32 In our

series, only four cases had a significant level of early subsidence (7.7% cases). All stems however settled within a year and were clinically asymptomatic. This result correlates with the observations of other studies reporting subsidence of uncemented, distal fixing long stems.^{31,33,34} Subsidence of a cementless femoral component early in the postoperative course may allow the stem to attain a more stable position within the femoral canal. Bone ingrowth may still occur and early subsidence is compatible with a durable implant fixation. On the other hand, subsidence which develops months or years after surgery generally implies that the implant is unstable.^{1,7,21} The determination of small amounts of subsidence on serial plain radiographs is difficult because of differences in magnification, positioning on serial films and stress-related rounding of the calcar. Roentgen stereo photogrammetric analysis (RSA) allows precise determination of subsidence;



Fig. 7. (A) Aseptic loosening 11 years after primary THA in a 75-year-old male with a type IIIB Paprosky defect (B) Five year postoperative radiograph showing a wellintegrated Wagner stem and healed osteotomy.

however, these are expensive and not available for routine use in most centers.

This study has its share of limitations which are the retrospective study design, relatively small sample size and absence of a control cohort. Nevertheless, the results of this study clearly demonstrate that uncemented femoral components provide excellent results in revision THA in patients with aseptic loosening of femoral stem. In summary, the primary implant stability is the key to success in revision of the femoral component in the face of bone loss. This can be best achieved by a non-modular or modular, distally-engaging cementless stem. Both extensively porous-coated and tapered, fluted long stems (Wagner SL stems) have an excellent clinicoradiological mid-term outcome and survival rates.

Financial disclosure

None.

Conflict of interest

None.

Acknowledgement

We thank Mrs. Meena Rohtagi for her assistance in data collection and image editing.

- 1. Brown JM, Mistry JB, Cherian JJ, et al. Femoral component revision of total hip arthroplasty. *Orthopedics*. 2016;39(November 1 (6)):e1129–1139.
- 2. Kurtz S, Ong K, Lau E, Mowat F, Halpern M. Projections of primary and revision hip and knee arthroplasty in the United States from 2005 to 2030. *J Bone Joint Surg Am.* 2007;89(April (4)):780–785.
- Lohmander LS, Engesaeter LB, Herberts P, Ingvarsson T, Lucht U, Puolakka TJS. Standardized incidence rates of total hip replacement for primary hip osteoarthritis in the 5 Nordic countries: similarities and differences. Acta Orthop. 2006;77(October (5)):733–740.
- Bozic KJ, Kurtz SM, Lau E, Ong K, Vail TP, Berry DJ. The epidemiology of revision total hip arthroplasty in the United States. *J Bone Joint Surg Am.* 2009;91 (January (1)):128–133.
- Ulrich SD, Seyler TM, Bennett D, et al. Total hip arthroplasties: what are the reasons for revision? Int Orthop. 2008;32(October (5)):597–604.
- Sakellariou VI, Babis GC. Management bone loss of the proximal femur in revision hip arthroplasty: update on reconstructive options. World J Orthop. 2014;5(November 18 (5)):614–622.
- Sheth NP, Nelson CL, Paprosky WG. Femoral bone loss in revision total hip arthroplasty: evaluation and management. J Am Acad Orthop Surg. 2013;21 (October (10)):601–612.
- Paprosky WG, Aribindi R. Hip replacement: treatment of femoral bone loss using distal bypass fixation. *Instr Course Lect.* 2000;49:119–130.
- Valle CJD, Paprosky WG. Classification and algorithmic approach to the reconstruction of femoral deficiency in revision total hip arthroplasty. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 2003;85-A(Suppl 4):1–6.
- Weeden SH, Paprosky WG. Minimal 11-year follow-up of extensively porouscoated stems in femoral revision total hip arthroplasty. *J Arthroplasty*. 2002;17 (June (4 Suppl 1)):134–137.
- Engh CA, Bobyn JD, Glassman AH. Porous-coated hip replacement. The factors governing bone ingrowth, stress shielding, and clinical results. *J Bone Joint Surg* Br. 1987;69(January (1)):45–55.

- Callaghan JJ, Salvati EA, Pellicci PM, Wilson PD, Ranawat CS. Results of revision for mechanical failure after cemented total hip replacement, 1979 to 1982. A two to five-year follow-up. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 1985;67(September (7)):1074– 1085.
- Kolstad K, Adalberth G, Mallmin H, Milbrink J, Sahlstedt B. The Wagner revision stem for severe osteolysis. 31 hips followed for 1.5–5 years. *Acta Orthop Scand*. 1996;67(December (6)):541–544.
- 14. Duncan CP, Masri BA. Fractures of the femur after hip replacement. *Instr Course Lect*. 1995;44:293–304.
- Greidanus NV, Mitchell PA, Masri BA, Garbuz DS, Duncan CP. Principles of management and results of treating the fractured femur during and after total hip arthroplasty. *Instr Course Lect.* 2003;52:309–322.
- Brooker AF, Bowerman JW, Robinson RA, Riley LH. Ectopic ossification following total hip replacement: incidence and a method of classification. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 1973;55(December (8)):1629–1632.
- Eisler T, Svensson O, Iyer V, et al. Revision total hip arthroplasty using thirdgeneration cementing technique. J Arthroplasty. 2000;15(December (8)):974– 981.
- Moreland JR, Moreno MA. Cementless femoral revision arthroplasty of the hip: minimum 5 years followup. Clin Orthop. 2001;393(December):194–201.
- Mroczkowski ML, Hertzler JS, Humphrey SM, Johnson T, Blanchard CR. Effect of impact assembly on the fretting corrosion of modular hip tapers. J Orthop Res Off Publ Orthop Res Soc. 2006;24(February (2)):271–279.
- Pellicci PM, Wilson PD, Sledge CB, et al. Long-term results of revision total hip replacement: a follow-up report. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 1985;67(April (4)):513– 516.
- Regis D, Sandri A, Bonetti I, Braggion M, Bartolozzi P. Femoral revision with the Wagner tapered stem: a ten- to 15-year follow-up study. J Bone Joint Surg Br. 2011;93(October (10)):1320–1326.
- Hamilton WG, Cashen DV, Ho H, Hopper RH, Engh CA. Extensively porouscoated stems for femoral revision: a choice for all seasons. J Arthroplasty. 2007;22(June (4 Suppl 1)):106–110.

- 23. Wagner H. Revision prosthesis for the hip joint in severe bone loss. *Orthopade*. 1987;16(August (4)):295–300.
- Wagner H. A revision prosthesis for the hip joint. Orthopade. 1989;18 (September (5)):438–453.
- Bircher HP, Riede U, Lüem M, Ochsner PE. The value of the Wagner SL revision prosthesis for bridging large femoral defects. *Orthopade*. 2001;30(May (5)):294–303.
- Isacson J, Stark A, Wallensten R. The Wagner revision prosthesis consistently restores femoral bone structure. *Int Orthop.* 2000;24(3):139–142.
- Mantelos G, Koulouvaris P, Kotsovolos H, Xenakis T. Consistent new bone formation in 95 revisions: average 9-year follow-up. Orthopedics. 2008;31(July (7)):654.
- Weber M, Hempfing A, Orler R, Ganz R. Femoral revision using the Wagner stem: results at 2–9 years. Int Orthop. 2002;26(1):36–39.
- 29. Lakstein D, Backstein D, Safir O, Kosashvili Y, Gross AE. Revision total hip arthroplasty with a porous-coated modular stem: 5 to 10 years follow-up. *Clin Orthop*. 2010;468(May (5)):1310–1315.
- Barrack RL. Orthopaedic crossfire–Stem modularity is unnecessary in revision total hip arthroplasty: in the affirmative. J Arthroplasty. 2003;18(April (3 Suppl. 1)):98–100.
- Böhm P, Bischel O. Femoral revision with the Wagner SL revision stem: evaluation of one hundred and twenty-nine revisions followed for a mean of 4.8 years. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 2001;83–A(July (7)):1023–1031.
- McInnis DP, Horne G, Devane PA. Femoral revision with a fluted, tapered, modular stem seventy patients followed for a mean of 3.9 years. J Arthroplasty. 2006;21(April (3)):372–380.
- Grünig R, Morscher E. Ochsner PE: Three-to 7-year results with the uncemented SL femoral revision prosthesis. Arch Orthop Trauma Surg. 1997;116(4):187–197.
- 34. Paprosky WG, Greidanus NV, Antoniou J. Minimum 10-year-results of extensively porous-coated stems in revision hip arthroplasty. *Clin Orthop*. 1999;369(December):230–242.

Journal of Arthroscopy and Joint Surgery 5 (2018) 194-197

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Journal of Arthroscopy and Joint Surgery

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/jajs

Research paper

Potential damage to the femoral neurovasculature during approach to the hip

Sean M. Mitchell ^{a, b, *}, Ryan P. Mitchell ^c, Michael W. Mitchell ^d

^a University of Arizona, Department of Orthopaedic Surgery, Phoenix, AZ, USA

^b University of Illinois, Department of Orthopaedic Surgery, Chicago, IL, USA

^c Columbia University, Department of Radiology, New York, NY, USA

^d Naperville Radiologists S.C., Naperville, IL, USA

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 16 February 2018 Accepted 2 September 2018 Available online 4 September 2018

ABSTRACT

Introduction: Femoral neurovascular injury is an uncommon, but potentially devastating complication following surgical approaches to the hip. The intraoperative misplacement of the anterior acetabular retractor is the most commonly cited mechanism for this injury yet there is no gold standard for a proper insertion location in the literature We examined the course of the femoral neurovasculature about the hip to identify safest location for retractor insertion and furthermore demographic populations who are at-risk for injury due to a decreased distance between the hip joint and the femoral neurovasculature. *Methods:* A total of 100 non-pathologic hip magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) studies from adult patients were included. Patients were chosen at random from our medical center's digital radiographic archive and their demographic data recorded. Mean distances between the anterior acetabular wall and the femoral artery were measured at three axial levels (acetabular dome, superior iliopectineal ridge, and inferior iliopectineal ridge).

Results: Our data showed the femoral neurovascular structures pass closer in proximity to the acetabular wall as they progress distally about the hip. An average direct separation distance of 40.1 mm was seen at the acetabular dome while measurements at the inferior iliopectineal ridge demonstrated an average distance of 20.5 mm. Additionally, statistically significant (p < 0.05) decreases in distances between acetabulum and femoral neurovasculature were found in patients that were female, >45 years-old, <1.7 m, and <75 kg.

Discussion: By undertaking a large-scale MRI evaluation of the femoral neurovasculature about the hip, not only were we able to approximate the location of the femoral neurovascular bundle as it passes the hip joint, but also the safest location for insertion of anterior acetabular retractors at the level of the acetabular dome or above in close proximity to the bony cortex. Additional care should be taken placing retractors in patients when demographic risk factors including female gender, age >45 years old, stature <1.7 m, and body mass <75 kg are present.

© 2018 Published by Elsevier, a division of RELX India, Pvt. Ltd on behalf of International Society for Knowledge for Surgeons on Arthroscopy and Arthroplasty.

1. Introduction

An estimated 400,000 \pm total hip arthroplasties (THA) will be performed yearly throughout the United States by the year 2026. 1

And while THA has repeatedly been shown to be a highly successful procedure,^{2,3} it is not completely free from risk. Neural and vascular injuries occur in 0.09%–3.7% and 0.1%–0.2% of primary THAs respectively.⁴ Femoral neurovascular injury is an uncommon, but potentially devastating complication of THA. These injuries can cause lower extremity weakness, chronic pain or parenthesis, paralysis, amputation, and in rare cases even death.^{4–6} A variety of possible mechanisms have been identified as sources for these injuries including hematoma formation, cement extrusion and nerve lengthening.^{4,7} However, the misplacement of anterior acetabular retractor around the acetabulum is the most commonly cited

2214-9635/© 2018 Published by Elsevier, a division of RELX India, Pvt. Ltd on behalf of International Society for Knowledge for Surgeons on Arthroscopy and Arthroplasty.







^{*} Corresponding author. Department of Orthopaedic Surgery, University of Arizona College of Medicine Phoenix, 1320 N 10th Street, Suite A, Phoenix, AZ, 85006, USA.

E-mail addresses: smmitche5@gmail.com, sean.mitchell@bannerhealth.com (S.M. Mitchell).

source of injury in the literature.^{7–10}

Despite this known and established risk, literature has sparse examinations concerning the course of the femoral neurovascular structures about the acetabulum or the proper location for retractor placement. Additionally, most of the research in this area has been performed on cadaveric specimens.⁹ In an effort to improve anatomic understanding and surgical technique, the present study sought to define the location of the neurovascular bundle as it relates to the acetabulum in living human subjects without altering tissue tension, tissue fluid content or structure displacement that would all occur from cadaveric dissection studies. Our secondary goal was to investigate the impact of patient demographic factors on the course of the femoral neurovascular bundle in relation to the acetabulum.

2. Methods

After obtaining Institutional Review Board approval, we retrospectively reviewed our medical center's Picture Archiving and Communication Software (PACS) (General Electric Medical Systems, Milwaukee, WI) for all magnetic resonance imaging studies of the hip performed from February 2001 to February 2015. In an attempt to include natural variation of hip anatomy a total of 100 patients were randomly selected for inclusion. Patients were required to be 18-years or older for inclusion into this study. Patients with hip pathologies that altered anatomic relationships, such as a history of tumor, fracture, or any evidence of prior hip surgery were excluded. Patients were de-identified and compiled in a database with demographic information including gender, age, height, weight, and ethnicity.

Utilizing our PACS system, side-by-side mid-coronal and axial MRI images were generated. To localize the femoral bundle we elected to measure the distance from the acetabular ridge to the femoral artery, the nearest portion of the femoral neurovascular bundle.¹¹ The location of the femoral artery was examined at three cross-sections about the acetabulum: at the level of the acetabular dome, superior iliopectineal ridge, and inferior iliopectineal ridge [Fig. 1]. For each axial level, the distances between the femoral artery and the lateral-most aspect of the anterior acetabular wall were recorded in anteroposterior (AP), mediolateral (ML), and vector (V) directions. In the ML direction, if the femoral artery appeared lateral to the anterior acetabular wall it was defined as a

negative distance [Fig. 2].

Demographic information for each patient in the study was gathered from our medical center's electronic medical record (Powerchart, Cerner Corporation, Kansas City, MO). Recorded data included patient gender, ethnicity, age, height, and weight nearest to the time of the MRI scans. In an attempt to identify demographic groups where the femoral neurovasculature courses closer to the acetabulum, we utilized the average age, height and weight, of our patient cohort, and compared the mean distances for patients above and below the mean. Genders differences were also included. Thus the demographic risk factors we examined were male v female gender, age greater than vs. less than 45 years old, stature greater than vs. less than 1.7 m, and body mass greater than vs. less than 75 kg.

Two physician reviewers, an orthopaedic surgeon and a radiologist, evaluated all MRIs. Inter-rater reliability was determined for a random sample of 20 patients between the reviewer and a second author. A kappa value was calculated for this value. Statistical analysis for demographic comparison was performed using Student's independent *t*-test. All statistics were calculated using SPSS software version 22 (IBM corporation, Chicago, IL).

3. Results

The study population included 31 males and 69 females. The mean patient age was 44.7 years old (range 18–83). The mean patient height and weight were 1.69 m (range 1.31–1.98) and 74.7 kg (range 47.8–136.1), respectively. The breakdown in ethnicities was 3 Asian, 14 Hispanic, 16 Caucasian, and 67 African-American patients [Table 1].

After AP, ML, and V measurements were collected at each axial level and mean distances calculated, we observed the location of the femoral neurovascular bundle coursed nearer to the anterior acetabular wall, as it passed inferiorly. Examining our distances at the acetabular dome and moving inferiorly to the superior and inferior iliopectineal ridge, we see the AP distances were 22.1 mm, 14.9 mm, and 17.0 mm; ML distances were 33.2 mm, 7.3 mm, and 0.3 mm; V distances were 40.1 mm, 21.6 mm, and 20.5 mm respectively [Table 2].

Additionally, we were able to identify statistically significant (p < 0.05) reductions in a collection of mean AP, ML, and V distances



Fig. 1. Coronal MRI of the hip demonstrating the locations of the three axial cuts utilized for the examination of the femoral neurovascular bundle; these levels included the acetabular dome, superior iliopectineal ridge and the inferior iliopectineal ridge.



Fig. 2. Axial MRI of the hip with lines drawn to demonstrate methodologies for the measurement of the AP, ML, and V distances from the anterior acetabular wall to the femoral artery.

Patient demographic distribution.

Demographic	N (%)	Mean
Gender		
Male	31	_
Female	69	
Ethnicity		
Asian	3	-
Hispanic	14	
Caucasian	16	
African-American	67	
Age (years)		
18-30	25	44.7
31-45	29	
46-60	24	
60+	22	
Height (meters)		
<1.6	12	1.69
1.6	28	
1.7	26	
1.8	26	
>1.8	8	
Weight (kg)		
<50	6	74.7
50-75	43	
75-100	35	
>100	16	

between the femoral neurovasculature and the acetabulum between each of our demographic groups of interest (female gender, age >45 years old, stature <1.7 m, and body mass <75 kg) when compared to their counterpart [Table 3].

The testing for the weighted Kappa coefficient yielded a strong inter-rater reliability (k = .919, 95% CI: 0.81–1.0).

4. Discussion

Although rare, neurovascular injury is a known risk of THAs. This injury can occur with any approach to the hip^{7,8,}12–17 with the highest incidence of femoral neurovascular injury seen with malpositioning of anterior acetabular retractors.^{7–10} This may be

Table 2

Mean distances from the anterior acetabular wall to the femoral artery.

appreciated more frequently in surgeons who transition to an unfamiliar approach. Observed in young residents and as many surgeons trained in the posterior or lateral approaches are seen transitioning to the direct anterior approach as it gains popularity.

Between neurologic and vascular injuries in THAs, neurologic impairment occurs more commonly, being reported in 0.09%–3.7% of cases for primary THAs and up to 7.6% for revisions.⁴ When post-operative neuropathy does transpire, the peroneal nerve was shown to be the most commonly injured followed by the femoral and sciatic nerves.^{13,15,18} One study showed 54.1% of nerve injuries post-THAs affected the peroneal nerve while the femoral and sciatic nerves were affected 24.6% and 21.3% of cases respectively (injuries to the obturator, superior gluteal and lateral femoral cutaneous nerves have been reported but are exceedingly rare).^{4,19,20} The primary etiology for injury of the femoral nerve has been shown to be the insertion of an anterior acetabular retractor along the anterior acetabular rim at an incorrect plane or to an incorrect depth.^{8–10}

In comparison, vascular damage during THAs occurs less frequently, in only 0.1%-0.2% of cases, but is more emergent in nature.^{21,22} The vessels most frequently injured are the external iliac and femoral arteries and while arterial damage was similarly due most frequently to retractor placement, direct laceration, thermal injury from polymerization heat, and tearing due to prosthesis were all documented sources of vessel damage.^{9,21}

To our knowledge, this is the first large cohort magnetic resonance imaging study with 100 patients assessing the relationship between the femoral neurovascular bundle and the osseous landmark of the acetabular ridge. Cadaver studies have demonstrated that the closer the neurovascular bundle is in proximity to the acetabulum, the greater the risk of encroachment by surgical instrumentation during hip arthroplasties.^{8,9} Our study showed the course of the femoral bundle could dangerously approach the anterior wall of the acetabulum, particularly at the inferior IP ridge where the femoral artery had a mean distance of 20.5 mm from the acetabular ridge. Applying this data, anterior retractor placement should err superiorly and hug the wall of the acetabulum; moving inferiorly puts the femoral neurovasculature at risk.²³

Location	Anteroposterior Distance (mm)	Mediolateral Distance (mm)	Vector Distance (mm)
Acetabular Dome	22.1 (range 10.7–36.9)	33.2 (range 21.6–48.3)	40.1 (range 27.3–59.0)
Superior Iliopectineal Ridge	14.9 (range 4.7–25.0)	7.3 (range –5.9 - 31.0)	21.6 (range 12.5–43.7)
Inferior Iliopectineal Ridge	17.0 (range 4.3–27.1)	0.3 (range –13.8 - 11.7)	20.5 (range 11.4–31.9)

Table 3

Statistically significant (p < 0.05) decreases in the mean AP, ML and/or V distances between the femoral neurovascular bundle and the anterior acetabular wall are shown where present by demographic groupings and axial level of measurement.

Location	Anteroposterior Distance (mm)	Mediolateral Distance (mm)	Vector Distance (mm)
Gender (Female vs. Male)			
Acetabular Dome	_	31.6 vs. 36.9 (p < 0.001)	38.0 vs. 44.9 (p < 0.001)
Superior Iliopectineal Ridge	14.2 vs. 16.2 (p < 0.05)	6.2 vs. 9.8 (p < 0.01)	20.1 vs. 25.0 (p < 0.001)
Inferior Iliopectineal Ridge	16.2 vs. 18.6 (P < 0.05)	-	19.6 vs. 22.6 (p < 0.001)
Weight (<75 kg vs. > 75 kg)			
Acetabular Dome	20.5 vs. 23.6 (p < 0.01)	31.7 vs. 34.7 (p < 0.05)	38.0 vs. 42.2 (p < 0.001)
Superior Iliopectineal Ridge	13.3 vs. 16.4 (p < 0.001)	-	19.9 vs. 23.3 (p < 0.001
Inferior Iliopectineal Ridge	-	-	-
Height (<1.7m vs. > 1.7m)			
Acetabular Dome	-	30.9 vs. 34.8 (p < 0.001)	36.9 vs. 42.3 (p < 0.001)
Superior Iliopectineal Ridge	-	-	19.6 vs. 23.0 (p < 0.001)
Inferior Iliopectineal Ridge	14.3 vs. 19.5 (p < 0.001)	-	18.3 vs. 22.7 (p < 0.001)
Age (<45yo vs. > 45yo)			
Acetabular Dome	-	-	-
Superior Iliopectineal Ridge	13.3 vs. 16.4 (p < 0.001)	-	19.9 vs. 23.3 (p < 0.001)
Inferior Iliopectineal Ridge	−1.3 vs. 1.9 (p < 0.01)	-	_

Our data also identified at-risk populations for femoral neurovascular damage during THAs. This study confirmed patients of the female gender to be at risk for decreased distances between the femoral artery and the acetabular wall, at each of the three crosssectional levels. This known risk factor translates clinically as previous studies have cited greater than 7 out of 10 of cases of femoral neurovascular bundle injury during THAs occur in women.⁹

Our research found age >45, body mass <75 kg and shorter stature <1.5 m as three additional risk factors for neurovascular damage during THAs. To explain these trends, we examined the principle anatomic buffers between the femoral neurovascular bundle and the anterior acetabular wall, namely the muscle bodies/ tendons of the iliocapsularis, iliopsoas and rectus femoris. It is reasonable to infer that a decrease in the muscle mass of these hip flexors may decrease the distance between the femoral bundle and the anterior wall of the acetabulum and thus places the neurovasculature at risk from injury. Heller and colleagues highlighted the importance of this notion when cautioning the use of anterior acetabular retractors in patients with diminished muscle mass due to their lack of psoas tendon protection.⁷ As a direct relationship exists between increasing height and weight, and one's overall muscle mass, and an inverse relationship exists between muscle mass and increasing age. Anterior retractors placed in elderly patients should be placed with care as decreased muscle mass becomes more evident with age after the fourth decade of life.^{24,25} Furthermore, using this information, the elevated incidence of femoral neurovascular damage seen in female patients when compared to men can be explained as the female population is traditionally shorter and of lower body mass. We can support this logic as we indeed see that women have been shown to have lower crosssectional area of their iliacus muscle when compared to men.¹¹

While this study was able to successfully calculate mean locations for the femoral neurovasculature along its anatomic course about the hip, and to identify various at-risk demographic groups, we must recognize that this study has limitations. First, the computed distance values are mean representations of a cohort of only 100 patients. Furthermore, while demographic trends were significant in this patient population with regards to femoral neurovascular anatomy, a larger cohort with a population more representative of a general patient body should be reviewed to ensure accuracy.

5. Conclusion

Understanding the correct plane for placement of anterior acetabular retractors is essential to prevent femoral neurovascular bundle damage regardless of surgical approach. Our study suggests that the safest insertion location for anterior retractors is at or above the level of the acetabular dome, in close proximity to the bony cortex. Furthermore, additional care should be taken placing retractors in smaller patients, particularly when demographic risk factors including female gender, age >45 years old, stature <1.7 m, and body mass <75 kg are present.

Conflicts of interest

There are no conflicts of interest related to this work.

Author's disclosures

SMM, RPM and MWM have none to declare.

- Kurtz S, Ong K, Lau E, Mowat F, Halpern M. Projections of Primary and Revision Hip and Knee Arthroplasty in the United States from 2005 to 2030. vol. 892007.
- Ethgen O, Bruyere O, Richy F, Dardennes C, Reginster JY. Health-related quality of life in total hip and total knee arthroplasty. A qualitative and systematic review of the literature. J Bone Joint Surg Am Vol. 2004;86-A(5):963–974.
- Austin MS, Higuera CA, Rothman RH. Total hip arthroplasty at the rothman institute. HSS J. 2012;8(2):146–150.
- Brown GD, Swanson EA, Nercessian OA. Neurologic injuries after total hip arthroplasty. Am J Orthoped. 2008;37(4):191–197.
- Avisar E, Elvey MH, Bar-Ziv Y, Tamir E, Agar G. Severe vascular complications and intervention following elective total hip and knee replacement: a 16-year retrospective analysis. J Orthop. 2015;12(3):151–155.
- Fokter S, Repše-Fokter A, Takač I. Case report: femoral neuropathy secondary to total hip arthroplasty wear debris. *Clin Orthop Relat Res.* 2009;467(11): 3032–3035.
- Heller KD, Prescher A, Birnbaum K, Forst R. Femoral nerve lesion in total hip replacement: an experimental study. Arch Orthop Trauma Surg. 1998;117(3): 153–155.
- Simmons Jr C, Izant TH, Rothman RH, Booth Jr RE, Balderston RA. Femoral neuropathy following total hip arthroplasty: anatomic study, case reports, and literature review. J Arthroplasty. 1991;6. Supplement:S59-S66.
- Shubert D, Madoff S, Milillo R, Nandi S. Neurovascular structure proximity to acetabular retractors in total hip arthroplasty. J Arthroplasty. 2015;30(1): 145–148.
- Slater N, Singh R, Senasinghe N, Gore R, Goroszeniuk T, James D. Pressure monitoring of the femoral nerve during total hip replacement: an explanation for iatropathic palsy. J R Coll Surg Edinb. 2000;45(4):231–233.
- McConaghie FA, Payne AP, Kinninmonth AWG. The proximity of the femoral nerve to the anterior acetabulum on cadaveric and radiological assessment. *Orthop Proc.* 2013;95-B(suppl 31):46.
- Fox AJ, Bedi A, Wanivenhaus F, Sculco TP, Fox JS. Femoral neuropathy following total hip arthroplasty: review and management guidelines. *Acta Orthop Belg.* 2012;78(2):145–151.
- Johanson NA, Pellicci PM, Tsairis P, Salvati EA. Nerve injury in total hip arthroplasty. *Clin Orthop Relat Res.* 1983;179:214–222.
- Macheras GA, Christofilopoulos P, Lepetsos P, Leonidou AO, Anastasopoulos PP, Galanakos SP. Nerve Injuries in Total Hip Arthroplasty with a Mini Invasive Anterior Approach.0.
- Nercessian OA, Macaulay W, Stinchfield FE. Peripheral neuropathies following total hip arthroplasty. J Arthroplasty. 1994;9(6):645–651.
- Riouallon G, Zilber S, Allain J. Common femoral artery intimal injury following total hip replacement. A case report and literature review. *Orthop Traumatol Surg Res.* 2009;95(2):154–158.
- Weale AE, Newman P, Ferguson IT, Bannister GC. Nerve injury after posterior and direct lateral approaches for hip replacement. A clinical and electrophysiological study. J Bone Joint Surg Br Vol. 1996;78(6):899–902.
- Farrell CM, Springer BD, Haidukewych GJ, Morrey BF. Motor nerve palsy following primary total hip arthroplasty. J Bone Joint Surg Am Vol. 2005;87(12): 2619–2625.
- **19.** Oldenburg M, Muller RT. The frequency, prognosis and significance of nerve injuries in total hip arthroplasty. *Int Orthop*. 1997;21(1):1–3.
- Schmalzried TP, Noordin S, Amstutz HC. Update on nerve palsy associated with total hip replacement. *Clin Orthop Relat Res.* 1997;(344):188–206.
- NACHBUR B, MEYER RP, VERKKALA K, ZÜRCHER R. The mechanisms of severe arterial injury in surgery of the hip joint. *Clin Orthop Relat Res.* 1979;141: 122–133.
- Calligaro KD, DeLaurentis DA, Booth RE, Rothman RH, Savarese RP, Dougherty MJ. Acute arterial thrombosis associated with total knee arthroplasty. J Vasc Surg. 1994;20(6):927–932.
- McConaghie FA, Payne AP, Kinninmonth AW. The role of retraction in direct nerve injury in total hip replacement: an anatomical study. *Bone Joint Res.* 2014;3(6):212–216.
- 24. Nair KS. Aging muscle. Am J Clin Nutr. 2005;81(5):953-963.
- Gallagher D, Visser M, De Meersman RE, et al. Appendicular skeletal muscle mass: effects of age, gender, and ethnicity. J Appl Physiol. 1985;83(1):229–239, 1997.

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Journal of Arthroscopy and Joint Surgery

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/jajs

Research paper

A pilot study -role of DSA in assessing vascularity of proximal femur in idiopathic femoral head osteonecrosis

Akshay Lekhi^{*}, R.B. Kalia

Department of Orthopaedics, AIIMS, Rishikesh, India

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 3 April 2018 Accepted 2 September 2018 Available online 4 September 2018

1. Introduction

The increasing amount of idiopathic osteonecrotic femoral heads reporting to our outpatient department daily, challenges the current diagnostic and management protocols. Many contributing conditions are known to contribute towards the osteonecrotic femoral head pathogenesis like trauma, steroid-induced, alcohol abuse, hemoglobinopathy, Gaucher's disease, coagulopathies, Caisson disease, inflammatory or autoimmune diseases. The path-ophysiology also includes the interruption of blood supply to the extraosseous area and embolism in subchondral blood vessels leading to venous stasis and increase in femoral head bone marrow pressure^{15,16}

Our objective is to evaluate the vascular pattern of proximal femur in patients with idiopathic osteonecrosis femur head by DSA (Digital Subtraction Angiography). If untreated, the patients follow a progressive course toward subchondral fracture and collapse of femoral head and painful arthrosis of the hip joint.^{1–4} Patients with a normal DSA of medial circumflex femoral artery (main arterial supply to the head) can be treated with conservative approach while those with a sluggish/hampered flow need to be prognosticated and better treated by more aggressive surgical management. The vascularised bone grafting has been

demonstrated to achieve better clinical results than non vascularised bone grafting. $^{12-14} \ensuremath{$

2. Materials and methods

We included femoral head osteonecrosis stage IIa/IIb/III Ficet-arlet and ARCO II/III in our study. Five idiopathic osteonecrosis femoral head cases (4 males and 1 female) were included our prospective analytical study, of which four were bilateral and one was unilateral. Patients were between 20 and 55 years of age. Patients with femoral head osteonecrosis secondary to trauma or those presenting after previous surgical intervention were not included. A written informed was taken from all patients and ethical clearance taken. Our aim was to assess arterial, venous and total flow times of the proximal femoral vascular tree. Femoral artery was accessed by Seldinger technique and ascending branch of medial circumflex artery was approached via intra-arterial 24 a 3-F micro angiography catheter. 10 ml of contrast medium was injected with a speed of 4 ml/seconds and pressure of 320 kPa and studies on a Philips DSA machine.

Currently the five patients (9 hipswere evaluated by Digital Subtraction Angiography (DSA) of medial circumflex artery of the affected femoral head under all sterile precautions in our established DSA lab..

All patients had a normal Kidney function test (KFT) before undergoing DSA. Arterial and venous times were studied in affected clinico-radiologically proven osteonecrosis hips and comparison was done with normal time of blood flow for unaffected hipsas per the reference study⁷ parameters that served as control. We used the Seldinger technique, using 24 a 3-F micro angiography catheter inserted to the ascending branch of the medial circumflex femoral artery (CFA) via the right femoral

E-mail address: akshaylekhi@gmail.com (A. Lekhi).

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jajs.2018.09.004 2214-9635/© 2018 Published by Elsevier, a division of RELX India, Pvt. Ltd on behalf of International Society for Knowledge for Surgeons on Arthroscopy and Arthroplasty.



Abbreviations: ONFH, osteonecrosis of femoral head; DSA, digital subtraction angiography; N, Normal.

^{*} Corresponding author. Permanent Address: C-9/22 Yamuna Vihar, Delhi, 110053, India.



Fig. 1. Radiograph of pelvis with bilateral hip joints antero-posterior view showing left femoral head osteonecrosis.

arterial approach. 15 ml of contrast medium was injected with a speed of 4 ml/seconds and pressure of 320 kPa. The time-controlled X-rays were taken and the images were assessed. The display time of feeding arteries to the femoral head and the circulation time of the femoral head, which was defined as the time interval from the display of the ascending branches of the CFA to disappearance of contrast medium from the circumflex femoral vein, were recorded.

3. Results

Two patients showed a definite obstruction in the arterial tree. One showed blockage in external iliac artery branch that was not amenable to re-establishing the flow with intravascular procedures like ballooning. Another showed blockage at the origin of medial circumflex femoral artery that was ballooned at a second sitting followed by immediate pain relief correlating the pain with ischemia. Other three patients showed a definite increase in venous time indicating comparative stasis. Patient 1Fig. 1 and Fig. 2) was a unilateral case with left sided femoral head architecture, who had an increased medial femoral circumflex arterial time and venous time on higher side indicating more stasis in one hip. The arterial time was 6.6 s and venous time 9.51 s for the left hip.

Patient 2 showed a partial block in the medial circumflex artery (atherosclerotic) with right hip arterial time only 9.9 s across the blockage site that was relieved at a second stage balloon angiography (Fig. 3). Patient 3 showed an atherosclerotic block higher up at the external iliac artery branch on right side with blockage in the medial circumflex arterial flow and slowing the total flow and venous return and a hamperedflow with multiple blockage along external iliac artery on the left (Fig. 4). The arterial time right side was 12.6 s and total flow time 28.83 s indicating a hampered flow (Fig. 5). Patients 4 and 5 had a difference of 3.23 s and 3.412 s respectively between the two hips venous time with no obvious blockage. The mean arterial time was 9.55 s and mean total time 23.325 s (Table 1) that was more than the normal range (Femoral Head Circulation time \rightarrow 10–18



Fig. 2. MR image of the osteonecrotic femoral head showing the area of destroyed subchondral area.









re establishing increased flow post-ballooning

Fig. 3. Showing the blocked medial circumflex femoral artery being ballooned in the right hip.



Fig. 4. Showing a hampered medial circumflex arterial flow due to external iliac artery blockage. *CIA = Common Iliac Artery, CFA = Common Femoral Artery.

seconds & display time of feeding arteries \rightarrow 3–5 seconds) as per another similar study⁷ and also when compared to the unaffected hip in our patient included in the study. These were planned accordingly by us as per the flow status. The normal



Fig. 5. Showing increased total return time in the vascular tree of left proximal femur indicating the femoral head venous stasis.

parameters were taken as per experiences of another similar study in bilaterally affected hips.⁷ Althogh long term follow up and more quantity of subjects are needed to establish treatment protocols according to evidence based medicine, vascularised fibular graft was planned for the patient with reduced arterial flow in affected hip (age less than 45 years) whereas core decompression and fibular strut graft was done for the patient with arterial block that was opened with angiography and also planned for others with venous stasis as per current evidences and protocols.^{6,8}

4. Discussion

The main arterial supply of femoral head is via medial femoral circumflex artery. The sluggish flow hypothesis has to be documented and evaluated in patients labelled with just idiopathic as the etio-pathogenesis. Normal arterial flow hips with venous stasis can be planned for conservative management of hip via core decompression while hypovascular flow hips planned for vascularised graft or replacement. Two patients showed a definite obstruction in the arterial tree. One showed a blockages in external iliac artery that was not amenable to re-establishing the flow with intravascular procedures like ballooning. Another showed block at the origin of medial circumflex femoral artery that was ballooned at a second sitting followed by immediate pain relief correlating the pain with ischemia. Clearly this study establishes a documentary proof of the hampered blood supply to femoral head undergoing osteonecrosis. Patients with the venous stasis in the early stage ONFH are considered the best candidates for the procedure of core decompression.^{5,11} Core decompression offers a release in the symptoms of the pre-collapse stage of ONFH because of a reduction of pressure in the femoral head, and also helps its vascularization.^{9,10}

Our analysis attempts to reduce the burden on the idiopathic group for which management and prognosis remains a dilemma without a proven supportive investigation. We also acknowledge our limitations as low sample size, unavailability of long term follow up of the incorporated patients at present and lack of documented population specific normal arterial and venous parameters.

5. Conclusion

DSA is a useful investigative tool for evaluating proximal femoral vascularity in our population's pilot study. Hypovascularity is a
Table 1
Shows the variation in osteonecrosis affected femur heads from normal.

Patient	Ficet arl	et staging	Medial circumflex femoral Arterial time (seconds)in DSA**		Proximal Femoral Venous time (seconds)		Total flow time (seconds)	
	Left	Right	Left	Right	Left	Right	Left	Right
1	III	N	6.6	N	9.51	N	16.11	N
2	IIa	III	6.72	9.9	9.26	12.5	15.98	22.4
		Post ballooning		8.35		12.36		
3	III	III	8.4	12.6	12.53	16.23	20.93	28.83
4	III	III	9.85	10.34	12.44	15.67	22.29	26.01
5	III	III	10.4	12.2	12.68	16.1	23.08	28.3
	Mea Mea	n arterial time n venous time		9.55 seconds* 12.774 seconds*		Mean total time in affected hips (9)	22.325* seconds	

*N = normal **DSA = Digital Subtraction Angiography.

cause that needs documentation with DSA and hence reduces the number of hips labelled as to have merely an idiopathic cause. Hence DSA is a promising tool to diagnose occult vascular abnormalities of the proximal femur vascular tree and can be used for devising flow specific treatment protocols in future.

References

- 1. Zhao D, Cui D, Lu F, et al. Combined vascularized iliac and greater trochanter graftings for reconstruction of the osteonecrosis femoral head with collapse: reports of three cases with 20 years follow-up. *Microsurgery*. 2012;32: 546–551.
- Garrigues GE, Aldridge III JM, Friend JK, Urbaniak JR. Free Vascularized Fibular Grafting for treatment of osteonecrosis of the femoral head secondary to hip dislocation. *Microsurgery*. 2009;29:342–345.
- Atsumi T, Kuroki Y. Modified Sugioka's osteotomy: more than 130 degrees posterior rotation for osteonecrosis of the femoral head with large lesion. *Clin Orthop Relat Res.* 1997:98–107.
- Bozic KJ, Zurakowski D, Thornhill TS. Survivorship analysis of hips treated with core decompression for nontravmatic osteonecrisis of the femoral head. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 1999;81:200–209.
- Bellot F, Havet E, Gabrion A, Meunier W, Mertl P, de Lestang M. Core decompression of the femoral head for avascular necrosis. *Rev Chir Orthop Reparatrice Appar Mot.* 2005;91:114–123.
- Zhao D, Wang B, Guo L, Yang L, Tian F. Will a vascularised greater trochanter graft preserve the necrotic femoral head? *Clin Orthop Relat Res.* 2010;468: 1316–1324.
- Zhao Dewei, Yu Xiaobing, Digital Subtraction Angiography in Selection of the Vascularized Greater Trochanter Bone Grafting for Treatment of Osteonecrosis

of Femoral Head. http//doi.org//10.1002/micr.22179.

- 8. Cao L, Guo C, Chen J, et al. Free vascularized fibular grafting improves vascularity compared with core decompression in femoral head osteonecrosis: a randomized clinical trial. *Clin Orthop Relat Res.* 2017;475:2230.
- Beckmann J, Schmidt T, Schaumburger J, et al. Infusion, core decompression, or infusion following core decompression in the treatment of bone edema syndrome and early avascular osteonecrosis of the femoral head. *Rheumatol Int.* 2013;33:1561–1565.
- **10.** Fang Z, Chen X, Liu S. Treatment of osteonecrosis of femoral head by core decompression combining with autologous cortical sustaining bone and cancellous bone graft. *Chin Med J (Engl)*. 2010;123:2847–2852.
- 11. Bellot F, Havet E, Gabrion A, Meunier W, Mertl P, de Lestang M. Core decompression of the femoral head for avascular necrosis. *Rev Chir Orthop Reparatrice Appar Mot.* 2005;91:114–123.
- 12. Scully SP, Aaron RK, Urbaniak JR. Survival analysis of hips treated with core compression or vascularized fibular grafting because of avascular necrosis. *J Bone Joint Surg Am.* 1998;80:1270–1275.
- **13.** Zhao DW, Wang BJ. Treatment of osteonecrosis of femoral head with minimally invasive vascularized bone grafting. *Zhonghua Yixue Zazhi*. 2007;87: 2036–2040.
- 14. Zhao DW, Wang BJ, Wang WM, Yu XG, Wang TN, Sun Q. Evaluation of hemodynamic changes by digital subtraction angiography after treatment of avascular osteonecrosis of femoral head with vascularised bone flaps. *Zhonghua Yixue Zazhi*. 2006;86:438–441.
- 15. Satterlee CC. Avascular necrosis and other non-inflamatory degenerative diseases of the glenohumeral joint including Gaucher's disease, sickle cell disease, synovial osteochondromatosis and hemochromatosis. Orthop Knowledge Update. 1997;1:1–17.
- **16.** Hamaguchi H, Fujioka M, Takahashi KA, et al. Age-related changes in the hemodynamics of the femoral head as evaluated by early phase of bone scintigraphy. *Ann Nucl Med.* 2006;20:35–44.

Improve your ability to establish, execute and evaluate institutional research strategy

Elsevier's Research Intelligence solutions provides answers to the most pressing challenges that research administrators face. Our suite of innovative software solutions improves your ability to establish, execute and evaluate research strategy and performance.

Scopus

Track, analyze and visualize global research with our abstract and citation database of peer-reviewed literature, including scientific journals, books and conference proceedings covering the fields of science, technology, medicine, social sciences and arts and humanities.

SciVal

Visualize your institution's research performance, benchmark relative to peers, develop collaborative partnerships and explore research trends.

Mendeley

Organize your research, collaborate and connect with others online, and discover the latest research with our free reference manager and academic social network. Mendeley Institutional Edition includes premium user features and competency for researchers and librarians.

Pure

Develop reports on research output, carry out performance assessments, and showcase your researchers' expertise, all while reducing administrative burden for researchers, faculty and staff.



For a FREE custom report on your institution's research strengths, visit: **elsevier.com/research-intelligence/ace**

Instructions to Authors

۲

Before you begin

Manuscripts submitted to *Journal of Arthroscopy and Joint Surgery* should not have been published previously or be under simultaneous consideration for publication by any other journal. Violation may lead to a retraction of the published article by the Journal and other actions as deemed necessary by the editor. All articles (including those invited) will be peer-reviewed, and accepted articles will be edited to the Journal's style. Accepted manuscripts become the permanent property of the Journal and may not be reproduced, in whole or in part, without the written permission of the editor.

Studies involving human subjects or animals should have received the approval of the institutional ethics committee. A statement to this effect and that informed consent was obtained from participating human subjects must be included in the manuscript text.

Ethics in publishing

For information on Ethics in publishing and Ethical guidelines for journal publication see http://www.elsevier. com/publishingethics and

http://www.elsevier.com/ethicalguidelines.

Conflict of interest

()

All authors must disclose any financial and personal relationships with other people or organizations that could inappropriately influence (bias) their work. Examples of potential conflicts of interest include employment, consultancies, stock ownership, honoraria, paid expert testimony, patent applications/ registrations, and grants or other funding. See also http://www. elsevier.com/ conflicts of interest. Further information and an example of a Conflict of Interest form can be found at: http:// elsevier6.custhelp.com/app/answers/detail/a_id/286/p/7923/.

Submission declaration and Verification

Submission of an article implies that the work described has not been published previously (except in the form of an abstract or as part of a published lecture or academic thesis or as an electronic preprint, see http://www.elsevier.com/postingpolicy, that it is not under consideration for publication elsewhere, that its publication is approved by all authors and tacitly or explicitly by the responsible authorities where the work was carried out, and that, if accepted, it will not be published elsewhere in the same form, in English or in any other language, including electronically without the written consent of the copyright holder. To verify originality, your article may be checked by the originality detection service CrossCheck http://www.elsevier.com/editors/plagdetect.

Authorship

All authors should have made substantial contributions to all of the following: (1) the conception and design of the study, or acquisition of data, or analysis and interpretation of data, (2) drafting the article or revising it critically for important intellectual content, (3) final approval of the version to be submitted. Please give contribution of each author on the cover page of the manuscript.

Changes to authorship

Ideally there should not be any change in authorship after the manuscript is submitted. In situations where there has been an omission or substantial work is done when the article is revised, an author's name may be added. This policy concerns the addition, deletion, or rearrangement of author names in the authorship of accepted manuscripts:

Before the accepted manuscript is published in an online issue: Requests to add or remove an author, or to rearrange the author names, must be sent to the Journal Manager from the corresponding author of the accepted manuscript and must include: (a) the reason the name should be added or removed, or the author names rearranged and (b) written confirmation (e-mail, fax, letter) from all authors that they agree with the addition, removal or rearrangement. In the case of addition or removal of authors, this includes confirmation from the author being added or removed. Requests that are not sent by the corresponding author will be forwarded by the Journal Manager to the corresponding author, who must follow the procedure as described above. Note that: (1) Journal Managers will inform the Journal Editors of any such requests and (2) publication of the accepted manuscript in an online issue is suspended until authorship has been agreed upon by the editor.

After the accepted manuscript is published in an online issue: Any requests to add, delete, or rearrange author names in an article published in an online issue will follow the same policies as noted above and result in a corrigendum.

Reporting Clinical Trials

All randomized controlled trials submitted for publication should include a completed Consolidated Standards of Reporting Trials (CONSORT) flowchart. Please refer to the CONSORT statement website at http://www.consortstatement.org for more information. This journal has adopted the proposal from the International Committee of Medical Journal Editors (ICMJE) which require, as a condition of consideration for publication of clinical trials, registration in a public trials registry. Trials must register at or before the onset of patient enrolment. The clinical trial registration number should be included at the end of the abstract of the article. For this purpose, a clinical trial is defined as any research study that prospectively assigns human participants or groups of humans to one or more health-related interventions to evaluate the effects of health outcomes. Health related interventions include any intervention used to modify a biomedical or health related outcome (for example drugs,

۲

۲

surgical procedures, devices, behavioral treatments, dietary interventions, and process-of-care changes). Health outcomes include any biomedical or health-related measures obtained in patients or participants, including pharmacokinetic measures and adverse events. Purely observational studies (those in which the assignment of the medical intervention is not at the discretion of the investigator) will not require registration. Further information can be found at http://www.icmje.org.

Copyright

Upon acceptance of an article, authors will be asked to complete a 'Journal Publishing Agreement' (for more information on this and copyright see http://www.elsevier. com/copyright). Acceptance of the agreement will ensure the widest possible dissemination of information. An e-mail will be sent to the corresponding author confirming receipt of the manuscript together with a 'Journal Publishing Agreement' form or a link to the online version of this agreement.

Role of the funding source

You are requested to identify who provided financial support for the conduct of the research and/or preparation of the article and to briefly describe the role of the sponsor(s), if any, in study design; in the collection, analysis and interpretation of data; in the writing of the report; and in the decision to submit the article for publication. If the funding source(s) had no such involvement then this should be stated. Please see http://www. elsevier.com/ funding.

Submission of Manuscripts

The journal only accepts online submissions in electronic format. All new manuscripts must be submitted through *Journal of Arthroscopy and Joint Surgery* online and review website (http:// ees.elsevier.com/jajs). Authors are requested to submit the text, tables, and figures in electronic form to this address. Please follow the following steps to submit your manuscript:

1. Open the homepage of the journal's website (http://ees. elsevier.com/jajs).

 Register yourself for free by clicking on "Register" on the top and create a user profile with a desired username and mandatory details. On submission of the information, you will receive an E-mail confirming your registration along with the "Password".
Click "Log In" on the main navigation menu at the top of the journal screen to open the login page.

4. Enter your username and password in the appropriate fields (E-mailed to you at the time of registration). Click "Author Log in", this takes you to the "Author Main Menu".

Note: Please note that the username and password combination required for Elsevier Editorial System is different from the username and password combination used to "Track your paper" on the Elsevier "Authors' Home" website.

By submitting a manuscript, the author agrees to the following: 1. The work is original and free from plagiarism. 2. It has neither been published, nor is it not under consideration for publication at another journal.

3. All authors are aware of the authorship order. The corresponding author shall be responsible in case of dispute.

4. Once published, copyright of manuscript shall stand transferred to the Journal.

5. 'Conflict of interest' if any, must be explicitly stated at the end of the manuscript.

Manuscripts must conform to the instructions given below:

General: Type the manuscript using 'Times New Roman' font, size 12 in double space throughout. Please arrange the manuscript as follows: Title page, Abstract, Introduction, Methods, Results, Discussion, and References. Number all pages consecutively, beginning with the title page. All figures and Tables must be referred to in the manuscript. Consult a recent issue of the Journal for details. Only the Title page should bear the names and addresses of the author(s). Editorials, perspective and review articles are generally by invitation. However if you are interested in writing a review/perspective, you can send an email to the editor with the topic and a short summary of contents to be included. The editor will convey his decision in 7-10 days' time.

Length of articles: Text of original articles should be between 2000 and 3500 words. The article should not ordinarily contain more than 3 tables, 2 figures and 25 references. Case Reports are accepted only if they can be converted into 'What is your diagnosis?' format (please consult a recent issue of the Journal). Briefly, the format consists of case report of about 500 words, a diagnostic image followed by the actual diagnosis/ answer and discussion (250 words) and upto 5 references. Letters discussing or criticizing material published recently in the Journal, brief presentations of data, or those pertaining to issues of relevance to health policy, practice of medicine, or the like, are welcome. These should not exceed 500 words, 1 table and 5 references.

Title page: In animal studies, the title should state the species; all other titles will refer to human studies. State names of authors (including first names), the departments and the institution where the work was done. Please do not add your academic qualifications, designation etc. State contribution of each author clearly. A short, running title, not exceeding 40 characters, should be provided. Please provide the name, postal address with PIN code, facsimile number and E-mail address of the author to whom communications and proofs are to be sent. Acknowledgements, if any, may be mentioned on this page.

Acknowledgements: These should appear at the end of the manuscript. The *source of funding* as well as a *disclosure statement* mentioning *conflict of interest*, if any, should appear under this heading.

References: Number the references in the order in which they first appear in the text and identify the reference numbers in the text in superscript. References must be placed at the end of the manuscript. Please use recent references as much as possible. The responsibility for accuracy of ۲

۲

references lies with the respective authors. The Journal is in agreement with the International Committee of Medical Journal Editors (www. icmje.org). The general arrangement, abbreviations of Journal names and punctuations followed are as per the Uniform Requirements for Manuscripts submitted to Biomedical Journals (www.icmje.org). Please pay attention to the style of references and punctuations as follows:

Journal article

List all authors when six or less as shown in the example below: Tallon D, Chard J, Dieppe P. Exploring the priorities of patients with osteoarthritis of the knee. *Arthritis Care and Res* 2000;13:312–9.

When there are seven or more authors, list only the first six and add et al.

Book or monograph

Following is an example: Cassidy JT. Juvenile rheumatoid arthritis. In: *Textbook of Rheumatology* 6th ed, Kelly et al (eds) Philadelphia Saunders 2000; pp. 1297–313.

Tables: Each Table should be typed on a separate page and numbered consecutively in Arabic numerals. Each table should have a title and all abbreviations should be explained in the footnote. Necessary explanatory notes, if any, may be given below the Table.

Figures/Illustrations/Photographs: Photographs of 300 dpi or higher resolution may be submitted as 'jpeg', or 'tiff' files in a zipped folder. In clinical photographs, identity of the subjects should be suitably masked; in case this is not

possible, a written permission from the concerned person should accompany the manuscript.

Legends to Figures: The Figure number (numbered consecutively in Arabic numerals), title and explanations of the Figures should appear in the legend (not on the Figure). Type the legends on a separate page. Enough information should be included to interpret the Figure without reference to the text.

Units: All measurements must be in metric units, preferably with corresponding SI units in parentheses.

Editorial Process: All articles submitted to the Journal undergo initial review by the Editor/associate editor and articles that are outside the scope of Journal or are not in the journal format are excluded. Later each article is reviewed by at least two reviewers. The time to first decision is usually less than 6 weeks.

As per the policy of the *Journal*, an Editor, who is either author of a manuscript or belongs to the same institution as any of the authors, is not assigned that manuscript and is not involved in decision-making regarding its publication.

Reviewers/Editorial Board members should decline the invitation to review a manuscript which is submitted by authors from their institution.

Reprints: Reprints may be requested and are provided on payment.

Address all correspondence to: Prof. Ravi Gupta or Mr. Sanjeev Anand, Chief Editors, Journal of Arthroscopy and Joint Surgery at editorjajs@gmail.com. ۲



۲

For Comprehensive Mobility Solutions

A WHO - GMP Certified Company

NATIONAL TOLL FREE HELPLINE: 1800 1111 55

An ISO : 9001 - 2008 Certified Company

۲